DISSERTATIONES MEDICINAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 347

KÄRT SIMRE

Development of coeliac disease in two populations with different environmental backgrounds





DISSERTATIONES MEDICINAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

347

DISSERTATIONES MEDICINAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

347

KÄRT SIMRE

Development of coeliac disease in two populations with different environmental backgrounds



Department of Immunology, Institute of Biomedicine and Translational Medicine, University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia

The dissertation was accepted for the commencement of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (in medicine) on April 19th, 2023 by the Council of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia.

Supervisors:	Professor Raivo Uibo, M.D., Ph.D., Department of Immunology, Institute of Biomedicine and Translational Medicine, University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia			
	Associate Professor Oivi Uibo, M.D., Ph.D., Department of Pediatrics, Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia			
	Professor Vallo Tillmann, M.D., Ph.D., Department of Pediatrics, Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia			
Reviewers:	Professor Helle Karro, M.D., Ph.D., Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia			
	Associate Professor Martti Laan, M.D., Ph.D., Chair of Human Biology, Department of Biomedicine, Institute of Biomedicine and Translational Medicine, University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia			
Opponent:	Adjunct Professor of Pediatrics Marko Kalliomäki, M.D., Ph.D., Department of Pediatrics, University of Turku, Turku, Finland			
Commencement:	August 22 nd , 2023			

Publication of this dissertation is granted by the University of Tartu.

The study was supported by the grant from the European Union 7th Framework Programme FP7/2007-2013 under grant agreement No 202063, by the grant from the European Union's Horizon 2020 under the research and innovation programme under grant agreement No 874864, and by the Estonian Research Council grants PRG 1428 and PRG712.

ISSN 1024-395X (print) ISBN 978-9916-27-235-0 (print) ISSN 2806-240X (pdf) ISBN 978-9916-27-236-7 (pdf)

Copyright: Kärt Simre, 2023

University of Tartu Press www.tyk.ee

CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS				
Al	BBREVIATIONS	8		
1.	INTRODUCTION	9		
2.	REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	11 11 12 13 14 15 15 16 18		
	 2.3. Diagnosis of coeliac disease in children	19 20 21 21		
3.	AIMS OF THE THESIS	23		
4.	 SUBJECTS AND METHODS	24 24 26 26 26		
	 4.3. Methods 4.3.1. Analysis of viruses in stool and nasal swab (Paper II) 4.3.2. Analysis of virus' antibodies from serum (Paper II) 4.3.3. Analysis of breast milk (Paper III) 4.3.3.1. Analysis of immune markers (Paper III) 4.3.3.2. Molecular analysis (Paper III) 4.3.4. Ethics (Papers I–III) 4.3.5. Statistical analysis (Papers I–III) 	27 27 28 28 29 31 31		
5.	 RESULTS	33 33 33		
	(early feeding, infections, antibiotics, vaccinations) (Paper I)5.4. Laboratory confirmed viral infections (Paper II)	34 36		

5.4.1 Viruses in stool and nasal swab samples 5.4.2. Differences in viral antibodies between the coeliac disease	36
and control group	
5.4.3. Differences in viral antibodies between Estonia and Finlan	d. 40
5.5. Maternal breast milk microbiota and immune markers (Paper III)	40
5.5.1. General characterization of breast milk samples	40
5.5.2. Immune markers in breast milk from mothers of coeliac	
disease and control offspring	41
5.5.3. Microbiome of maternal breast milk	42
5.5.4. Associations between breast milk microbiota and immune	
markers	52
(DISCUSSION	52
6.1 Differences in the sumulative incidence of cooline disease and	55
0.1. Differences in the cumulative incluence of coeffic disease and	52
6.2 Environmental risk factors of apolice disease (Deper I)	55
6.2. Differences in laboratory confirmed viral infections between	54
0.5. Differences in laboratory commined vital infections between	
(Paper II)	55
6.4 Maternal breast milk microbiota and immune markers from	55
mothers of coeliac disease and control offspring (Paper III)	57
6.5 Strengths of the study	57
6.6 Limitations of the study	00
	00
7. CONCLUSIONS	61
8. FUTURE DIRECTIONS	62
9. REFERENCES	63
SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN	79
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	84
PUBLICATIONS	85
CURRICULUM VITAE	140
ELULOOKIRJELDUS	142

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications referred to in the text by their Roman numerals (I–III):

- I Simre K, Uibo O, Peet A, Tillmann V, Kool P, Hämäläinen AM, Härkönen T, Siljander H, Virtanen S, Ilonen J, Knip M, Uibo R; DIAB-IMMUNE Study Group. Exploring the risk factors for differences in the cumulative incidence of coeliac disease in two neighbouring countries: the prospective DIABIMMUNE study. Dig Liver Dis 2016; 48(11): 1296–301. doi: 10.1016/j.dld.2016.06.029.
- II Simre K, Uibo O, Peet A, Puustinen L, Oikarainen S, Tamminen K, Blazevic V, Tillmann V, Hämäläinen AM, Härkönen T, Siljander H, Virtanen SM, Ilonen J, Hyöty H, Knip M, Uibo R; DIABIMMUNE Study Group. Early-life exposure to common virus infections did not differ between coeliac disease patients and controls. Acta Paediatr 2019; 108(9):1709–16. doi: 10.1111/apa.14791.
- III Štšepetova J*, Simre K*, Tagoma A, Uibo O, Peet A, Siljander H, Tillmann V, Knip M, Mändar R, Uibo R. Maternal breast milk microbiota and immune markers in relation to subsequent development of celiac disease in offspring. Sci Rep 2022; 12(1):6607. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-022-10679-x.

* Contributed equally.

Author's contribution:

- Paper I: Collecting data from the DIABIMMUNE database, data analysis and writing the paper.
- Papers II and III: Performing ELISA tests using serum samples (Paper II) or breast milk samples (Paper III), data analysis and writing the paper.

ABBREVIATIONS

AGA	anti-gliadin antibody
aOR	adjusted odds ratio
BC	birth cohort
CD	coeliac disease
CI	confidence interval
CMV	cytomegalovirus
DGGE	denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis
DGP	deamidated forms of gliadin peptide
EIU	enzyme immunoassay unit
EBV	Epstein-Barr virus
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EMA	endomysium autoantibody
ESPGHAN	The European Society for Paediatric Gastroenterology Hepatology
	and Nutrition
HLA	human leukocyte antigen
IEL	intraepithelial lymphocytes
IgA	immunoglobulin A
IgG	immunoglobulin G
IL	interleukin
NA	not available
OD	optical density
OR	odds ratio
PCoA	principal coordinate analysis
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
RNA	ribonucleic acid
RT-PCR	real-time reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction
SD	standard deviation
sIgA	secretory immunoglobulin A
T1D	type 1 diabetes
TG2	transglutaminase 2
TGF-β1	transforming growth factor beta 1
tTG	tissue transglutaminase antibody
YCC	cohort of young children

1. INTRODUCTION

Coeliac disease (CD) is a dietary gluten and gluten-related prolamines induced immune-mediated systemic disorder that occurs in genetically predisposed people. It is characterized by variable clinical manifestations, CD-specific autoantibodies, human leukocyte antigen (HLA) DQ2 and/or HLA-DQ8 haplotypes and enteropathy (Husby *et al.* 2012). Traditionally, the diagnosis of CD was based on CD-specific antibodies and biopsies from the small intestine to assess villous atrophy (Kelly *et al.* 2015). CD-specific antibodies include autoantibodies against autoantigens (tissue transglutaminase antibody (tTG) and endomysium autoantibody (EMA)) and antibodies targeting the offending agent (deamidated forms of gliadin peptide (DGP)).

In recent decades the prevalence of CD has increased worldwide (Kang *et al.* 2013; Makharia *et al.* 2022). Now it is estimated to range between 1% (Rubio-Tapia *et al.* 2012; Choung *et al.* 2017) and 3% (Myléus *et al.* 2009) in the Western countries. The frequency has also increased in Estonia (Ress *et al.* 2012) and in Finland (Lohi *et al.* 2007), the two neighbouring countries. It is known that until the early 1990s there were marked differences in the socio-economic background between these countries.

In the pathogenesis of CD a great role is played by genetic, environmental and immunological factors (Kagnoff 1992). Some of them are well known such as HLA-DQ2 and HLA-DQ8, autoantigen transglutaminase 2 (TG2) and gluten and gluten-related prolamines (Caio *et al.* 2019). It is known that most people with the genetic risk for CD and exposure to gluten do not develop CD, so different environmental factors must be involved. As the pathogenesis of CD involves many factors, there are yet no good tools to predict which children with the genetic risk will develop CD. Focus has been placed on different environmental risk factors, the best investigated among them being early infant feeding, infections and microbiome.

Earlier epidemiological studies (Ivarsson *et al.* 2000) have indicated that early infant feeding practices, particularly duration of breastfeeding and timing of gluten introduction, might be related to the incidence of CD. At the moment there is not enough evidence (Szajewska *et al.* 2016) to support breastfeeding versus no breastfeeding as well as breastfeeding at the time of gluten introduction reduces the risk of developing CD (Vriezinga *et al.* 2014; Lionetti *et al.* 2014). In the light of this, the amount of gluten at introduction has stimulated more interest in recent studies (Aronsson *et al.* 2019; Lund-Blix *et al.* 2019; Mårild *et al.* 2019). Additionally, it has been suggested that infections may be involved in the pathogenesis of CD, as some authors have reported seasonal variation in the birth date of patients with CD (Lewy *et al.* 2009). Different studies have proposed several viral and bacterial infections (Stene *et al.* 2006; Lebwohl *et al.* 2013; Kahrs *et al.* 2019). Possible relationships with CD have been found with gastrointestinal infections, for example rotavirus (Stene *et al.* 2006), enterovirus (Kahrs *et al.* 2019; Lindfors *et al.* 2020) or reovirus (Bouziat *et al.* 2017), but also with herpes viruses (Jansen *et al.* 2016) or *Helicobacter pylori* colonization (Lebwohl *et al.* 2013). Also intestinal microbiota (Verdu *et al.* 2015) has been found to be involved in the pathogenesis of CD. Early microbial changes may already occur in infants from risk groups who later progress to CD (Olivares *et al.* 2018). Thus it is important to find out what causes these changes in the intestinal microbiota.

The general aim of the present thesis was to study the development of CD in two paediatric populations with different environmental backgrounds, Estonia and Finland, and to find out the role of different risk factors in this process.

2. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

2.1. Epidemiology of coeliac disease

In recent decades the incidence and prevalence of CD have increased worldwide (Kang et al. 2013; King et al. 2020; Roberts et al. 2021; Makharia et al. 2022). In the 1970s, when the diagnosis of CD was based mainly on clinical symptoms, the prevalence was estimated to be as low as 0.03% globally (Green & Jabri, 2003). Now the total prevalence is estimated to be around 1% in the Western countries (Bingley et al. 2004; Rubio-Tapia et al. 2012; Choung et al. 2017). According to studies based on the Finnish adult population, the prevalence has increased from 1.05% in 1978-1980 to 1.99% in 2000-2001 (Lohi et al. 2007). In the North American population the incidence increased from 11.1 per 100,000 person-years in 2000–2001 to 17.3 per 100,000 person-years in 2008–2010 (Ludvigsson et al. 2013). An increase has also been seen in China and India, which are traditionally rice based cultures, but where 'westernization' of diet has taken place (Wu et al. 2010; Ramakrishna et al. 2016). The prevalence varies between sexes, ages and geographic locations (Singh et al. 2018). As in several other autoimmune conditions, CD is more prevalent among women than in men, with up to twice as many women affected (Hin et al. 1999). The global biopsy-confirmed prevalence of CD is significantly greater among children than among adults (0.9% versus 0.5%) (Singh et al. 2018), but when looking countries separately this isn't always so (Table 1). The childspecific incidence is also almost twice as high (21.3 per 100,000 person-years versus 12.9 per 100,000 person-years) (King et al. 2020). There is also a significant difference between countries, for example, among 30-64-year old subjects the prevalence of CD varied from 2.4% in Finland to 0.3% in Germany (Mustalahti et al. 2010). The global prevalence and incidence of CD are shown in Table 1.

The frequency of the disease has also increased in Estonia and Finland, the two neighbouring countries. There were marked differences in the socio-economic background of these countries until the early 1990s. At the moment these differences have equalized. It was shown that the rate of age-standardized incidence of childhood CD in Estonia increased dramatically during a 35-year period: from 0.10 in 1976–1980 to 3.14 per 100,000 person-years in 2006–2010 (Ress *et al.* 2012). However, it is still lower than in many Western countries, for example 27.4 per 100,000 person-years in children under 19 years of age in Campania, Italy (Zingone *et al.* 2015) or 11.9 per 100,000 person-years in the United Kingdom (Zingone *et al.* 2015). As described above, in Finland the total prevalence of CD doubled in recent decades and was as high as 2% (Lohi *et al.* 2007).

The exact reasons why the frequency of CD is increasing are unknown. The increase is partly due to the improved serological testing and awareness of CD, but this alone cannot explain the overall increase.

Country	Prevalence among children	Prevalence among adults	Prevalence (children and adults together)	Incidence among children (per 100,000	Incidence among adults (per 100,000
				vears)	vears)
Estonia	0.34%	NA	NA	1.1	NA
Finland	1%	2.4%	NA	44.0	33.1
Sweden	3%	NA	NA	25.9-28.2	8.7
United	0.16%	1.13%	NA	2.3-12.2	14.6
Kingdom					
Italy	1.2%	0.7%	NA	18.9–34.5	3.8–9.3
Russia	0.2%	NA	NA	NA	NA
India	1%	0.56%	NA	NA	NA
Australia	NA	0.39%	NA	NA	NA
Egypt	0.53%	NA	NA	NA	NA
Brazil	0.54%	0.35%	NA	NA	NA
United States	NA	NA	0.79%	17.4	18.3
of America					

Table 1. Global prevalence of CD based on Dieli-Crimi *et al.* 2015 and incidence of CDbased on King *et al.* 2020. (NA – not available)

2.2. Pathogenesis of coeliac disease

Coeliac disease is an autoimmune disorder whose pathogenesis entails genetic, environmental and immunological factors (Kagnoff 1992; Uibo *et al.* 2011). The genetic factors HLA-DQ2 and HLA-DQ8 and the predominant autoantigen TG2 are well defined. The major environmental factors are gluten and gluten-related prolamines (Caio *et al.* 2019). The pathogenesis of CD involves both the innate and adaptive immune systems (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Partially digested gluten peptides (up to 33 amino acids long large peptides) access the lamina propria actively through the transepithelial route or passively by the paracellular flux. These peptides are modified by TG2, which deamidates distinct glutamine residues into glutamic acid. These modified epitopes are taken up by antigen presenting cells that present them to gluten-specific CD4 T cells in the context of HLA-DQ2 and/or HLA-DQ8 molecules. Upon the interaction of HLA-DQ2 and/or HLA-DQ8, gliadin peptides and distinct T cell receptors, both the T cells and the B cells, will be activated. T cell activation results in cytokine production and tissue damage and B cell activation results in antibody production.

2.2.1. Genetic factors

Genetic factors are thought to play a prominent role in the pathogenesis of CD. Familial recurrence in first-degree CD relatives is high (~15–20%) (Fasano & Catassi, 2012; Singh *et al.* 2015). There is also high concordance among monozygotic twins (75–80%) and less than 20% among dizygotic twins (Greco *et al.* 2002; Nisticò *et al.* 2006). HLA and non-HLA genes have been identified. The first are thought to contribute 40% and the latter, 14% to the risk of the disease (Trynka *et al.* 2011). The association with HLA molecules was first described in 1974 (Sollid 2002). HLA genes, HLA-DQ2 (HLA-DQ2.5 and HLA-DQ2.2) and HLA-DQ8, are located on chromosome 6p21 (Dieli-Crimi *et al.* 2015). These HLA class II molecules are responsible for binding specific gluten peptides that activate T cells (Sollid *et al.* 1989) (Figure 1). The frequency of subjects positive for either HLA-DQ2 and/or HLA-DQ8 in the general popu-

lation may be as high as 40% (Hadithi et al. 2007). Most of the patients (90– 96%) are positive for the HLA-DO2.5 haplotype (encoded by the DOA1*05:01 and DOB1*02:01 alleles) and almost all of the remainders are positive for HLA-DQ8 (encoded by the DQA1*03:01 and DQB1*03:02 alleles) or HLA-DQ2.2 alone (encoded by the DQB1*02:02 allele) (Wolters & Wijmenga, 2008). Exceptions are rare and mostly due to misdiagnosis (Anderson et al. 2013). The risk of the disease depends on the dosage effect: individuals homozygous for HLA-DQ2.5 have the highest risk and the risk decreases in individuals with HLA-DO8, or with only the HLA-DOB1*02 allele (Tollefsen et al. 2006; Fallang et al. 2009; Bodd et al. 2012). Very few patients express HLA-DQ7.5 (encoded by the DQA1*05:01 allele) and have a very low risk for CD (Karell et al. 2003). HLA-DQ2 haplotypes may be associated with development of CD in childhood, while HLA-DQ8 haplotypes may be associated with onset in adulthood rather than in childhood (Schirru et al. 2011). In addition to these genes, there have been identified more than 100 non-HLA genes associated with CD (Dieli-Crimi et al. 2015; Lundin & Wijmenga, 2015). The non-HLA genes that play a role in the pathogenesis of CD are interleukin(IL)2 and IL21 genes, which are involved in T-cell maturation and differentiation (Leonard et al. 2015).

2.2.2. Gluten and related prolamines

Gluten is the main environmental trigger of CD, and people who are not exposed to gluten do not develop CD. "Gluten" is a general term for alcoholsoluble proteins present in various cereals. Actually, real gluten is the main storage protein of only wheat grains. It is a complex mixture of hundreds of related, but distinct proteins, mainly monomeric gliadins and polymeric glutenins, which together are referred to as prolamins. Gliadin is the main trigger of CD. There exist similar storage proteins as secalin in rye, hordein in barley, and avenins in oats (Wieser 2007; Biesiekierski 2017).

Gluten is incompletely digested by the gastric, pancreatic and brush border peptidases (Shan *et al.* 2002). These up to 33 amino acids long large peptides cross the intestinal epithelium through transcellular or paracellular routes (Matysiak-Budnik *et al.* 2008; Visser *et al.* 2009; Schumann *et al.* 2017). Then gliadin peptides are deamidated by the predominant autoantigen of CD - TG2 (Dieterich *et al.* 1997). Antigen presenting cells which express the HLA class II DQ2 and/or DQ8 molecules on their surface interact with CD4 T cells and activate adaptive immune responses (Lundin *et al.* 1993). The innate immune response to deamidated gliadin occurs in the epithelial component of the intestinal mucosa (Green & Jabri, 2003) and results in the differentiation of intra-epithelial lymphocytes into cytotoxic CD8 T cells that express the natural killer cell marker NK-G2D (Schuppan *et al.* 2009). Altogether, the damage manifests itself as villous atrophy of the small intestinal mucosa and crypt hyperplasia.

2.2.3. Other environmental factors of coeliac disease

Most people with the genetic risk for CD and exposure to gluten and glutenrelated prolamines do not develop CD. There are also significant differences in the prevalence of CD between people living geographically close to each other and receiving equal exposure to grain products (for example Finland and Russian Karelia) (Kondrashova *et al.* 2008). According to their study, the prevalence of CD was 1 in 107 children in Finland and 1 in 496 children in Russian Karelia. This finding indicates evident involvement of other factors.

2.2.3.1. Role of infant feeding practices

According to epidemiological studies (Ivarsson *et al.* 2000), early infant feeding practices might be related to development of CD, particularly, if breastfeeding was or was not ongoing when gluten was introduced, depending on the timing of gluten introduction.

Previous studies have shown that exclusive or any breastfeeding, or breastfeeding at the time of gluten introduction may reduce the risk of developing CD during childhood (Fälth-Magnusson *et al.* 1996; Ivarsson *et al.* 2002; Akobeng *et al.* 2006). This was thought to be related with many benefits that derive from breast milk. For example, by passive immunity breastfeeding reduced the risk of gastroenteritis by 64% and the risk of otitis media by 23% (Ip *et al.* 2007). Infections are considered to play an important role in development of CD. Moreover, some authors have reported that the time of gluten introduction may also affect the risk for developing CD (Peters *et al.* 2001; Norris *et al.* 2005).

Based on the earlier studies, the European Society for Paediatric Gastroenterology Hepatology and Nutrition (ESPGHAN) recommended in 2008 avoiding early gluten introduction before 4 months of age and late introduction after 7 months of age, and introducing gluten while the infant is still being breastfed to decrease the risk of CD, type 1 diabetes (T1D), and wheat allergy (Agostoni *et al.* 2008).

These results have been refuted by more recent randomized prospective and cohort studies. Vriezinga and colleagues found that introduction of small quantities of gluten at 4 to 6 months of age in at-risk children did not reduce the incidence of CD by the age of 3 years (Vriezinga *et al.* 2014). Lionetti and colleagues reported that neither delayed introduction of gluten nor breastfeeding reduced the rate of CD in high-risk children, whereas later introduction of gluten was associated with delayed manifestation of the clinical disease (Lionetti *et al.* 2014). The limitation of these interventional studies was that neither of them was designed to investigate the effect of breastfeeding on development of CD. As the study by Vriezinga and colleagues lasted only 3 years, it cannot establish if breastfeeding significantly impacts the incidence of CD later in life. A large prospective birth cohort study including over 100,000 children in Norway found that gluten introduction after 6 months compared with introduction between 5 and 6 months was associated with a borderline significantly in-

creased risk of CD (Størdal *et al.* 2013). Another study demonstrated that higher prevalence of CD may be related to later gluten introduction (Ivarsson *et al.* 2013). Other authors have not found clear associations (Jansen *et al.* 2014; Aronsson *et al.* 2015).

The findings that breastfeeding and age at gluten introduction might not affect the risk of developing CD have also been supported by systematic reviews and meta-analyses (Szajewska *et al.* 2015; Silano *et al.* 2016).

In the light of this data, ESPGHAN has published a new position papers on gluten introduction and CD risk (Szajewska *et al.* 2016; Fewtrell *et al.* 2017). These state that there is no evidence to support that breastfeeding compared with no breastfeeding reduces the risk of developing CD in children and that breastfeeding at the time of gluten introduction does not affect the risk of CD. Gluten can be introduced between 4 and 12 completed months, as its introduction in this age range does not appear to influence the risk of developing CD or CD autoimmunity.

As breastfeeding and age at gluten introduction do not seem to be related with the risk for CD development, there has grown more interest in the amount of gluten at introduction. According to earlier studies based on the information from the Swedish CD epidemic from 1984–1996, children who consume large amounts of gluten at introduction have a greater risk of developing CD (Ivarsson et al. 2002). According to the ESPGHAN position paper, large amounts of gluten consumption should be avoided in the first months after introduction (Szajewska et al. 2016). Recent papers by Aronsson and colleagues, by Mårild and colleagues and by Lund-Blix and colleagues indicate that the amount of gluten plays a role in CD (Aronsson et al. 2019; Lund-Blix et al. 2019; Mårild et al. 2019). These studies report that one extra slice of bread (some 2 g of gluten) per day for children seems to be linked to a 20%-50% increased risk of CD. A limitation of the first two studies is that they are only based on an at-risk child population, which might raise the question if these recommendations can be extrapolated to the whole population (Ludvigsson & Lebwohl, 2019). In contrast, the previous open-label RCT EAT Study found that early consumption of high-dose gluten can be preventive against CD development (Logan et al. 2020). The latter study was conducted on a general population cohort. To make this issue more complex, a recent study has suggested that enterovirus infections early in life can be potentiated by high gluten intake, which may trigger the development of CD autoimmunity in genetically predisposed children (Lindfors et al. 2019).

2.2.3.2. Infections and use of antibiotics as risk factors

Seasonal variation in the birth date of patients with CD has been reported (Lewy *et al.* 2009). According to that study, girls whose CD was diagnosed before age 24 months (peak July-August) showed a different seasonality of the month of birth compared to those whose CD was diagnosed after age 24 months (no rhythm) and also a different seasonality compared to boys whose CD was

diagnosed after age 24 months (peak July) (Lewy *et al.* 2009). This can indicate that infections may be involved in the pathogenesis as an environmental factor. Different studies have proposed several viral and also bacterial infections as part of the pathogenesis of CD. Most of these studies have been epidemiological (Beyerlein *et al.* 2017) and based on parental reports (Mårild *et al.* 2015; Kemppainen *et al.* 2017). Also, very few experimental (Bouziat *et al.* 2017) and laboratory (Jansen *et al.* 2016) investigations have reported this relationship. It is also possible that the pathogenesis of childhood CD is influenced by the cumulative effect of early-life infections rather than by one specific microbial or viral agent (Mårild *et al.* 2015; Beyerlein *et al.* 2017).

Many authors have found relationship between gastrointestinal infections and increased risk of CD (Stene et al. 2006; Kemppainen et al. 2017; Kahrs et al. 2019; Tapia et al. 2021). Gastrointestinal infections may initiate the secretion of intracellular tTG and lead to increased intestinal permeability, which is frequently seen in CD (Koning et al. 2005). The TEDDY Study has shown that gastrointestinal infections increase the risk of CD autoimmunity within the following 3 months by 33% in children with genetic susceptibility (Kemppainen et al. 2017). Rotavirus is one of the most common causes of gastroenteritis among children (Kapikian et al. 2001). As it is so common, a single rotavirus infection is probably not enough to cause CD, but recurrent infections in genetically predisposed individuals may increase the risk of CD autoimmunity in childhood (Stene et al. 2006). Recent prospective studies by Kahrs et al. and Oikarainen *et al.* also found that higher frequency of enterovirus during early childhood was associated with later CD (Kahrs et al. 2019; Oikarinen et al. 2021). In addition, an interaction between the amount of ingested gluten and enterovirus exposure might be of importance (Lindfors et al. 2019). Early-life parechovirus infections are also thought to be associated with development of CD in genetically at-risk children (Tapia et al. 2021). Earlier studies (Kagnoff et al. 1987; Mahon et al. 1991) have obtained conflicting results about adenovirus and CD, however, a recent large prospective study found that adenovirus was not associated with later CD (Kahrs et al. 2019). An experimental work by Bouziat et al. suggests that a nonvirulent pathogen, reovirus, may be related to development of CD (Bouziat et al. 2017). Using a viral infection model, these authors claim that reovirus can disrupt intestinal immune homeostasis at the inductive and effector sites of oral tolerance by suppressing peripheral regulatory T cell conversion and by promoting type 1 helper T cells immunity to dietary antigen (Bouziat et al. 2017).

More potential interactions between different types of infections and CD have been investigated in single studies. As species of the human herpesvirus family have been implicated in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases in adulthood (Barzilai *et al.* 2007), these viruses have been investigated in relation to CD. Herpes viruses may have a protective effect on development of CD (Jansen *et al.* 2016). Auricchio *et al.* found that during the first 24 months of life the frequency of respiratory tract infections was higher among CD patients (Auricchio *et al.* 2017). The higher frequency of respiratory syncytial virus

infection or any viral bronchiolitis has been reported also by Tjernberg and Ludvigsson (Tjernberg & Ludvigsson, 2014). *Helicobacter pylori* colonization may decrease the risk of CD (Lebwohl *et al.* 2013). Borrelia infection does not seem to be related with development of CD (Alaedini *et al.* 2017).

Previous studies have reported conflicting results about antibiotic use and CD (Mårild *et al.* 2013; Canova *et al.* 2014; Kemppainen *et al.* 2017; Duong *et al.* 2022). A large observational nationwide study in Denmark and Norway showed that exposure to systemic antibiotics in the first year of life could be a risk factor for CD (Dydensborg Sander *et al.* 2019), while no specific type of antibiotic or age at exposure was prominent.

An earlier study by Sandberg-Bennich *et al.* indicates that neonatal infections may increase the risk of later CD development (Sandberg-Bennich *et al.* 2002). On the other hand, a study involving both inpatients and outpatients with CD did not confirm this (Mårild *et al.* 2012). It has been thought that early life infections may play a role in development of CD through induction of pro-inflammatory interferons (Sollid & Jabri, 2013). At the same time, there need not be clear association between maternal infections and use of antibiotics in pregnancy and the child's risk of CD later in life (Mårild *et al.* 2014; Mårild *et al.* 2017).

A recent systematic review and meta-analysis, although not including the latest data, confirms that infections and antibiotic use seem to be an important factor in development of CD (Jiang *et al.* 2019).

2.2.3.3. Intestinal microbiota and breast milk components as risk factors

In addition to infections, the intestinal microbiota is thought to be involved in the pathogenesis of CD (Verdu et al. 2015). Studies based on duodenal biopsies and faecal samples have shown increased abundance of many different bacteria for example *Bacteroidetes* (Collado *et al.* 2009), *Proteobacteria* phyla (Verdu et al. 2015) and Clostridium (Ou et al. 2009). The abundance of Lactobacillus and *Bifidobacterium* spp. appears to be decreased (Di Cagno et al. 2011). Earlier research has shown that infants with an increased genetic risk for CD were colonized with a lower proportion of Actinobacteria and Bacteroidetes, but a higher proportion of *Firmicutes* and *Proteobacteria* compared to infants with a low genetic risk for development of CD (Sellitto et al. 2012). Dysbiosis preceding the onset of the disease in at-risk infants has been confirmed (Olivares et al. 2018). In the first years of life the intestinal microbiota is constantly changing (Palmer et al. 2007). It is known that breast milk components promote oral tolerance of dietary antigens by modulating immune development and composition of the infant gut microbiota (Sepp et al. 2000; Bezirtzoglou et al. 2011; Pozo-Rubio et al. 2012; Ivarsson et al. 2013; Drell et al. 2017). Human breast milk contains various essential immunological components, which protect against infections and which modulate and promote immune system (for example, tumor necrosis factor- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, interferon- γ , and transforming

growth factor- β (TGF- β)). There are several whey proteins in breast milk: α lactalbumin, lactoferrin, lysozyme, and secretory immunoglobulin A (sIgA) (Ballard *et al.* 2013). de Palma *et al.* demonstrated that the type of milk feeding in relation to the HLA-genotype played a role in establishing infant gut microbiota (de Palma et al. 2012). The HLA-DQ genotype may specifically influence the colonization process of *Bacteroides* species (Sanchez *et al.* 2011). A pilot study from the PreventCD Cohort established that certain microbial species were more abundant in milk samples from mothers whose children developed CD (Benitez-Paez et al. 2020). These included Methylobacterium komagatae and Methylocapsa palsarum, as well as the species such as Bacteroides vulgatus. Theoretically, these microbiota components could be vertically transmitted from mothers-to-infants during breastfeeding, thereby influencing the CD risk. By highlighting alterations in the microbiome composition prior to the onset of CD, these studies strongly suggest that dysbiosis can be considered an additional environmental contributor (Serena et al. 2019). It has been observed that breast milk from CD mothers have lower levels of TGF- β 1, sIgA and a reduced abundance of Bifidobacterium spp. and B. fragilis compared with healthy women (Olivares et al. 2015). sIgA is the main immunoglobulin in breast milk, which promotes long-term intestinal homeostasis by regulating the gut microbiota and host gene expression (Rogier et al. 2014). TGF-β belongs to a growth factor family that is responsible for development and maturation of the mucosal immune system (Oddy & Mcmahon, 2011). Regarding the development and homeostasis of intestine, important breast milk components are also sCD14 and MFG-E8 (lactadherin). Milk sCD14 is immune modulator in homeostasis and in the defence of the neonatal intestine (Vidal et al. 2001) and is preventing gastrointestinal Gram-negative infections (Vidal et al. 2002). MFG-E8 has been shown to have antiviral effects and protects against rotavirus, which is one of the most common causes of gastroenteritis among children (Newburg et al. 1998; Kvistgaard et al. 2004; Stene et al. 2006).

2.3. Diagnosis of coeliac disease in children

The diagnosis of CD is based on a combination of clinical, serological and histopathological data. The clinical picture of CD can be very variable. Common classical symptoms are chronic or intermittent diarrhoea, distended abdomen, weight loss and failure-to-thrive, because of malabsorption. There can be different gastrointestinal symptoms (for example abdominal pain, nausea, vomiting or even constipation), but also extraintestinal symptoms (for example delayed puberty, arthritis/arthralgia, aphthous stomatitis, rash, dental enamel defects, abnormal liver biochemistry). Patients can also be asymptomatic and found in screening of different risk groups (Husby *et al.* 2020). Traditionally, diagnosis of CD is based on CD-specific antibodies and small intestinal biopsies from the duodenum to assess villous atrophy, crypt epithelial hyperplasia and number of intraepithelial lymphocytes (IEL) (Kelly *et al.* 2015). In recent years there have been some changes in paediatric guidelines regarding in whom what kind of antibodies to test and in whom gastroscopy with small intestinal biopsies to perform (Husby *et al.* 2012; Husby *et al.* 2020). In 2012 it was allowed to diagnose CD in symptomatic paediatric patients without small intestinal biopsies if immunoglobulin A (IgA)-tTG was positive over 10 times normal, and if also EMA and HLA-DQ2/DQ8 were positive (Husby *et al.* 2012). The last guideline, published in 2020, allows to diagnose CD without small intestinal biopsies also in asymptomatic children. It is not nessecary any more to test for HLA-DQ2/DQ8 (Husby *et al.* 2020).

2.3.1. Screening tests in coeliac disease

CD-specific antibodies include autoantibodies against autoantigens (tTG and EMA) and antibodies targeting the offending agent (anti-gliadin antibodies (AGA) and DGP). Both tTG and EMA have very high sensitivity (90–100%) and specificity, close to 100% for CD (Lewis & Scott, 2006; Giersiepen *et al.* 2012). CD-related autoantibodies can belong to the IgA or immunoglobulin G (IgG) classes, but only the IgA class is highly sensitive and specific for CD (Volta *et al.* 2010). IgG antibodies should be used in patients with IgA deficiency (Villalta *et al.* 2010; Husby *et al.* 2012; Husby *et al.* 2020).

Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) based AGA tests (using α -gliadin as the antigen) were the first ones used for identifying CD patients (O'Farrelly *et al.* 1983). AGA tests are no longer recommended in routine clinical practice in diagnosing CD and their role is now confined to the possible identification of a subset of cases with non-celiac gluten/wheat sensitivity (Caio *et al.* 2017).

EMA test is considered to be the gold standard for detecting CD autoantibodies. These autoantibodies are specific to the smooth muscle endomysium of the gastrointestinal tract (Kaur *et al.* 2017). It is based on indirect immunofluorescence, which makes it is very subjective, labour consuming and expensive (Lindfors *et al.* 2019). This test was first described by Chorzelski *et al.* in 1983 (Chorzelski *et al.* 1983).

The tTG is the best test for initial screening in clinical practice, as it is based on operator-independent ELISA and radiobinding assays; there are also many commercial tests (Lindfors *et al.* 2019). IgA-tTG testing alone was found to be more sensitive for CD than IgA-tTG combined with EMA testing (Hopper *et al.* 2008). So this test should be done as the first-line screening test (Husby *et al.* 2012; Husby *et al.* 2020). It is known that concentration of IgA-tTG correlates with degree of villous atrophy (Singh *et al.* 2015). As the first-line screening test is IgA-tTG, also total IgA concentration should always be measured to identify patients with IgA deficiency.

Previously, DGP was recommended for diagnosing CD in children younger than 2 years (Husby *et al.* 2012), but isolated increases in the concentration of this antibody have a low positive predictive value (Hoerter *et al.* 2017). So this test should only be used in selected cases (Husby *et al.* 2020).

2.3.2. Role of small intestinal biopsy and histology finding

The normal intestine has finger-like villi on its surface. In the case of CD, the normal small intestinal mucosa is damaged. Mucosal damage may vary in different degrees, may be patchy and may appear only, for example, in the duodenal bulb (Taavela *et al.* 2016). For describing mucosal damage, the Marsh-Oberhuber classification is used (Marsh 1992; Oberhuber *et al.* 1999; Marsh *et al.* 2015) (Table 2). Small intestinal changes that should be considered have different stages.

In type 0 small intestinal histology is normal with less than 40 IEL per 100 enterocytes. CD is highly unlikely. Type 1 is seen in patients who are on gluten free diet (suggesting the minimal amounts of gluten or gliadin are being ingested), in patients with dermatitis herpetiformis, and in some family members of CD patients (potential CD); it may also be seen in the case of infections. This stage is not diagnostic for CD. Type 2 is very rare and is seen occasionally in dermatitis herpetiformis. Type 3 is divided into subclasses depending on the degree of villous atrophy and is seen in symptomatic CD patients (Oberhuber *et al.* 1999).

Marsh	IEL / 100 enterocytes -	IEL / 100 enterocytes -	Crypt	Villi
Туре	jejunum	duodenum	hyperplasia	
0	<40	<30	Normal	Normal
1	>40	>30	Normal	Normal
2	>40	>30	Increased	Normal
3a	>40	>30	Increased	Mild
				atrophy
3b	>40	>30	Increased	Marked
				atrophy
3c	>40	>30	Increased	Complete
				atrophy

Table 2. Modified Marsh Classification of histologic findings in CD (IEL – intraepithelial lymphocytes; IEL/100 enterocytes – IEL per 100 enterocytes) (Oberhuber et al. 1999)

2.4. Summary of the literature review

In recent decades the prevalence of this immune-mediated systemic disease has increased. Significant progress has been made in understanding the pathogenesis of CD. HLA and non-HLA genes have been identified. Well known is the predominant autoantigen TG2. The major environmental factors are gluten and gluten-related prolamines.

As there are significant differences in the prevalence of CD between people living geographically close to each other, big effort has been made to understand possible environmental risk factors. There have been many studies about infant feeding. At the moment there is no evidence to support that breastfeeding compared with no breastfeeding reduces the risk of developing CD in children and breastfeeding at the time of gluten introduction does not affect the risk of CD. Gluten can be introduced between 4 and 12 completed months.

As seasonal variation in the birth date of patients with CD has been reported, there have been interest in different infections. Several viral and bacterial infections have been thought to be part of the pathogenesis of CD. Addition to infections, the intestinal microbiota is thought to be involved in the pathogenesis of CD.

More longitudinal international studies are needed to understand possible risk factors better and their relation to CD development. Important are close follow-up of patients and also laboratory analyses of different types of biomarkers.

3. AIMS OF THE THESIS

The general aim of the present thesis was to study the development of CD in two paediatric populations with different environmental backgrounds and to find out the role of different risk factors in this process.

Specific aims

- 1. To compare the cumulative incidence of CD between Estonian and Finnish children up to 5 years of age.
- 2. To analyse the role of early infant feeding and infections reported by parents in modulation of the incidence of CD.
- 3. To detect viruses in stool and nasal swab samples before the diagnosis, and virus-specific antibodies in serum samples at the diagnosis of CD. To compare the frequency of infections in the disease group and disease-free controls, and thereby to assess their potential involvement in the development of CD.
- 4. To characterize the microbiota composition of the breast milk and its possible relationship with immunological markers of the breast milk in mothers whose offspring presented or did not present CD during the first 3 years of life.

4. SUBJECTS AND METHODS

The study is based on the data and biomaterials collected during the international prospective observational DIABIMMUNE Study (Principal Investigator Prof. Mikael Knip, University of Helsinki, Finland). The DIABIMMUNE Study set out to assess the role of the hygiene hypothesis in the development of T1D and other immune-mediated diseases. The study was carried out in Estonia, Finland and Russian Karelia from September 2008 to October 2013. As there were no biopsy confirmed CD cases in Russia, that country was not included in this study. The study included two cohorts: a birth cohort (BC) observed from birth up to the age of 3 years and a cohort of young children (YCC) examined for the first time at the age of 3 years and followed up to the age of 5 years.

4.1. Background studies

Initially, during the DIABIMMUNE Study, 2714 infants from maternity hospitals in Estonia and 3105 in Finland were recruited for the BC (Figure 2). Cord blood samples were taken from all children whenever it was technically feasible and their parents gave written informed consent. All children were analysed for T1D/CD associated HLA DR/DQ alleles (Peet *et al.* 2012). The HLA DR/DQ genotypes were analysed with the polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-based lanthanide labelled oligonucleotide hybridisation method at the Immunogenetics Laboratory, University of Turku, Finland, using time-resolved fluorometry for detection as described previously (Hermann *et al.* 2003). Four hundred and twenty-six Estonian children and 713 Finnish children carried the eligible HLA genotype (DR3-DQ2 (DQA1*05-DQB1*02)/DR4-DQ8 (DRB1*04:01/2/4/5-DQA1*03-DQB1*03:02) heterozygosity, or either DR4-DQ8 or DR3-DQ2 haplotype alone without any haplotypes protecting for T1D).

Children with eligible HLA were invited for a follow-up study. In total, 258 children in Estonia (61% of the eligible) and 305 in Finland (43% of the eligible) completed the 3-year follow-up programme with planned visits at the age of 3, 6, 12, 18, 24 and 36 months (± 1 month). Non-fasting blood samples were collected by venipuncture from all participants at every visit. Serum was separated by centrifugation and stored in aliquots at -70 °C for further use. The parents were asked to collect monthly stool samples at home, starting from the age of 1 month. The samples were stored in home freezers at -20°C immediately after collection until they were transported frozen to the laboratory for longterm storage at -80°C. Nasal swabs were collected at study visits by the research personnel, starting from the age of 3 months, and stored immediately at -20°C and later at -80°C for long-term storage. Breast milk samples were collected from the mothers 3 months after delivery. Milk samples were obtained by manual expression into sterile bags. The samples were immediately placed in a -20°C freezer and further stored at -80°C until processing. At the first study visit the parents were given a diary in which they were asked to report data about infections, use of medications, allergies, vaccinations and environmental exposures. Data on breastfeeding and on the introduction of complementary foods and their character was also registered. All diary data was transferred to a central database at each visit.



Figure 2. Study outline with relevant data about the subjects.

In the YCC children with suitable age were invited to the study. 1681 children from Estonia and 1575 children from Finland were studied at the age of 3 years, and 1363 (81%) and 1384 (88%) children, respectively, attended the follow-up visit at the age of 5 years (Figure 2). In addition, some of these children (250 children from Estonia and 448 children from Finland) were also studied at the age of 4 years. All participants were genotyped for HLA, but no selection was based on the genotype. Non-fasting blood samples were collected by venipuncture from all participants at every visit. Serum was separated by centrifugation and stored in aliquots at -70 °C for further use. A study diary was given to the parents at the initial visit with the request that they should fill in information on food intake, infections, use of medications, vaccinations, allergies and environmental exposures. Information about the history of breastfeeding was collected at the first visit.

Both cohorts were screened regularly for CD antibodies to identify children with possible CD. Autoantibody analyses were made at one laboratory – the Institute of Biomedicine and Translational Medicine, University of Tartu, Estonia. IgA-tTG were measured using a fully automated solid-phase fluoroenzyme immunoassay technology (ImmunoCAP EliA, Phadia AB, Uppsala, Sweden). According to the manufacturer, the clinical sensitivity of ImmunoCAP EliA is 96% and specificity is 99%. The IgA-tTG values higher than 10 EliA U/ml were considered positive, and the values lower than 7 EliA U/ml were considered positive.

dered negative. When a IgA-tTG test result was equivocal (7 to 10 EliA U/ml), an in-house ELISA for IgA-tTG (Teesalu *et al.* 2009) and an in-house immuno-fluorescence assay for IgA-EMA (Uibo *et al.* 2006) were applied. In the case of a low serum volume, an in-house IgA-tTG ELISA with recombinant human tissue transglutaminase was used. If a serum sample was haemolytic, or if the IgA-tTG assay could not detect any IgA ("low RU" as a sign of possible IgA deficiency), the sera were retested for IgG-DGP and IgG-tTG antibodies by ImmunoCAP EliA, using the same cut-off values for positivity as in the case of IgA-tTG EliA.

When antibody analyses were positive, children with suspected CD were referred to a paediatric gastroenterologist at Tartu University Hospital or at Helsinki Children's Hospital. The diagnosis of CD was made in accordance with the ESPGHAN guidelines (Husby *et al.* 2012) – positive IgA-tTG antibody test results and a biopsy of the small intestine with an abnormal microscopic finding. The small intestine biopsy was done by paediatric gastroenterologist. The microscopic findings of the small intestine were classified in accordance with the Marsh classification modified by Oberhuber (Oberhuber *et al.* 1999). All children with biopsy-confirmed CD were included in the current analysis.

During the DIABIMMUNE Study period 29 children developed CD: nine children (two Estonian and seven Finnish children) in the BC and 20 children (six Estonian and 14 Finnish children) in the YCC.

4.2. Study subjects

All study subjects of this thesis were drawn from the DIABIMMUNE Study.

4.2.1. Children who developed coeliac disease and their controls (Papers I–II)

For every child with CD (n=29), one control child was selected (except for one child in the YCC who had two controls – one at the age of 3 and another at the age of 5 years). The control children were selected from the BC or YCC of the DIABIMMUNE Study and matched for the CD-specific HLA DR/DQ genotype, country of birth, age and gender (Figure 2).

4.2.2. Children who were selected for breast milk sample analysis (Paper III)

For breast milk sample analyses, six children of the BC were selected. The criteria for selection were that breast milk was collected from all of their mothers at the age of 3 months, the children were followed up from birth to the age of 3 years and they all developed later CD. From the same DIABIMMUNE cohort, we selected 18 controls based on the CD-specific HLA DR/DQ genotype, country of birth, time of birth and sex of each patient.

4.3. Methods

4.3.1. Analysis of viruses in stool and nasal swab (Paper II)

Enterovirus, norovirus, parechovirus and rhinovirus RNA were analysed in the BC from the stool samples collected at the age of 3, 4, 5 and 6 months. In addition, enterovirus, parechovirus and rhinovirus RNA were analysed from the nasal swab samples collected at the age of 3 and 6 months in the same cohort. Enterovirus and rhinovirus RNA were screened from stool and nasal swab samples using real-time reverse transcription (RT) PCR. In addition, parechovirus and norovirus RNA were tested in the stool samples using specific RT-PCR methods (parechovirus also from nasal swab). Stool samples were suspended in a concentration of 10% in the HANKS solution (Sigma-Aldrich, Missouri, USA) and RNA was extracted using the viral RNA kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). QuantiTect Probe reagents (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) were used according to the manufacturer's instructions for amplification of virus RNA. All samples were run in triplicate and, if any of the reactions was positive, that sample was regarded as positive for the tested virus. Primer and probe sequences, as well as the concentrations in the reactions, were reported by Krogvold et al. (Krogvold et al. 2015). That study recorded two primer pairs for enterovirus detection, while our study used the primer pair of fwd 636 and rev 4-. The analysis was carried out at the Virus Laboratory, University of Tampere, Finland.

4.3.2. Analysis of virus' antibodies from serum (Paper II)

The analysis of norovirus, adenovirus and enterovirus IgA and IgG antibodies in serum was carried out at the Virus Laboratory, University of Tampere, Finland, using ELISA. IgA and IgG antibodies against norovirus, adenovirus, enterovirus and IgG antibodies against Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) and cytomegalovirus (CMV) were measured from the serum sample of the children with CD at the time point of seroconversion to positivity for autoantibodies associated with CD in both cohorts. The corresponding serum samples from the control children were collected at the same age. All samples were tested in pairs. Samples from the case and control children were included in the same test run, without knowledge of the case-control status of the child. The level of anti-viral IgA and IgG is expressed in enzyme immunoassay units (EIU).

Briefly, 96-well half-area polystyrene plates (Corning Incorporated, New York, USA) were used for norovirus antibody analyses and Nunc-Immuno MaxiSorp plates (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Massachusetts, USA) for adenovirus and enterovirus antibody analyses. For norovirus antibody analyses, the plates were coated with norovirus virus-like particle antigens at a concentration of 1 μ g/ml in phosphate-buffered saline (pH 7.2), as previously described (Nurminen *et al.* 2011). For adenovirus antibody analyses, an adenovirus hexon antigen was used at a concentration of 0.32 μ g/ml in a phosphate-buffered saline (pH 7.2) (Lönnrot *et al.* 2000) and for enterovirus a sucrose gradient purified

coxsackievirus B4 was used at a concentration of 0.76 μg/ml in a carbonate buffer (Hyoty *et al.* 1995). Norovirus antibodies were analysed using 1/200 (IgA) and 1/4000 (IgG) serum dilutions in 1% milk + 0.05% Tween 20 (MP Biomedicals, Illkirch, France) in a phosphate-buffered saline, and adenovirus and enterovirus antibodies were analysed using 1/100 (IgA) and 1/2000 (IgG) dilutions in a phosphate-buffered saline supplemented with 1% bovine serum albumin (Sigma-Aldrich, Missouri, USA), 2% sodium chloride and 0.05% Tween 20. For norovirus IgA, the detection antibodies were goat anti-human IgA-horseradish peroxidase (Pierce cat PA1-74395, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Massachusetts, USA) and for IgG, goat anti-human IgG-HRP (Invitrogen cat 627120, Invitrogen, California, USA). For adenovirus and enterovirus IgA, Dako P0216 rabbit anti-human IgA-HRP (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark) and for IgG, Dako P0214 rabbit anti-human IgG-HRP (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark) were used. Absorbance at 490 nm (norovirus, adenovirus) or 492 nm (enterovirus) was measured on a Victor2 microplate reader (PerkinElmer, Massachusetts, USA).

The cut-off limits for the virus antibody analyses were determined by arrangement of the optical density results in ascending order to generate a histogram (with Supplementary material of Paper II). The abrupt increase in the optical density values was used to separate positive and negative values. The arbitrary negative values were used to calculate the final cut-off using the formula: the mean of the arbitrary optical density (OD) negative value + three standard deviations (SD). The cut-off is shown with an arrow on the histograms. All the values above the set cut-off value were considered positive.

For CMV IgG and EBV viral capside antigen IgG detection, we used ELISA in accordance with the manufacturer's protocol, by employing the LUCIO-Sero ELISA Cytomegalovirus IgG and the LUCIO-Sero ELISA Epstein-Barr VCA IgG (nal von minden GmbH, Moers, Germany). The results were calculated according to the manufacturer's instructions. Equivocal CMV IgG results were demonstrated in a child with CD in the BC from Estonia and this child was excluded from final analysis.

4.3.3. Analysis of breast milk (Paper III)

Breast milk samples were thawed and centrifuged for 15 min at 1000 g at 4°C and thereafter the aqueous fraction was collected. The latter was used for further analyses. Centrifugation was repeated twice.

4.3.3.1. Analysis of immune markers (Paper III)

We used ELISA to measure TGF- β 1, TGF- β 2, sIgA, MFG-E8 (lactadherin), and sCD14. For measuring TGF- β 1, TGF- β 2, MFG-E8, and sCD14, we used commercial kits from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. For sIgA, we used a commercial kit from Bethyl Laboratories (Montgomery, AL, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

4.3.3.2. Molecular analysis (Paper III)

DNA extraction

Bacterial DNA from human milk was extracted using the PureLinkTM Microbiome DNA Purification Kit (Invitrogen, using an ELMI SkyLine instrument [ELMI Ltd., Riga, Latvia]). Human milk samples were centrifuged at 4,000 g for 30 min, after which the supernatant was removed. Cell pellets were washed with a phosphate-buffered saline, centrifuged at 13,000 g \times 3 min at room temperature and the pellets were resuspended in a kit-specific lysis buffer. The protocol was then continued as described by the manufacturer (Invitrogen, USA).

Illumina sequencing

16S library preparation was performed using an in-house sequencing protocol with the V4 (F515/R806) primer pair (Zeller *et al.* 2014). Sequencing was performed using an iSeq 100 (SN FS10000643, Illumina) and an iSeq 100 il Reagent kit (Illumina) in the 2x150 bp mode and using the dual index setup with two-read sequencing protocol. 16S rDNA sequence data were analysed using BION-meta (www.box.com/bion), according to the author's instructions and in-house scripts. First, sequences were cleaned at both ends using a 99.5% minimum quality threshold for at least 18 of 20 bases for the 5'-end and 28 of 30 bases for 3'-end. The reads were then joined, followed by the removal of read pairs shorter than 150 bp. Then, the sequences were cleaned from chimeras and clustered using a 95% oligonucleotide similarity (k-mer length of 8 bp and a step size of 2 bp). Lastly, consensus reads were aligned to the SILVA reference 16S rDNA database (v123) using a word length of eight and similarity cut-off of 90%. Bacterial designation was analysed at different taxonomic levels down to the species when applicable.

Primers and probes

Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE), sequencing of DGGE amplicons and RT-PCR were performed with the primers and probes listed in supplementary Table S1 (with Supplementary material of Paper III).

RT-PCR

In order to establish a quantitative assay, plasmid standards were generated using the method described in Bartosch *et al.* (Bartosch *et al.* 2004). The amplified 16S rRNA gene region (amplified with specific primers) from *B. longum* DSM20219 and *L. acidophilus* ATCC4356 was cloned into chemically component E. coli JM109 cells using the pGEM-T vector system (Promega, Madison, WI, USA). Plasmids were purified with the NucleoSpin Plasmid QuickPure kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (Macherey-Nagel, Düren, Germany). Multiple dilutions of purified plasmids were quantified by spectrophotometry (NanoDrop ND-1000, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). Quantification of target DNA was achieved by using serial tenfold dilution from 105 to 101 plasmid copies of previously quantified plasmid standards.

Multiplex TaqMan assay PCR reactions were performed in a total volume of 25 μ l using TaqMan® Universal PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). Each reaction included 5 μ l of template DNA, 12.5 μ l of TaqMan® Universal PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems), 400 nM of (F_allbif_IS and R_alllact_IS primers), 600 nM of (F_alllact_IS and R_alllact_IS primers), 900 nM of (F_Eub and R_Eub primers) and 100 nM of both (P_alllact_IS, P_alllbif_IS) and 100 nM (P_Eub) of probes. The RT-PCR conditions consisted of an initial denaturation step at 50°C for 2 min and then 95°C for 10 min, continued with an amplification step followed by 40 cycles including denaturation at 95°C for 15 s, and an annealing-elongation step at 60°C for 1 min. Amplification and detection of DNA samples by RT-PCR were performed with a 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems Europe BV, Zug, Switzerland) using optical-grade 96-well plates. Data from triplicate samples were analysed using Sequence Detection Software version 1.6.3 (Applied Biosystems).

Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis

PCR was performed in a reaction volume of 50 μ l containing 25 μ l 2X DreamTaq Hot Start PCR Master Mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific), 200 ng of a DNA solution and primers at a concentration of 10 μ M. The DGGE cycling parameters were 5 min at 94°C, followed by 35 cycles of 30 s at 57°C (for primer Im-3 and Im-26), 30 s at 94°C, 30 s at 62°C (for primers Bif 164 and Bif 662+GC), and 45 s at 56°C (for primer Lac-1 and Lac-2+GC), and a final extension at 72°C for 10 min.

The DGGE analysis of PCR amplicons was performed using a DcodeTM System apparatus (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). Polyacrylamide gel 8% [wt/vol], involving acrylamide-bisacrylamide [37.5:1] in 0.5X Tris-acetic acid-EDTA buffers with a denaturing gradient, was prepared with a gradient mixer and Econopump (Bio-Rad). Gradients from 30 to 60% were employed for the separation of the products amplified with specific primers for *Lactobacillus spp*. and from 45 to 60% for the products amplified with primers specific for *Bifi-dobacterium spp*.

Sequencing of DGGE amplicons

PCR amplicons (Bif164-r and Bif662-f) and (Lac-1 and Lac-2) were purified and concentrated with a QIAquick PCR purification kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Purified amplicons were then cloned into the *E. coli* JM 109 strain using the pGEM-T vector system (Promega, Madison, WI, USA). Colonies of ampicillin-resistant transformants were randomly picked from each sample and were subjected to PCR with the pGEM-T specific primers T7 and SP6 (Supplementary Table S1, with Supplementary material of Paper III) from lyzed cells to check the size of inserts. Plasmid DNA from selected transformants was isolated using a QIAprep Spin Miniprep kit (Qiagen). Sequencing reactions were performed using the BigDye Terminator CA v3.1 Cycle Sequencing kit (Applied Biosystem) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The sequences obtained were analysed using an automatic LI-COR DNA Sequencer 4000L (Licor, Lincoln, NE, USA) and were corrected manually. All of the sequences were thereafter identified using BLASTN and the NCBI nucleotide database.

4.3.4. Ethics (Papers I-III)

The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and local ethical committees approved this study accordingly. Written informed consent was obtained from all parents for the participation of their child in this study.

4.3.5. Statistical analysis (Papers I-III)

Statistical analysis was performed with the R software for Windows (The R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria). The Shapiro-Wilk normality test was used to determine if the data had a normal distribution. A *p*-value less than 0.05 was considered significant.

Paper I

In Paper I the cumulative incidence of CD was calculated by dividing the number of new histologically proven CD cases by the number of the study population during the study period. The incidence rate was calculated by dividing the number of new histologically proven CD cases by the sum of the time each person was observed, totalled for all persons. For statistical analysis of the cumulative incidence, the Fisher's exact test or the Chi square test was applied in Paper I. Comparisons between the CD group and the control group were performed with the Mann-Whitney-Wilcoxon test in Paper I.

Paper II

To analyse differences in antibody levels between the CD and control groups, we used the paired t-test or the Wilcoxon signed-rank test. The paired t-test was used for comparison of norovirus and enterovirus IgA antibodies in the BC and for comparison of enterovirus IgG antibodies in both cohorts in cases where IgA-tTG was higher than 100 U/ml. The Wilcoxon signed-rank test was used for all other comparisons between the CD and control groups. Odds ratios (OR) were used to assess the risk of CD. Conditional logistic regression was applied to calculate adjusted ORs (aOR). The 95% confidence interval (CI) was used to estimate the precision of the aORs. Correlations between level of virus IgA or IgG antibodies and level of IgA-tTG were analysed with the non-parametric Spearman test. We compared antibody levels between the Estonian and Finnish children employing the Mann-Whitney-Wilcoxon test. To compare the number

of cases with antibodies or viruses between the different study groups, the Fisher's exact test or the chi-square test was applied.

Paper III

Comparison between the CD group and the control group was made using the ttest for normally distributed data and with the Mann-Whitney-Wilcoxon test for data with a skewed distribution. To compare the number of positive cases between groups, the Fisher's exact test was used. Correlations were analysed with a non-parametric Spearman's rank-order correlation test. Alpha diversity was based on the Shannon index of OTU level. Analysis of the beta-diversity of the CD and control groups, including principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) of weighted UniFrac distances, was performed and visualized using the PAST 4.0 version.

5. RESULTS

5.1. General characteristics of the children who developed coeliac disease and their matched controls (Paper I)

During the DIABIMMUNE Study period 29 children developed CD: nine children (two Estonian and seven Finnish children) in the BC and 20 children (six Estonian and 14 Finnish children) in the YCC. None of them had IgA deficiency and all 29 were positive for IgA-tTG and EMA. In addition, two Finnish children in the YCC tested positive for both IgA-tTG and EMA, however, the small intestine biopsy did not confirm the diagnosis of CD. All children with CD and those of the control group had been born full-term (gestational age between 37 and 42 weeks). Twenty-three children with CD (79%) were autumn-, winter- or spring-born (from September to May). Five children in the CD group (17%) and six children in the control group (20%) had been delivered by Caesarean section, while all the remaining children had been born vaginally. There were no statistical differences in mean birth weight either between the CD and the control groups in the BC (3632 g versus 3695 g) or the YCC (3520 g versus 3734 g), or between the Estonian and Finnish children. There were altogether more girls than boys with CD (19 versus 10, p=0.04). When looking study groups separately, there were more girls than boys with CD in the YCC (15 versus five), but not in the BC (four versus five) (p=0.20). In the CD group, 28 children carried the DR3-DQ2 haplotype (97%) and one child in the YCC carried the DR4-DO8 haplotype. The mean age at initial seroconversion to IgAtTG positivity for the BC was 3.0 (95% CI 2.5-3.6) years in Estonia and 2.3 (95% CI 1.6-2.9) years in Finland (p=0.12). In the YCC, five out of six Estonian children (83%) and eleven out of fourteen Finnish children (79%) showed positive IgA-tTG at their first visit at the age of 3 years. There was no statistically significant difference in mean IgA-tTG level at the time of the diagnosis between the Estonian and Finnish children with CD either in the BC (68.5 EliA U/ml (95% CI 0–608.5) versus 261.2 EliA U/ml (95% CI 0–619.1), p=0.67) or in the YCC (1045.9 EliA U/ml (95% CI 0-2749.9) versus 812.8 EliA U/ml (95% CI 87.8–1537.8), p=0.78). The IgA-tTG level of 18 out of 29 children with CD was more than 10 times as high as the cut-off level for antibody positivity (>100 EliA U/ml). This was seen in 63% of the Estonian and in 62% of the Finnish children with CD.

5.2. Cumulative incidence of coeliac disease (Paper I)

The cumulative incidence of CD in the two countries was not significantly different for the BC or for the YCC during the study period. For the BC, cumulative incidence was 0.12% (95% CI 0.02-0.49) in Estonia and 0.53% (95% CI 0.23-1.13) in Finland (p=0.10) (incidence rate 0.4 cases per 1000 person-years and 1.8 cases per 1000 person-years, respectively), while for the YCC it was

0.4% (95% CI 0.18–1.0) and 1% (95% CI 0.58–1.7) (incidence rate 2.2 cases per 1000 person-years and 5.1 cases per 1000 person-years, respectively), (p=0.12). However, when the cohorts were combined the cumulative incidence of childhood CD was significantly higher in Finland than in Estonia (0.77% versus 0.27%; p=0.01) (incidence rate 1.0 cases per 1000 person-years and 3.1 cases per 1000 person-years, respectively).

5.3. Association of environmental risk factors with coeliac disease (early feeding, infections, antibiotics, vaccinations) (Paper I)

In the BC, information about the duration of breastfeeding in weeks was available for all children, while for the YCC this information (in months) was available for 18 out of the 20 children (Table 3). There was no statistical difference in the total duration of breastfeeding between children with CD and control children of the BC or the YCC (Table 3). Nor was there any significant difference in the duration of exclusive breastfeeding between the groups in the BC. In the BC, the age at which wheat, barley or rye was introduced was not statistically different between the CD and the control groups (Table 4). The mean age when complementary food was introduced was similar in both groups (4.4 months). For the YCC, information about age at the introduction of cereal or complementary food was not collected.

Table 3. Mean duration of breastfeeding for the study subjects (BC – birth cohort, YCC – young children's cohort, CD – coeliac disease, N – number of children with available data).

	N	Mean duration	Minimum and maximum	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
BC CD	9	35.7 weeks	6 96 weeks	13.9–57.4	0.45
BC Control	9	43.7 weeks	1 84 weeks	24.6-62.7	
YCC CD	18	8.5 months	0 24 months	5.7-11.4	0.12
YCC Control	18	11.6 months	2 22 months	8.9–11.4	

Table 4. Mean age (months) of the study subjects in the birth cohort at the time of cereal introduction (N - number of children with available data).

	CD (N)	95% CI	Control (N)	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value
Wheat	6.4 (9)	5.6-7.2	5.8 (8)	4.9–6.7	0.28
Barley	6.3 (8)	5.5-7.2	5.6 (8)	4.8-6.5	0.20
Rye	7.4 (7)	5.8-8.9	5.9 (8)	4.7–7.1	0.10

In the BC, children with CD had significantly more episodes of infections with fever by the age of 12 months compared to controls (3.4 versus 1.4; p=0.04). During the following months these differences remained, but were statistically not significant (Figure 3). In the BC there was no significant difference in the number of episodes of gastroenteritis between the CD and the control groups during the first 3 years of life (1 versus 0.9, p=0.82). No difference was seen in the use of antibiotics between the groups, either.



Figure 3. Mean cumulative number of infection episodes with fever during the study period for the birth control subjects (* – statistically significant difference).

For the YCC, there were no statistical differences in the number of infection episodes with fever (2.2 versus 3.3) or antibiotic therapy (1.1 versus 1.0) between the groups. Data for the first 3 years of life was collected retrospectively. By the age of 3 years children both in the CD group and in the control group had had 3.2 episodes of otitis (p=0.69) and 0.5 and 0.8 episodes of gastroenteritis, respectively (p=0.73).

For the BC and the YCC, all children in both groups were at least partly vaccinated according to the local vaccination schedule, except for one Finnish control child in the BC, and one Finnish child with CD and one Finnish control child in the YCC, who were not vaccinated.

5.4. Laboratory confirmed viral infections (Paper II)

5.4.1 Viruses in stool and nasal swab samples

In the BC, 13/120 (11%) of the serial stool samples from children who developed CD were virus positive, compared to 14/120 (12%) of the stool samples from controls (p=1.0). For the cases, 5/43 (12%) nasal swabs were virus positive compared to none of the 36 for the controls (p=0.06). At least one viral agent was detected in either the stool or nasal swab samples of 7/9 (78%) children in the CD group and in 6/9 (67%) children in the control group (p=1.0). Rhinovirus was the one that was detected most frequently in both stool and nasal swab samples. At the age of 3 and 6 months, 8/33 (24%) samples from children with CD and 7/32 (22%) samples from control children contained some rhinovirus when stool and nasal swab samples were combined. There were 5/18 (28%) rhinovirus positive nasal swabs among the cases, but none among the 16 controls (p=0.05). In stool samples, the respective figures were 3/15 (20%) and 7/16 (44%) (p=0.25). Enterovirus and parechovirus were not detected in any sample (Table 5).
1 - enterovirus, Pa -	Stool samples at the age of 6 mont
e age of 3 and 6 months (Er	Nasal swab samples at the age of 6 months
samples in the birth cohort at the D-coeliac disease).	Stool samples at the age of 3 months
s in stool and nasal swab irus, NoV – norovirus, C	Nasal swab samples at the age
Table 5. Virus test result: parechovirus, Rh – rhinov	

Table 5. Virus parechovirus, F	s test results Rh – rhinovi	in stool rus, No' Na Sampl En	and na V – nor isal sw ; isal sw ; isal sm ;	sal swab ovirus, C ab ne age Rh Rh	samples 2D – coe at tl	s in the b liac dise. Stool sa he age o	irth coho ase). mples f 3 month	t at the Is	age of 3 Nasal s the ag	s and 6 m wab san ge of 6 m	oonths (E nples at nonths	n – enter at 1	ovirus, Stool s the age	Pa – aamples of 6 mon	Rh
Proportion of positive	CD	6/0	0/3	3/9	0/8	0/8	2/8	2/8	6/0	0/4	2/9	<i>L</i> /0	L/0	1/7	1/7
cases	Control	8/0	0/2	0/8	0/8	0/8	1/8	4/8	0/8	0/2	0/8	0/8	0/8	1/8	3/8

5.4.2. Differences in viral antibodies between the coeliac disease and control group

There were no significant differences in the level of viral antibodies or the number of positive cases between the case and control children in the BC or the YCC, or when the two cohorts were combined (Figure 4). When the norovirus, adenovirus and enterovirus IgA positive cases were combined in the BC, the case children had a mean of 1.6 infections and the controls had a mean of 1.2 infections (p=0.55). The mean number of positive tests for IgG antibodies to these viruses was 1.4 and 1.0 (p=0.33), respectively. In the YCC the mean number of positive tests did not differ between the CD and control groups (1.7 versus 1.8 for IgA, p=0.67, and 1.5 versus 1.7 for IgG, p=0.38). There was no difference in the CMV and EBV IgG antibodies between the groups. When the aOR and 95% CI were used none of the measured virus antibodies affected the risk of CD in the BC, in the YCC or in the combined cohort (Table 6). There was no association between the level of virus IgA or IgG antibodies and the level of IgA-tTG (Table 7).

When we only took CD cases into account, where IgA-tTG was higher than 100 U/ml, there were no differences in viral antibodies between the CD and the control groups (data not shown).



Figure 4. Number of positive cases and the median (shown as a dot), minimum (minimum point of the line) and maximum (maximum point of the line) levels of IgA and IgG antibodies in the coeliac disease and control groups (CD – child with coeliac disease).

Norovirus IgA	OR	95%CI	
BC	1.0	0.16 to 6.42	
YCC	0.62	0.16 to 2.43	
BC+YCC	0.74	0.25 to 2.18	
Norovirus IgG			
BC	2.5	0.37 to 16.89	
YCC	0.62	0.16 to 2.43	
BC+YCC	1.0	0.35 to 2.89	
Adenovirus IgA			
BC	4.38	0.56 to 33.95	
YCC	0.81	0.23 to 2.86	
BC+YCC	1.32	0.47 to 3.70	
Adenovirus IgG			
BC	2.5	0.37 to 16.89	
YCC	0.81	0.23 to 2.86	
BC+YCC	1.15	0.41 to 3.23	
Enterovirus IgA			
BC	1.0	0.16 to 6.42	
YCC	1.22	0.35 to 4.24	
BC+YCC	1.15	0.41 to 3.23	
Enterovirus IgG			
BC	1.0	0.14 to 7.1	
YCC	0.52	0.14 to 1.92	
BC+YCC	0.64	0.22 to 1.88	
CMV IgG			
BC	0.25	0.02 to 3.04	
YCC	2.25	0.63 to 7.97	
BC+YCC	1.33	0.47 to 3.79	
EBV IgG			
BC	3.35	0.12 to 93.84	
YCC	1.0	0.18 to 5.67	
BC+YCC	1.39	0.28 to 6.83	

Table 6. The risk of CD in the BC, in the YCC or in the combined cohort.

Table 7. Association between the level of virus IgA or IgG antibodies and the level of IgA-tTG.

	Rho	<i>p</i> -value
IgA-tTG and norovirus IgA	0.13	0.32
IgA-tTG and norovirus IgG	0.04	0.75
IgA-tTG and adenovirus IgA	0.14	0.29
IgA-tTG and adenovirus IgG	0.17	0.2
IgA-tTG and enterovirus IgA	0.03	0.81
IgA-tTG and enterovirus IgG	-0.16	0.22

5.4.3. Differences in viral antibodies between Estonia and Finland

The study included 42 children from Finland and 16 children from Estonia. When the different virus antibodies were compared between the two countries, enterovirus IgG class antibodies were found to be much more frequent in Estonian children (63% versus 23%, p=0.02). A comparable difference was seen in average enterovirus IgG antibody levels (34.5 EIU versus 19.0 EIU, p=0.01) (Figure 5). A similar, but non-significant, trend was also seen in enterovirus IgA antibodies (56% versus 38%, p=0.54 and 61.2 EIU versus 35.3 EIU, p=0.31). The other virus antibodies did not differ between the countries.



Figure 5. Number of positive cases and the median (shown as a dot), minimum (minimum point of the line) and maximum (maximum point of the line) levels of IgA and IgG antibodies between Estonian and Finnish children (* – statistically significant difference in average antibody levels).

5.5. Maternal breast milk microbiota and immune markers (Paper III)

5.5.1. General characterization of breast milk samples

Five children in the CD group were exclusively breastfed, while one child was mostly bottle-fed during the time of breast milk collection. The respective figures for the control group were 15 and 3. One CD patient and his controls were from Estonia, while all others were from Finland. The proportions of boys and girls were equal in the CD and control groups. All offspring were HLA DQ 2.5 positive (two CD patients were HLA DQ 2.5 homozygotes). Each infant was full-term (gestational age 37–42 weeks) and born as a singleton. The mothers of the CD group were younger than the mothers of the control group (26 versus 32.8 years, p=0.002). None of the mothers or fathers of the offspring had CD. The mean age was 2.4 years (range 1.5–3.0 years) at seroconversion to positivity for IgA-tTG in the CD group. The general characteristics of the children of the CD group and the control group are summarized in Table 8.

Characteristics	CD group (n=6)	Control group (n=18)
Sex:		
Male (%)	3 (50%)	9 (50%)
Female (%)	3 (50%)	9 (50%)
Birth weight (g) mean, (range)	3703 (3200–4075)	3661 (2700–4530)
Birth length (cm) mean, (range)	50.8 (48-53.5)	51.3 (48–54.5)*
Offspring HLA status		
HLA DQ 2.5 homozygotes (%)	2 (33%)	4 (22%)
HLA DQ 2.5 (%)	4 (67%)	14 (78%)
Mode of delivery:		
Vaginal (%)	6 (100%)	15 (83%)
Caesarean (%)	0	3 (17%)
Mean maternal age in years at	26	32.8
delivery (range)	(23-30)**	(23-42)**

Table 8. General characteristics of the coeliac disease (CD) group and the control group in breast milk studies (* - data missing for one child; ** p=0.002)

5.5.2. Immune markers in breast milk from mothers of coeliac disease and control offspring

There were no significant differences between TGF- β 1, TGF- β 2, sIgA, MFG-E8 or sCD14 levels in the breast milk from mothers in the CD group and the breast milk from mothers in the control group (Table 9).

Table 9. Immune markers in breast milk from mothers of coeliac disease (CD) and control children (median, quartiles Q1, Q3).

Immune marker	CD group	Control group	p-value
TGF-β1 (pg/ml)	102.3 (15, 229.6)	157.5 (59.73, 270.0)	0.42
TGF-β2 (pg/ml)	1603 (1170, 3516)	1817 (1176, 2463)	0.97
sIgA (mg/ml)	0.69 (0.05, 1.68)	0.80 (0.05, 1.45)	0.82
MFG-E8 (mg/ml)	0.014 (0.009, 0.027)	0.013 (0.008, 0.017)	0.69
sCD14 (pg/ml)	232200 (46940,	323900 (0, 1285000)	0.92
	1118000)		

5.5.3. Microbiome of maternal breast milk

Illumina sequencing of the 16S *r*RNA V4 region was applied to reveal the full microbiome of these investigated samples. A total of 6,475,320 high quality reads were obtained, or $269,805 \pm 239,377$ reads per milk sample. The OTUs were classified into known taxa (7 phyla, 17 classes, 44 genera, and more than 90 species) and unclassified groups.

Phylotype abundance and Shannon 'H' diversity index were significantly higher in milk samples from the mothers of the CD group than in maternal samples of the control group (p=0.016; p=0.008, respectively) (Table 10).

Table 10. Average number (\pm SD) of sequences, phylotype abundance (OTUs) and Shannon 'H' diversity index in the samples analysed in the coeliac disease (CD) and control groups (p=0.016; p=0.008)

Samples	Number of reads	Phylotype abundance (OTUs)	Shannon 'H' index (diversity)
CD group	$334,403 \pm 410,283$	$276.6 \pm 28.6^{*}$	$3.80 \pm 0.41^{**}$
Control group	$248,\!272 \pm 161,\!407$	$219.5 \pm 65.6^{*}$	$2.88 \pm 1.03^{**}$

A PCoA plot based on different taxonomic levels (phylum, class and genus) was generated to assess the relationships between the community structures of these samples. Phylum and class abundance data indicated significant inter-individual variability (Figure S1A and S1B, with Supplementary material of Paper III), while the PCoA plot of relative genus abundance demonstrated weighted clustering in the CD group (Figure S1C, with Supplementary material of Paper III).

Phyla

In both study groups, the phylum *Firmicutes* displayed the highest relative abundance (medians of 48.9% and 60.2% for the CD group and the control group, respectively) (Figure 6, Supplementary Table S2, with Supplementary material of Paper III). In addition, *Proteobacteria* and *Actinobacteria* were also quite abundant (median 29.0% and 9.8% for the CD group vs. 23.6% and 8.1% for the control group). Borderline statistical significance was detected for the relative abundance of *Bacteroidetes* and *Fusobacterium* phyla (p = 0.056 and p = 0.048; Figure 6, Supplementary Table S2, with Supplementary material of Paper III).



Figure 6. Relative abundance (median) of the most frequent phyla of microbial communities in maternal breast milk samples (coeliac disease (CD) group versus control group).

Classes

At the class level, *Bacilli* displayed the highest relative abundance both in the CD group (median 30.9%) and in the control group (median 56.1%), followed by *Gammaproteobacteria* (20.8% and 14.5%), *Actinobacteria* (8.9% and 8%) and *Alphaproteobacteria* (4% and 3.7%) (Figure 7, Supplementary Table S3, with Supplementary material of Paper III). Statistically significant differences were only found for the relative abundance of the classes *Clostridium* (p=0.02) and *Fusobacteriia* (p=0.05) (Figure 7, Supplementary Table S3, with Supplementary material of Paper III).



Figure 7. Relative abundance (median) of the most frequent classes of microbial communities in maternal breast milk samples (coeliac disease (CD) versus control group).

Genera

The most abundant genera of bacteria both in the CD and the control groups was *Lactobacillus* (median 10.3% and 34%, respectively), followed by *Streptococcus* (10.9% and 7.5%), *Staphylococcus* (4.9% and 4.9%), *Buttiauxella* (4.8% and 4.4%), and *Rothia* (2.8% and 2.6%) (Figure 8, Supplementary Table S4, with Supplementary material of Paper III). The prevalence of the genera *Anaerococcus* (p=0.006), *Shpingomonas* (p=0.01), *Actinomyces* (p=0.006), *Leptotrichia* (p=0.005), and *Akkermansia* (p=0.01) were significantly higher in the CD group (Supplementary Table S4, with Supplementary material of *Sphingomonas* (p=0.04) and *Akkermansia* (p=0.05) were significantly higher in the CD group (Figure 8, Supplementary Table S4, with Supplementary Table S4, with Supplementary for the significantly higher in the CD group (Figure 8, Supplementary Table S4, with Supplementary Table S4, with Supplementary for the significantly higher in the CD group (Figure 8, Supplementary Table S4, with Supplementary for the significantly higher in the CD group (Figure 8, Supplementary for the significantly higher in the CD group (Figure 8, Supplementary Table S4, with Supplementary for the significantly higher in the CD group (Figure 8, Supplementary for the significantly higher in the CD group (Figure 8, Supplementary for the significantly higher in the CD group (Figure 8, Supplementary for the significantly higher in the CD group (Figure 8, Supplementary for the significantly higher in the CD group (Figure 8, Supplementary for the significantly higher in the CD group (Figure 8, Supplementary for the significantly higher in the CD group (Figure 8, Supplementary for the significantly higher in the CD group (Figure 8, Supplementary for the significantly higher in the CD group (Figure 8, Supplementary for the significantly higher in the CD group (Figure 8, Supplementary for the significantly higher for the significantly higher in the significantly higher in the significantly higher in the significantly higher in the si



Figure 8. Relative abundance (median) of the most frequent genera of microbial communities in maternal breast milk samples (coeliac disease (CD) versus control group).

Species

The most abundant species in the CD group versus the control group were *Actinomyces odontolyticus* (p=0.03), *Anaerococcus hydrogenalis* (p=0.04), and *A. octavius* (p=0.01) (Supplementary Table S5, with Supplementary material of Paper III). The prevalence of *A. muciniphilia* was also increased in the CD group (p=0.002). It is noteworthy that milk samples from the control group had lower relative abundance of *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* (p=0.049) (Supplementary Table S5, with Supplementary material of Paper III), while unclassified *Leptotrichia* and *Akkermansia* were detected only in the CD group. *Lactobacillus salivarius* (83 and 78%) and *Bifidobacterium animalis* (both 50%) were the most prevalent species among the lactic acid bacteria in both study groups, although their mean counts were less than 1% (Supplementary Table S5, with Supplementary material of Paper III).

A total of nineteen Lactobacillus species (L. plantarum, L. curvatus, L. iners, L. mucosae, L. casei, L. fermentum, L. salivarius, L. reuteri, L. rhamnosus, L. crispatus, L. hominis, L. sakei, L. zeae, L. jensenii, L. senmaizukei, L. paracasei, L. oligofermentas, L. gasseri, and L. acidophilus) (Figure 9B) and four species of Bifidobacterium (B. bifidum, B. animalis, B. adolescentis, and B. longum) were detected by whole genome sequencing (Figure 10B). Additionally, L. johhansonii (Figure 9C) and B. pseudocatenulatum, B. infantis and B. breve were detected using DGGE (Figure 10C, Table S9, with Supplementary material of Paper III).



breast milk samples according to whole genome sequencing (B) and denaturing gradient gel-electrophoresis (C). FHEL, facultative Figure 9. (A) Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) of the lactobacilli communities in the studied samples. The plot demonstrates different clustering of different breast milk specimens (CD group [red] versus control group [blue]). Prevalence (%) of different Lactobacillus sp. in heterofermentative lactobacilli; OHOL, obligate homofermentative lactobacilli; OHEL, obligate heterofermentative lactobacilli. (D) Total counts (log10plasmid gene copies/ml milk) of Lactobacillus sp. in breast milk samples from the CD and control groups by real-time PCR (mean±SD).

The PCoA plot of relative abundance data of *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* species indicated quite different results, with weighted clustering of *Lactobacillus* in the CD group (Figure 9A) and *Bifidobacterium* in the control group (Figure 10A). No differences were found between the groups in quantitative counts for *Lactobacillus* or *Bifidobacterium* (Figure 9D, 10D; Table S9, with Supplementary material of Paper III). Milk samples from the CD group showed borderline significance for the lower relative abundance of *L. fermentum* compared to the control group (p=0.058, Supplementary Table S5, with Supplementary material of Paper III).



Figure 10. (A) Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) of the bifidobacteria communities in the analysed samples. The plot demonstrates clustering of different breast milk specimens (CD group [red] versus control group [blue]). Prevalence (%) of different Biftdobacterium sp. in breast milk samples according to whole genome sequencing (B) and denaturing gradient gel-electrophoresis (C). (D) Total counts (log10plasmid gene copies/ml milk) of Bifidobacterium sp. in breast milk samples from the CD and control groups by real-time PCR (mean±SD).

5.5.4. Associations between breast milk microbiota and immune markers

A. muciniphila showed positive association with TGF-β1 (p=0.04) and TGF-β2 (p=0.007) (Table 11). Higher counts of the genera *Chryseobacterium* (p=0.04) and *Sphingobium* (p=0.01) were seen in milk samples with lower TGF-β2 levels. MFG-E8 correlated positively with bacterial classes *Flavobacteriia* (p=0.03) and *Bacilli* (p=0.05) and inversely with species *B. animalis* (p=0.03). In addition, species *L. reuteri* was positively (p=0.04) and *B. animalis* was inversely (p=0.02) correlated with sCD14 levels (Table 11). All the correlation coefficients are presented in Supplementary Tables S6–S8, with Supplementary material of Paper III.

Bacteria	Immune marker	\mathbf{R}^2	<i>p</i> -value
A. muciniphila (species)	TGF-β1	0.43	0.04
Chryseobacterium (genus)	TGF-β2	-0.42	0.04
Sphingobium (genus)		-0.51	0.01
A. muciniphila (species)		0.54	0.007
Flavobacteriia (class)	MFG-E8	0.45	0.03
Bacilli (class)		0.40	0.05
B. animalis (species)		-0.44	0.03
L. reuteri (species)	sCD14	0.43	0.04
B. animalis (species)		-0.47	0.02

 Table 11. Spearman's rank-order correlations between bacteria present in human milk

 and immune markers.

6. DISCUSSION

6.1. Differences in the cumulative incidence of coeliac disease and antibody positivity between Estonia and Finland (Paper I)

Previous studies have revealed significant unexplained differences in the prevalence of adulthood CD across Europe (Mustalahti *et al.* 2010). Some differences have been detected also in the prevalence of childhood CD between European countries (Kondrashova *et al.* 2008; Myléus *et al.* 2009; Laass *et al.* 2015). In the DIABIMMUNE Study the same strategy for two adjacent countries was used to identify new patients with CD and the obtained results are well comparable. Since the antibody assays for CD screening were performed in a single laboratory, the theoretical likelihood of revealing new cases was equal for both populations. Using this data, we found that the cumulative incidence of CD in children from birth to the age of 5 years was almost three times lower in Estonia than in Finland (0.27% vs 0.77%). A similar difference between Estonia and Finland has also been noted for another immune-mediated disease, T1D (Karvonen *et al.* 2006).

Additionally, the Finnish children of the BC tended to develop positive tTG antibodies earlier compared to their Estonian peers. The IgA-tTG became positive at a mean age of 3.0 years in Estonia and at 2.3 years in Finland. Although no earlier studies have compared CD-associated autoantibodies between Estonia and Finland, it has been found that anti-reticulin autoantibody frequency is lower for Estonian young adults compared to Swedish young adults (Uibo *et al.* 1998). Reticulin antibodies are directed against the reticular fibres of the endomysium, a layer of connective tissue which sheathes smooth muscle fibres (Nandiwada *et al.* 2013). These antibodies are less reliable in diagnosing CD compared to other autoantibodies (Lock *et al.* 1999). It is known that Sweden is a country with an economic and social background similar to that of Finland and thereby until the early 1990s there were also marked differences in the socio-economic background between Estonia and Sweden.

The above findings support the lower prevalence of autoimmunity and autoimmune diseases in Estonia compared to the Nordic countries. The potential reasons for this may be related to different environmental factors, since differences in the risk associated genetic factors between the two populations can hardly explain the difference. The frequency of the major CD risk haplotype was actually slightly higher among the Estonian than among the Finnish population (Nejentsev *et al.* 1998).

6.2. Environmental risk factors of coeliac disease (Paper I)

As the incidence of childhood CD for the two countries and earlier antibody development in Finland cannot be explained with genetics alone, it is evident that several environmental factors must be involved here. Of the greatest interest for us were early feeding and early infections.

The earlier ESPGHAN recommendations and the European Food Safety Authority recommended avoiding gluten introduction to children less than 4 months of age and more than 7 months of age and introducing gluten while the infant is still breastfed (Agostoni et al. 2008, EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies (NDA)). According to the American Academy of Pediatrics, complementary food should be introduced between 4 and 6 months of age (Kleinman, 2009). In the light of recent studies these recommendations have been reviewed (Lionetti et al. 2014; Vriezinga et al. 2014; Szajewska et al. 2015; Szajewska et al. 2016). According to current recommendations in Estonia and Finland, complementary food should be introduced when the infant has reached the age of 6 months, although small tasting portions may be given after the age of 4 months. In our study we did not note any significant difference in the mean age at the time of cereal introduction between the CD and the control groups. Nor was there any difference in the total duration of breastfeeding between children with CD and control children either in the BC or in the YCC. These findings support the data that differences in early feeding may not be an important risk factor in modulating the development of CD.

There are important risk factors that may be associated with differences in cereal consumption and in the quantity and character of ingested gluten or gluten-related prolamines. Unfortunately, we could not calculate exact cereal consumption or evaluate the quantity of gluten consumed by the children of our study population.

Previous epidemiological studies have suggested that neonatal infections and infections during the first years of life may increase the risk of CD (Stene et al. 2006; Myléus et al. 2012). Myléus et al. reported that three or more infectious episodes during the first 6 months increased the risk of CD later in life (Myléus et al. 2012), while the type of infection was irrelevant. Also a more recent prospective large-scale population-based cohort study by Mårild et al. (Mårild et al. 2015) found that early life infections may play a role in development of CD. Our study supports this finding. In the BC there were more infections with fever in the CD group. Like in a study by Myléus et al. (Myléus et al. 2012), in our study the episodes of infections were reported by the parents. In the YCC the number of infections did not differ between children with CD and controls. However, in the YCC the parents were asked to retrospectively report all their children's infections from birth up to the age of 3 years at the initial study centre visit. This approach may be associated with recall bias, as parents might not accurately remember the details of all infections during this period. In the BC, where follow-up visits were conducted with shorter intervals, the parents were asked to report infections in the study diary in real time. In contrast to

Stene *et al.* (Stene *et al.* 2006), we did not find any difference in the frequency of gastroenteritis between the CD and the control groups. So far, the exact molecular mechanisms by which infections increase the risk of CD have not been defined. CD patients could have increased mucosal permeability of not only the intestine but also of the respiratory tract (Robertson *et al.* 1989; Sapone *et al.* 2011). The latter circumstance may increase susceptibility to respiratory tract infections (Mårild *et al.* 2010; Tjernberg & Ludvigsson, 2014). Infections may also imprint on the developing immune system and induce secretion of pro-inflammatory interferons and expression of tissue transglutaminase (Wessels *et al.* 2022).

According to our data, it is not likely that differences in vaccination between the study groups and the two countries would cause differences in autoimmunity.

6.3. Differences in laboratory confirmed viral infections between patients and controls and between two neighbouring countries (Paper II)

To investigate more specifically the role of infections in development of CD, we analysed enterovirus, norovirus, parechovirus and rhinovirus RNA from stool and nasal swab samples. Additionally, norovirus, adenovirus and enterovirus IgA and IgG antibodies were measured in serum. Also IgG antibodies against CMV and EBV were measured in serum.

We found that the overall level and frequency of the gastrointestinal virus (norovirus, adenovirus and enterovirus) antibodies did not differ between the patients and controls. Some previous studies have reported possible relationships between different gastrointestinal infections and CD. Kemppainen et al. found that gastrointestinal infections might increase the risk of CD in genetically susceptible children (Kemppainen et al. 2017). Stene et al. (Stene et al. 2006) reported in their prospective study that rotavirus infections might be involved here. However, we did not add rotavirus to the analyses in this study, since the rotavirus vaccination coverage was very different between the cases and controls and there were very few pairs with the same vaccination status. So far there have been no studies on potential association between norovirus and CD. Some earlier studies showed association between adenovirus type 12 and CD (Lähdeaho et al. 1993), but this was not confirmed in other studies (Lawler et al. 1994). A recent prospective study confirms the finding that adenovirus is not associated with increased risk of CD (Kahrs et al. 2019). Carlsson et al. studied the cord blood of the mothers whose offspring later developed CD, but did not find any association between enterovirus infection during pregnancy and development of CD during childhood (Carlsson et al. 2002). On the other hand, one study reported enterovirus genomes in intestinal biopsies collected from CD patients (Oikarinen et al. 2008). Although our results do not fully support this,

recent studies confirm that enterovirus may be important in development of CD (Kahrs *et al.* 2019, Lindfors *et al.* 2019). According to the Generation R Study, herpesviruses may have a protective effect in development of CD (Jansen *et al.* 2016). We failed to find this association in our study by assessing IgG antibody positivity against CMV and EBV.

However, when we combined seropositivity for at least one of the tested viruses in serum, these tended to be more common in CD patients than in controls, with a mean of 1.6 versus 1.2 infections per child, in the BC. This may even more clearly indicate that several infections early in life can increase the risk of CD, as demonstrated in previous epidemiological studies (Mårild *et al.* 2015; Beyerlein *et al.* 2017).

In nasal swab samples, rhinoviruses were detected slightly more frequently in CD patients than in controls, but this was not the case with stool samples. Rhinoviruses replicate in the respiratory tract at relatively low temperatures, but they are not known to be able to replicate in the intestinal mucosa where temperature is substantially higher. Therefore, respiratory samples are considered to be the most reliable sample type for rhinovirus detection. We cannot exclude the possibility that certain rhinovirus species, such as species C, could also replicate at higher temperatures, such as those present in the intestinal mucosa (Tapparel et al. 2013). Notably, the main rhinovirus receptor intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (Staunton et al. 1989) is also expressed in the intestinal mucosa in CD (Sturgess et al. 1990). Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 is involved in immunological processes such as cellular extravasations and cellular migration during inflammation, as well as in T-cell activation (van De Stolpe et al. 1996). One could hypothesize that rhinovirus infection may increase the expression of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 in the intestinal mucosa and thereby facilitate leukocyte migration towards infection sites, including gliadin sensitized T cells.

Comparison of the Finnish and Estonian children revealed that the latter were more likely to test positive for enterovirus IgG. Importantly, the mean levels of the antibodies were significantly higher in the Estonian cohort than in Finland. This finding was in line with previous studies (Viskari et al. 2004). It has been reported that T1D is more frequent in Finland (Harjutsalo et al. 2013) than in Estonia (Teeäär et al. 2010). Enteroviruses may play a role in the pathogenesis of autoimmune beta-cell destruction in T1D (Yeung et al. 2011). Accordingly, both CD and T1D are more frequent in Finland than Estonia, but enterovirus antibodies are less frequent. The low prevalence of enterovirus infections in Finland may cause deficient immune protection by transferred maternal antibodies in early childhood, which might make Finnish children more susceptible to early enterovirus-induced diseases, as proposed in earlier studies (Viskari et al. 2004). When we considered the relationship between the low prevalence of enterovirus infection and the high prevalence of T1D and CD, we presumed that this may reflect the hygiene hypothesis. This was because in countries where enterovirus infections are frequent, children had strong immune responses to these viruses, and the incidence of T1D and CD was lower

(Bach, 2005). This is consistent with the so-called polio hypothesis reported in a previous study (Viskari *et al.* 2000). Namely, in the case of poliomyelitis, a well-known disease caused by an enterovirus, severe paralytic complications were more common in countries where the circulation of the virus in the background population was less frequent. The basis for this phenomenon was a delay in the age of initial infection; some children were not exposed to polioviruses until later in childhood when they were protected no more by maternal antibodies and were thus more severely affected by the infection (Nathanson *et al.* 1997). There may be similarity in the epidemiology of T1D, poliomyelitis and CD – in countries where enterovirus infections are frequent the incidence of T1D and CD may be lower.

6.4. Maternal breast milk microbiota and immune markers from mothers of coeliac disease and control offspring (Paper III)

It is known that breast milk is a major source of bacterial diversity for the neonatal gut, including gut-associated obligate anaerobes. Therefore, it significantly influences gut colonization and maturation of the immune system (Jost et al. 2013; Olivares et al. 2015). The intestinal microbiota is thought to be involved in the pathogenesis of CD (Verdu et al. 2015). Different genetic and epigenetic factors may affect host microbiome interactions and shift the immune balance in subjects with CD (Cenit et al. 2015). In case of the intestinal microbiome, higher microbial richness and diversity values are considered to be more healthsupporting (Mosca et al. 2016). Regarding breast milk, Benítez-Páez et al. have found that the microbiota of CD samples was more diverse in controls. They found that facultative methylotrophs such as *Methylobacterium komagatae* and Methylocapsa palsarum, as well as species such as Bacteroides vulgatus, which consumes fucosylated-oligosaccharides present in human milk, were more abundant in milk samples from mothers whose children developed CD compared to those that remained healthy (Benítez-Páez et al. 2020). We demonstrated that, compared to milk samples from mothers of unaffected offspring, the human milk microbiota of the mothers of the CD group showed higher phylotype abundance and diversity, with higher abundance of the phyla Bacteroidetes and Fusobacteria, the classes Clostridia and Fusobacteria, as well as the genera Leptotrichia, Anaerococcus, Sphingomonas, Actinomyces, and Akkermansia. Increased relative abundance of species such as A. odontolyticus, A. hydrogenalis, A. octavius, and F. prausnitzii, and decreased abundance of L. fermentum were also noted in the CD group.

Breast milk does not contain abundant culturable microbiota. However, some next generation sequencing studies have detected *Streptococcus*, *Staphylococcus*, *Gemella*, *Veillonella*, *Rothia*, *Lactobacillus*, *Propionibacterium*, *Corynebacterium*, and *Pseudomonas* in milk samples from healthy women (Drell et al. 2017; Williams et al. 2017). In the current study, the most abundant genus in all milk samples was *Lactobacillus*, followed by *Streptococcus*, *Staphylococcus*, *Moraxella*, *Acinetobacter*, *Enterobacter*, and *Corynebacterium*. Some studies have indicated that primary bacterial taxa in milk may vary across the population, suggesting that geographic, genetic, and dietary factors could influence the microbial diversity of breast milk. In Finland, *Leuconostoc*, *Weisella*, and *Lactococcus* were the most predominant genera in milk samples (Cabrera-Rubio et al. 2012), while in Mexican-American mothers the predominance of *Streptococcus*, *Staphylococcus*, *Xanthomonadaceae*, and *Sediminibacterium* was observed (Dave et al. 2016).

In the present study we noted a significantly increased relative abundance of the class *Clostridia* in milk samples from the CD group. We also found differences in the relative abundance of the genus Anaerococcus (incl. A. hydrogenalis, A. octavius) and F. prausnitzii. The presence of A. octavius was reported previously in breast milk samples from healthy Spanish women. In the same study, association was shown between the amount of proteins in milk and Anaerococcus (Boix-Amoròs et al. 2016). F. prausnitzii is the major butyrate producer in the gastrointestinal tract. It has anti-inflammatory properties important for gastrointestinal microbiota homeostasis and is associated with a range of metabolic processes in the human mucosa (Sokol *et al.* 2008). A Spanish study showed that adherence to a gluten-free diet resulted in slight microbiota shifts in adults, including decreased abundance of F. prausnitzii (de Palma et al. 2009). As F. prausnitzii produces the anti-inflammatory short-chain fatty acid butyrate (Lopez-Siles et al. 2012, Ouyang et al. 2020), this species may have a key role in maintaining the integrity and function of the mucus barrier, representing an important aberrant mechanism in development of CD.

We also found that the prevalence of the genus *Akkermansia* was higher in the samples of the CD group. Interestingly, unclassified *Akkermansia* species were only found in that group. A study by Huang *et al.* observed the *Akkermansia* genus only in the control group and not in CD progressors (Huang *et al.* 2020). However, they analysed faecal samples but not breast milk samples. Some experiments on mice have demonstrated that *Akkermansia* may be related to gluten in their diet. A gluten-free diet can induce changes in the intestinal microbiota by increasing the number of *Akkermansia* (Marietta *et al.* 2013; Hansen *et al.* 2014). It can be speculated that this species and development of CD can be related.

An increased relative abundance of the genus *Actinomyces* and of a species of this genus, *A. odontolyticus*, was observed in the CD group. Mucosal membranes of the oropharynx, gastrointestinal tract and female genital tract represent the normal habitat of *Actinomyces* (Smego *et al.* 1998). They have also been observed to associate with breast infection (Edmiston *et al.* 1990; Könönen *et al.* 2015). Although being low in virulence, they may rely on the presence of copathogens, such as anaerobic bacteria, to enhance pathogenicity (Bing *et al.* 2015). Previously, *A. graevenitzii* was identified in biopsy specimens from the

proximal small intestine of children with CD, and an unidentified *Actinomyces* sp. was shown to be attached to the epithelial lining (Ou *et al.* 2009).

For detection of *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium*, we applied two methods, next generation sequencing and PCR-DGGE, since Smidt *et al.*, demonstrated the partial concordance of different molecular methods for detection of lactic acid bacteria (Smidt *et al.* 2015). In our study, PCR-DGGE appeared to be more sensitive for identification of *Bifidobacterium* sp., while more than 80% of *Bifidobacterium* sp. detected by Illumina sequencing were unclassified.

In line with our findings, other studies have also shown presence of Lactobacillus sp. and Bifidobacterium sp. in breast milk (Martin et al. 2003; Olivares et al. 2015). Low relative abundance of L. fermentum was observed in breast milk in the CD group. The expected pathway by which lactobacilli may get into milk is entero-mammary transport through dendritic cells (Lyons et al. 2020). Production of short-chain fatty acids by lactobacilli strains may play a role in the pathogenesis of CD. L. fermentum produces both lactic and succinic acids, which in turn modulate the key functions of many main players in the innate immune response (Blad et al. 2012). They mediate macrophage dependent antiinflammatory effects (Garrote et al. 2015) and possess antioxidative capacities (Mikelsaar et al. 2009). Additionally, it was demonstrated that L. fermentum isolated from breast milk may have an immunostimulatory effect by inducing proinflammatory cytokines in rodent bone marrow derived macrophages (Martin et al. 2003). In vivo assays in mice revealed that the ingestion of L. fermentum enhanced the production of Th1 cytokines by spleen cells and increased IgA concentration in faeces (Diaz-Ropero et al. 2007). Likewise, Lactobacillus strains have high amylase trypsin inhibitor-metabolizing capacity to ameliorate many adverse effects induced by wheat immunogenic proteins (Caminero et al. 2019). Accordingly, one can assume that L. fermentum might protect against development of CD.

There were no significant differences in the levels of the immunological markers (TGF-\u00c61, TGF-\u00b32, MFG-E8, and sCD14) analysed between the CD and control groups. TGF- β belongs to a growth factor family that is responsible for development and maturation of the mucosal immune system (Oddy & Mcmahon, 2011). Vidal *et al.* demonstrated that milk sCD14 acts as a "sentinel" molecule and immune modulator in homeostasis and in the defence of the neonatal intestine (Vidal et al. 2001). MFG-E8 has been shown to have antiviral effects and protects against rotavirus both in a cultured cell model as well as in infants (Newburg et al. 1998; Kvistgaard et al. 2004; Stene et al. 2006). Furthermore, it prevented the tissue damage caused by prolonged inflammation through clearing apoptotic cells and thereby facilitating immune resolution (Hanayama et al. 2002). We observed association between certain immune markers and some Gram-negative (Chryseobacterium, Sphingobium, and A. muciniphila) and Gram-positive bacteria (L. reuteri and B. animalis). Presence of Chryseobacterium and Sphingobacterium correlated inversely with breast milk TGF-β2 levels, while *A. muciniphila* (anaerobic mucin-degrading bacterium) showed positive correlation with both TGF- β 1 and TGF- β 2. In our study, we

also noted that higher counts of *L. reuteri* and lower counts of *B. animalis* in breast milk were associated with higher sCD14 concentrations. The latter bacterial species were also associated with higher concentrations of MFG-E8. Supplementation of maternal breast milk with the probiotic *L. reuteri* increased TGF- β 2 concentration level in breast milk and decreased sensitization in breast-fed infants (Böttcher *et al.* 2008). In addition, *Bacilli* and *Flavobacteriia* classes correlated positively with the concentration of MFG-E8.

6.5. Strengths of the study

The major strengths of our study are the prospective design (with part of data obtained retrospectively), the availability of demographically well characterized children tested for specific HLA haplotypes and CD antibodies, and the fact that both centres in the two countries involved used identical protocols for follow-up and diagnosis. Another strength is the careful matching of the children with CD and the control subjects. In addition, all CD antibody analyses were carried out at one laboratory and in all CD cases the diagnosis was confirmed by a biopsy of the small intestine. In microbiota studies two different methods (next generation sequencing and PCR-DGGE) were applied in parallel for investigating *Lactobacillus* sp. and *Bifidobacteria* sp. in breast milk.

6.6. Limitations of the study

The study has also some limitations. The number of cases is relatively modest, limiting the statistical power of the study. The relatively short follow-up period (up to 3 years in the BC and from 3 to 5 years in the YCC) prevented us detecting all childhood CD cases. Some data (early feeding and early infections in the YCC, information on mothers' infections and fever episodes during pregnancy) was collected retrospectively, which may have affected its quality. In addition, we did not have the possibility to study serial stool and nasal swab samples from each child whom we studied at all time points. The limited number of study samples reflects the problems related to collecting samples from young children. Furthermore, the present study did not cover all possible viruses that could be linked to CD. In breast milk analysis the mothers of the CD group were younger than the mothers of the control group. When interpreting the results this may be important because it is known that maternal age may influence milk composition and its microbiota (Moossavi *et al.* 2019).

7. CONCLUSIONS

- 1. There is a significant difference in the 5-year cumulative incidence of childhood CD between Estonia and Finland, which is higher in the latter country (0.27% versus 0.77%). The children from Finland tended to develop IgAtTG antibodies earlier than the children from Estonia.
- 2. No difference was seen in the age at cereal introduction or in the duration of breastfeeding between the children with CD and the control children. Sequential infections early in life may increase the risk for developing CD.
- 3. We did not find a marked difference in laboratory confirmed common viral infections, namely enterovirus, adenovirus, EBV, CMV, norovirus and parechovirus infections, between the children who developed CD and their matched controls. However, rhinovirus infections were found to be slightly more frequent in the CD patients than in the controls. In addition, our study confirms earlier findings of a significantly higher prevalence of enterovirus infections in Estonian children than in their Finnish peers.
- 4. The breast milk microbiota of the mothers of children who developed CD differed in terms of higher bacterial phylotype abundance and diversity, as well as in relation to bacterial composition when compared to the mothers of the unaffected children. The immunological markers (TGF-β1, TGF-β2, MFG-E8, sCD14) were differently associated with bacterial composition and could also influence the risk of developing CD in later life.

8. FUTURE DIRECTIONS

It is important to continue collecting data about CD incidence and prevalence worldwide and to continue analysing reasons behind the increase. It is critical to find out why some people with genetic risk develop CD and others not. The role of feeding, infections and microbiome before the development of CD should be clarified. All this could help to find preventive strategies in the future.

9. REFERENCES

- Agostoni C, Decsi T, Fewtrell M, Goulet O, Kolacek S, Koletzko B, Michaelsen KF, Moreno L, Puntis J, Rigo J, Shamir R, Szajewska H, Turck D, van Goudoever J; ESPGHAN Committee on Nutrition (2008) Complementary feeding: a commentary by the ESPGHAN Committee on Nutrition. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition* 46: 99–110.
- Akobeng AK, Ramanan AV, Buchan I, Heller RF (2006) Effect of breast feeding on risk of coeliac disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 91: 39–43.
- Alaedini A, Lebwohl B, Wormser GP, Green PH, Ludvigsson JF (2017) Borrelia infection and risk of celiac disease. *BMC Medicine* 15: 169.
- Anderson RP, Henry MJ, Taylor R, Duncan EL, Danoy P, Costa MJ, Addison K, Tye-Din JA, Kotowicz MA, Knight RE, Pollock W, Nicholson GC, Toh BH, Brown MA, Pasco JA (2013) A novel serogenetic approach determines the community prevalence of celiac disease and informs improved diagnostic pathways. *BMC Medicine* 11:188.
- Aronsson CA, Lee HS, Hård Af Segerstad EM, Uusitalo U, Yang J, Koletzko S, Liu E, Kurppa K, Bingley PJ, Toppari J, Ziegler AG, She JX, Hagopian WA, Rewers M, Akolkar B, Krischer JP, Virtanen SM, Norris JM, Agardh D, TEDDY Study Group (2019) Association of gluten intake during the first 5 years of life with incidence of celiac disease autoimmunity and celiac disease among children at increased risk. *JAMA* 322: 514–523.
- Aronsson CA, Lee HS, Liu E, Uusitalo U, Hummel S, Yang J, Hummel M, Rewers M, She JX, Simell O, Toppari J, Ziegler AG, Krischer J, Virtanen SM, Norris JM, Agardh D (2015) Age at gluten introduction and risk of celiac disease. *Pediatrics* 135: 239–245.
- Auricchio R, Cielo D, de Falco R, Galatola M, Bruno V, Malamisura B, Limongelli MG, Troncone R, Greco L (2017) Respiratory infections and the risk of celiac disease. *Pediatrics* 140: e20164102.
- Bach JF (2005) Infections and autoimmune diseases. *Journal of Autoimmunity* 25 Suppl: 74–80.
- Ballard O, Morrow AL (2013) Human milk composition. Nutrients and bioactive factors. *Pediatric Clinics of North America* 60: 49–74.
- Bartosch S, Fite A, Macfarlane GT, McMurdo MET (2004) Characterization of bacterial communities in feces from healthy elderly volunteers and hospitalized elderly patients by using real-time PCR and effects of antibiotic treatment on the fecal microbiota. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 70: 3575–3581.
- Barzilai O, Sherer Y, Ram M, Izhaky D, Anaya JM, Shoenfeld Y (2007) Epstein-Barr virus and cytomegalovirus in autoimmune diseases: are they truly notorious? A preliminary report. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1108: 567–577.
- Benítez-Páez A, Olivares M, Szajewska H, Pieścik-Lech M, Polanco I, Castillejo G, Nuñez M, Ribes-Koninckx C, Korponay-Szabó IR, Koletzko S, Meijer CR, Mearin ML, Sanz Y (2020) Breast-milk microbiota linked to celiac disease development in children: A pilot study from the PreventCD Cohort. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 11: 1335.
- Beyerlein A, Donnachie E, Ziegler AG (2017) Infections in early life and development of celiac disease. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 186: 1277–1280.

- Bezirtzoglou E, Tsiotsias A, Welling GW (2011) Microbiota profile in feces of breastand formula-fed newborns by using fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH). *Anaerobe* 17: 478–482.
- Biesiekierski JR (2017) What is gluten? Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology (Australia) 32 Suppl 1: 78–81.
- Bing AU, Loh SF, Morris T, Hughes H, Dixon JM, Helgason KO (2015) Actinomyces species isolated from breast infections. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 53: 3247– 3255.
- Bingley PJ, Williams AJK, Norcross AJ, Unsworth DJ, Lock RJ, Ness AR, Jones RW (2004) Undiagnosed coeliac disease at age seven: Population based prospective birth cohort study. *British Medical Journal* 328: 322–323.
- Blad CC, Tang C, Offermanns S (2012) G protein-coupled receptors for energy metabolites as new therapeutic targets. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery* 11: 603–619.
- Boix-Amorós A, Collado MC, Mira A (2016) Relationship between milk microbiota, bacterial load, macronutrients, and human cells during lactation. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 7: 492.
- Bodd M, Kim C, Lundin KEA, Sollid LM (2012) T-cell response to gluten in patients with HLA-DQ2.2 reveals requirement of peptide-MHC stability in celiac disease. *Gastroenterology* 142: 552–561.
- Böttcher MF, Abrahamsson TR, Fredriksson M, Jakobsson T, Björkstén B (2008) Low breast milk TGF-β2 is induced by Lactobacillus reuteri supplementation and associates with reduced risk of sensitization during infancy. *Pediatric Allergy and Immunology* 19: 497–504.
- Bouziat R, Hinterleitner R, Brown J, Stencel-Baerenwald J, Ikizler M, Mayassi T, Meisel M, Kim S, Discepolo V, Pruijssers A, Ernest J, Iskarpatyoti J, Costes L, Lawrence I, Palanski B, Varma M, Zurenski M, Khomandiak S, McAllister N, Aravamudhan P, Boehme K, Hu F, Samsom J, Reinecker H, Kupfer S, Guandalini S, Semrad C, Abadie V, Khosla C, Barreiro L, Xavier R, Ng A, Dermody T, Jabri B (2017) Reovirus infection triggers inflammatory responses to dietary antigens and development of celiac disease. *Science* 356: 44–50.
- Cabrera-Rubio R, Collado MC, Laitinen K, Salminen S, Isolauri E, Mira A (2012) The human milk microbiome changes over lactation and is shaped by maternal weight and mode of delivery. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 96: 544–551.
- Caio G, Riegler G, Patt Urelli M, Facchiano A, de Magistris L, Sapone A (2017) Pathophysiology of non-celiac gluten sensitivity: Where are we now? *Minerva Gastroenterologica e Dietologica* 63: 16–21.
- Caio G, Volta U, Sapone A, Leffler DA, De Giorgio R, Catassi C, Fasano A (2019) Celiac disease: a comprehensive current review. *BMC Medicine* 17: 142.
- Caminero A, McCarville JL, Zevallos VF, Pigrau M, Yu XB, Jury J, Galipeau HJ, Clarizio AV, Casqueiro J, Murray JA, Collins SM, Alaedini A, Bercik P, Schuppan D, Verdu EF (2019) Lactobacilli degrade wheat amylase trypsin inhibitors to reduce intestinal dysfunction induced by immunogenic wheat proteins. *Gastroenterology* 156: 2266–2280.
- Canova C, Zabeo V, Pitter G, Romor P, Baldovin T, Zanotti R, Simonato L (2014) Association of maternal education, early infections, and antibiotic use with celiac disease: A population-based birth cohort study in northeastern Italy. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 180: 76–85.

- Carlsson AK, Lindberg BA, Bredberg ACA, Hyöty H, Ivarsson SA (2002) Enterovirus infection during pregnancy is not a risk factor for celiac disease in the offspring. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition* 35: 649–652.
- Cenit MC, Olivares M, Codoñer-Franch P, Sanz Y (2015) Intestinal microbiota and celiac disease: Cause, consequence or co-evolution? *Nutrients* 7: 6900–6923.
- Chorzelski TP, Sulej J, Tchorzewska H, Jablonska S, Beutner EH, Kumar V (1983) IgA class endomysium antibodies in dermatitis herpetiformis and coeliac disease. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 420: 325–334.
- Choung RS, Larson SA, Khaleghi S, Rubio-Tapia A, Ovsyannikova IG, King KS, Larson JJ, Lahr BD, Poland GA, Camilleri MJ, Murray JA (2017) Prevalence and morbidity of undiagnosed celiac disease from a community-based study. *Gastroenterology* 152: 830–839.
- Collado MC, Donat E, Ribes-Koninckx C, Calabuig M, Sanz Y (2009) Specific duodenal and faecal bacterial groups associated with paediatric coeliac disease. *Journal* of Clinical Pathology 62: 264–269.
- Davé V, Street K, Francis S, Bradman A, Riley L, Eskenazi B, Holland N (2016) Bacterial microbiome of breast milk and child saliva from low-income Mexican-American women and children. *Pediatric Research* 79: 846–854.
- de Palma G, Capilla A, Nova E, Castillejo G, Varea V, Pozo T, Garrote JA, Polanco I, López A, Ribes-Koninckx C, Marcos A, García-Novo MD, Calvo C, Ortigosa L, Peña-Quintana L, Palau F, Sanz Y (2012) Influence of milk-feeding type and genetic risk of developing coeliac disease on intestinal microbiota of infants: The PROFICEL study. *PLoS ONE* 7: e30791.
- de Palma G, Nadal I, Collado MC, Sanz Y (2009) Effects of a gluten-free diet on gut microbiota and immune function in healthy adult human subjects. *British Journal of Nutrition* 102: 1154–1160.
- di Cagno R, de Angelis M, de Pasquale I, Ndagijimana M, Vernocchi P, Ricciuti P, Gagliardi F, Laghi L, Crecchio C, Guerzoni M, Gobbetti M, Francavilla R (2011) Duodenal and faecal microbiota of celiac children: Molecular, phenotype and metabolome characterization. *BMC Microbiology* 11: 219.
- Díaz-Ropero MP, Martín R, Sierra S, Lara-Villoslada F, Rodríguez JM, Xaus J, Olivares M (2007) Two Lactobacillus strains, isolated from breast milk, differently modulate the immune response. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* 102: 337–343.
- Dieli-Crimi R, Cénit MC, Núñez C (2015) The genetics of celiac disease: A comprehensive review of clinical implications. *Journal of Autoimmunity* 64: 26–41.
- Dieterich W, Ehnis T, Bauer M, Donner P, Volta U, Riecken EO, Schuppan D (1997). Identification of tissue transglutaminase as the autoantigen of celiac disease. *Nature Medicine* 3: 797–801.
- Drell T, Štšepetova J, Simm J, Rull K, Aleksejeva A, Antson A, Tillmann V, Metsis M, Sepp E, Salumets A, Mändar R (2017) The influence of different maternal microbial communities on the development of infant gut and oral microbiota. *Scientific Reports* 7: 9940.
- Duong QA, Pittet LF, Curtis N, Zimmermann P (2022) Antibiotic exposure and adverse long-term health outcomes in children: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Infection* 85: 213–300.
- Dydensborg Sander S, Nybo Andersen AM, Murray JA, Karlstad Ø, Husby S, Størdal K (2019) Association between antibiotics in the first year of life and celiac disease. *Gastroenterology* 156: 2217–2229.

- Edmiston CE, Walker AP, Krepel CJ, Gohr C (1990) The nonpuerperal breast Infection: Aerobic and anaerobic microbial recovery from acute and chronic disease. *Journal* of *Infectious Diseases* 162: 695–699.
- Fallang LE, Bergseng E, Hotta K, Berg-Larsen A, Kim CY, Sollid LM (2009) Differences in the risk of celiac disease associated with HLA-DQ2.5 or HLA-DQ2.2 are related to sustained gluten antigen presentation. *Nature Immunology* 10: 1096–1101.
- Fälth-Magnusson K, Franzén L, Jansson G, Laurin P, Stenhammar L (1996) Infant feeding history shows distinct differences between Swedish celiac and reference children. *Pediatric Allergy and Immunology* 7: 1–5.
- Fasano A, Catassi C (2012) Clinical practice. Celiac disease. *New England Journal of Medicine* 367: 2419–2426.
- Fewtrell M, Bronsky J, Campoy C, Domellöf M, Embleton N, Fidler Mis N, Hojsak I, Hulst JM, Indrio F, Lapillonne A, Molgaard C (2017) Complementary Feeding: A Position Paper by the European Society for Paediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition (ESPGHAN) Committee on Nutrition. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition* 64: 119–132.
- Garrote GL, Abraham AG, Rumbo M (2015) Is lactate an undervalued functional component of fermented food products? *Frontiers in Microbiology* 6:629.
- Giersiepen K, Lelgemann M, Stuhldreher N, Ronfani L, Husby S, Koletzko S, Korponay-Szabó IR (2012) Accuracy of diagnostic antibody tests for coeliac disease in children: Summary of an evidence report. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition* 54: 229–241.
- Greco L, Romino R, Coto I, di Cosmo N, Percopo S, Maglio M, Paparo F, Gasperi V, Limongelli MG, Cotichini R, D'Agate C, Tinto N, Sacchetti L, Tosi R, Stazi MA (2002) The first large population based twin study of coeliac disease. *Gut* 50: 624– 628.
- Green PHR, Jabri B (2003) Coeliac disease. Lancet 362: 383-391.
- Hadithi M, von Blomberg BME, Crusius JBA, Bloemena E, Kostense PJ, Meijer JWR, Mulder CJJ, Stehouwer CDA, Peña AS (2007). Accuracy of serologic tests and HLA-DQ typing for diagnosing celiac disease. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 147: 294–302.
- Hanayama R, Tanaka M, Miwa K, Shinohara A, Iwamatsu A, Nagata S (2002) Identification of a factor that links apoptotic cells to phagocytes. *Nature* 417: 182–187.
- Hansen CHF, Krych Ł, Buschard K, Metzdorff SB, Nellemann C, Hansen LH, Nielsen DS, Frøkiær H, Skov S, Hansen AK (2014) A maternal gluten-free diet reduces inflammation and diabetes incidence in the offspring of NOD Mice. *Diabetes* 63: 2821–2832.
- Harjutsalo V, Sund R, Knip M, Groop PH (2013) Incidence of type 1 diabetes in Finland. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 310: 427–428.
- Hermann R, Turpeinen H, Laine AP, Veijola R, Knip M, Simell O, Sipilä I, Åkerblom HK, Ilonen J (2003) HLA DR-DQ-encoded genetic determinants of childhood-onset type 1 diabetes in Finland: An analysis of 622 nuclear families. *Tissue Antigens* 62: 162–169.
- Hin H, Bird G, Fisher P, Mahy N, Jewell D (1999). Coeliac disease in primary care: case finding study. *British Medical Journal* 318: 164–167.
- Hoerter NA, Shannahan SE, Suarez J, Lewis SK, Green PHR, Leffler DA, Lebwohl B (2017) Diagnostic yield of isolated deamidated gliadin peptide antibody elevation for celiac disease. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences* 62: 1272–1276.

- Hopper AD, Hadjivassiliou M, Hurlstone DP, Lobo AJ, McAlindon ME, Egner W, Wild G, Sanders DS (2008) What is the role of serologic testing in celiac disease? A prospective, biopsy-confirmed study with economic analysis. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 6: 314–320.
- Huang Q, Yang Y, Tolstikov V, Kiebish MA, Ludvigsson JF, Palm NW, Ludvigsson J, Altindis E (2020) Children developing celiac disease have a distinct and proinflammatory gut microbiota in the first 5 years of life. *BioRxiv*.
- Husby S, Koletzko S, Korponay-Szabó I, Kurppa K, Mearin ML, Ribes-Koninckx C, Shamir R, Troncone R, Auricchio R, Castillejo G, Christensen R, Dolinsek J, Gillett P, Hróbjartsson A, Koltai T, Maki M, Nielsen SM, Popp A, Størdal K, Werkstetter K, Wessels M (2020) European Society Paediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition Guidelines for Diagnosing Coeliac Disease 2020. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition* 70: 141–156.
- Husby S, Koletzko S, Korponay-Szabó IR, Mearin ML, Phillips A, Shamir R, Troncone R, Giersiepen K, Branski D, Catassi C, Lelgeman M, Mäki M, Ribes-Koninckx C, Ventura A, Zimmer KP, ESPGHAN Working Group on Coeliac Disease Diagnosis; ESPGHAN Gastroenterology Committee; European Society for Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition (2012) European Society for Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition guidelines for the diagnosis of coeliac disease. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition* 54: 136–160.
- Hyoty H, Hiltunen M, Knip M, Laakkonen M, Vahasalo P, Karjalainen J, Koskela P, Roivainen M, Leinikki P, Hovi T, Åkerblom HK (1995) A prospective study of the role of coxsackie B and other enterovirus infections in the pathogenesis of IDDM. Childhood Diabetes in Finland (DiMe) Study Group. *Diabetes* 44: 652–657.
- Ip S, Chung M, Raman G, Chew P, Magula N, DeVine D, Trikalinos T, Lau J (2007) Breastfeeding and maternal and infant health outcomes in developed countries. *Evidence report/technology assessment* 153: 1–186.
- Ivarsson A, Hernell O, Stenlund H, Persson LÅ (2002) Breast-feeding protects against celiac disease. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 75: 914–921.
- Ivarsson A, Myléus A, Norström F, van der Pals M, Rosén A, Högberg L, Danielsson L, Halvarsson B, Hammarroth S, Hernell O, Karlsson E, Stenhammar L, Webb C, Sandström O, Carlsson A (2013) Prevalence of childhood celiac disease and changes in infant feeding. *Pediatrics* 131: e687–694.
- Ivarsson A, Persson LA, Nyström L, Ascher H, Cavell B, Danielsson L, Dannaeus A, Lindberg T, Lindquist B, Stenhammar L, Hernell O (2000) Epidemic of coeliac disease in Swedish children. *Acta Paediatrica* 89: 165–171.
- Jansen MAE, Tromp I IM, Kiefte-De Jong JC, Jaddoe VWV, Hofman A, Escher JC, Hooijkaas H, Moll HA (2014) Infant feeding and anti-tissue transglutaminase antibody concentrations in the Generation R Study. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 100:11095–1101.
- Jansen MAE, van den Heuvel D, van der Zwet K, Jaddoe V, Hofman A, Escher J, Fraaij P, Hooijkaas H, van Zelm M, Moll H (2016) Herpesvirus infections and transglutaminase type 2 antibody positivity in childhood: The Generation R Study. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition* 63: 423–430.
- Jiang H, Zhang X, Zhou Y, Jiang C, Shi Y (2019) Infection, antibiotic exposure and risk of celiac disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 35: 557–566.

- Jost T, Lacroix C, Braegger C, Chassard C (2013) Assessment of bacterial diversity in breast milk using culture-dependent and culture-independent approaches. *British Journal of Nutrition* 110: 1253–1262.
- Kahrs C, Chuda K, Tapia G, Stene L, Mårild K, Rasmussen T, Rønningen K, Lundin K, Kramna L, Cinek O, Størdal K (2019) Enterovirus as trigger of coeliac disease: nested case-control study within prospective birth cohort. *British Medical Journal* 364: 1231.
- Kagnoff MF (1992) Celiac disease. A gastrointestinal disease with environmental, genetic, and immunologic components. *Gastroenterology Clinics of North America* 21: 405– 425.
- Kagnoff MF, Paterson YJ, Kumar PJ, Kasarda DD, Carbone FR, Unsworth DJ, Austin RK (1987) Evidence for the role of a human intestinal adenovirus in the pathogenesis of coeliac disease. *Gut* 28: 995–1001.
- Kapikian AZ (2001) A rotavirus vaccine for prevention of severe diarrhoea of infants and young children: development, utilization and withdrawal. *Novartis Foundation Symposium* 238: 153–171.
- Kang JY, Kang AHY, Green A, Gwee KA, Ho KY (2013) Systematic review: worldwide variation in the frequency of coeliac disease and changes over time. *Alimentary Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 38: 226–245.
- Karell K, Louka AS, Moodie SJ, Ascher H, Clot F, Greco L, Ciclitira PJ, Sollid LM, Partanen J (2003) HLA types in celiac disease patients not carrying the DQA1 *05-DQB1 *02 (DQ2) heterodimer: Results from the European genetics cluster on celiac disease. *Human Immunology* 64: 469–477.
- Karvonen M (2006) Incidence and trends of childhood Type 1 diabetes worldwide 1990–1999. *Diabetic Medicine* 23: 857–866.
- Kaur A, Shimoni O, Wallach M (2017) Celiac disease: from etiological factors to evolving diagnostic approaches. *Journal of Gastroenterology* 52: 1001–1012.
- Kelly CP, Bai JC, Liu E, Leffler DA (2015) Advances in diagnosis and management of celiac disease. *Gastroenterology* 148: 1175–1186.
- Kemppainen KM, Lynch KF, Liu E, Lönnrot M, Simell V, Briese T, Koletzko S, Hagopian W, Rewers M, She JX, Simell O, Toppari J, Ziegler AG, Akolkar B, Krischer JP, Lernmark Å, Hyöty H, Triplett EW, Agardh D (2017) Factors that increase risk of celiac disease autoimmunity after a gastrointestinal infection in early life. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 15: 694–702.e5.
- Kemppainen KM, Vehik K, Lynch KF, Larsson HE, Canepa RJ, Simell V, Koletzko S, Liu E, Simell OG, Toppari J, Ziegler AG, Rewers MJ, Lernmark Å, Hagopian WA, She JX, Akolkar B, Schatz DA, Atkinson MA, Blaser MJ, Krischer JP, Hyöty H, Agardh D, Triplett EW; Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY) Study Group (2017) Association between early-life antibiotic use and the risk of islet or celiac disease autoimmunity. *JAMA Pediatrics* 171: 1217–1225.
- King J, Jeong J, Underwood F, Quan J, Panaccione N, Windsor J, Coward S, Debruyn J, Ronksley P, Shaheen A, Quan H, Godley J, Veldhuyzen Van Zanten S, Lebwohl B, Ng S, Ludvigsson J, Kaplan G (2020) Incidence of celiac disease is increasing over time: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Gastroenterology* 115: 507–525.
- Kleinman RE (ed.) (2009) American Academy of Pediatrics. Pediatric Nutrition Handbook. 6th ed. Elk Grove Village, IL: American Academy of Pediatrics.
- Kondrashova A, Mustalahti K, Kaukinen K, Viskari H, Volodicheva V, Haapala AM, Ilonen J, Knip M, Mäki M, Hyöty H, Epivir Study Group (2008). Lower economic

status and inferior hygienic environment may protect against celiac disease. *Annals of Medicine* 40: 223–231.

- Koning F, Schuppan D, Cerf-Bensussan N, Sollid LM (2005) Pathomechanisms in celiac disease. *Best Practice and Research: Clinical Gastroenterology* 19: 373–387.
- Könönen E, Wade WG (2015) Actinomyces and related organisms in human infections. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* 28: 419–442.
- Krogvold L, Edwin B, Buanes T, Frisk G, Skog O, Anagandula M, Korsgren O, Undlien D, Eike MC, Richardson SJ, Leete P, Morgan NG, Oikarinen S, Oikarinen M, Laiho JE, Hyöty H, Ludvigsson J, Hanssen KF, Dahl-Jørgensen K (2015) Detection of a low-grade enteroviral infection in the islets of langerhans of living patients newly diagnosed with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes* 64: 1682–1687.
- Kvistgaard AS, Pallesen LT, Arias CF, López S, Petersen TE, Heegaard CW, Rasmussen JT (2004) Inhibitory effects of human and bovine milk constituents on rotavirus infections. *Journal of Dairy Science* 87: 4088–4096.
- Laass MW, Schmitz R, Uhlig HH, Zimmer KP, Thamm M, Koletzko S (2015) The prevalence of celiac disease in children and adolescents in Germany. *Deutsches Ärzteblatt International* 112: 553–560.
- Lähdeaho ML, Parkkonen P, Reunala T, Mäki M, Lehtinen M (1993) Antibodies to E1b protein-derived peptides:of enteric adenovirus type 40 are associated with celiac disease and dermatitis herpetiformis. *Clinical Immunology and Immunopathology* 69: 300–305.
- Lawler M, Humphries P, O'Farrelly C, Hoey H, Sheils O, Jeffers M, O'Briain DS, Kelleher D (1994) Adenovirus 12 E1A gene detection by polymerase chain reaction in both the normal and celiac duodenum. *Gut* 35: 1226–1232.
- Lebwohl B, Blaser M, Ludvigsson J, Green P, Rundle A, Sonnenberg A, Genta R (2013) Decreased risk of celiac disease in patients with Helicobacter pylori colonization. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 178: 1721–1730.
- Leonard MM, Serena G, Sturgeon C, Fasano A (2015) Genetics and celiac disease: The importance of screening. *Expert Review of Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 9: 209–215.
- Lewis NR, Scott BB (2006) Systematic review: The use of serology to exclude or diagnose coeliac disease (a comparison of the endomysial and tissue transglutaminase antibody tests). *Alimentary Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 24: 47–54.
- Lewy H, Meirson H, Laron Z (2009) Seasonality of birth month of children with celiac disease differs from that in the general population and between sexes and is linked to family history and environmental factors. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition* 48: 181–185.
- Lindfors K, Lin J, Lee HS, Hyöty H, Nykter M, Kurppa K, Liu E, Koletzko S, Rewers M, Hagopian W, Toppari J, Ziegler AG, Akolkar B, Krischer JP, Petrosino JF, Lloyd RE, Agardh D, TEDDY Study Group (2019) Metagenomics of the faecal virome indicate a cumulative effect of enterovirus and gluten amount on the risk of coeliac disease autoimmunity in genetically at risk children: the TEDDY study. *Gut* 69: 1416–1422.
- Lionetti E, Castellaneta S, Francavilla R, Pulvirenti A, Tonutti E, Amarri S, Barbato M, Barbera C, Barera G, Bellantoni A, Castellano E, Guariso G, Limongelli MG, Pellegrino S, Polloni C, Ughi C, Zuin G, Fasano A, Catassi C, SIGENP (Italian Society of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition) Working Group on Weaning and CD Risk (2014) Introduction of gluten, HLA status, and the risk of celiac disease in children. *New England Journal of Medicine* 371: 1295–1303.

- Lock RJ, Gilmour JEM, Unsworth DJ (1999) Anti-tissue transglutaminase, anti-endomysium and anti-R1-reticulin autoantibodies - the antibody trinity of coeliac disease. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology* 116: 258–262.
- Logan K, Perkin MR, Marrs T, Radulovic S, Craven J, Flohr C, Bahnson HT, Lack G (2020) Early GlutenIntroduction and Celiac Disease in the EAT Study. *JAMA Pediatrics* 174: 1041–1047.
- Lohi S, Mustalahti K, Kaukinen K, Laurila K, Collin P, Rissanen H, Lohi O, Bravi E, Gasparin M, Reunanen A, Mäki M (2007) Increasing prevalence of coeliac disease over time. *Alimentary Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 26: 1217–1225.
- Lönnrot M, Korpela K, Knip M, Ilonen J, Simell O, Korhonen S, Savola K, Muona P, Simell T, Koskela P, Hyoty H (2000) Enterovirus infections as a risk factor for βcell autoimmunity in a prospectively observed birth cohort: The Finnish Diabetes Prediction and Prevention Study. *Diabetes* 49: 1314–1318.
- Lopez-Siles M, Khan TM, Duncan SH, Harmsen HJM, Garcia-Gil LJ, Flint HJ (2012) Cultured representatives of two major phylogroups of human colonic Faecalibacterium prausnitzii can utilize pectin, uronic acids, and host-derived substrates for growth. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 78: 420–428.
- Ludvigsson JF, Lebwohl B (2019) Three papers indicate that amount of gluten play a role for celiac disease But only a minor role. *Acta Paediatrica, International Journal of Paediatrics* 109: 8–10.
- Ludvigsson JF, Rubio-Tapia A, van Dyke CT, Melton LJ, Zinsmeister AR, Lahr BD, Murray JA (2013) Increasing incidence of celiac disease in a north American Population. *American Journal of Gastroenterology* 108: 818–824.
- Lund-Blix N, Mårild K, Tapia G, Norris J, Stene L, Størdal K (2019) Gluten intake in early childhood and risk of celiac disease in childhood: A Nationwide Cohort Study. *American Journal of Gastroenterology* 114: 1299–1306.
- Lundin KEA, Scott H, Hansen T, Paulsen G, Halstensen TS, Fausa O, Thorsby E, Sollid LM (1993) Gliadin-specific, HLA-DQ (α1*0501, β1*0201) restricted t cells isolated from the small intestinal mucosa of celiac disease patients. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 178: 187–196.
- Lundin KEA, Wijmenga C (2015) Coeliac disease and autoimmune disease Genetic overlap and screening. *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 12: 507– 515.
- Lyons KE, Ryan CA, Dempsey EM, Ross RP, Stanton C (2020) Breast milk, a source of beneficial microbes and associated benefits for infant health. Nutrients 12: 1039.
- Mahon J, Blair GE, Wood GM, Scott BB, Losowsky MS, Howdle PD (1991) Is persistent adenovirus 12 infection involved in coeliac disease? A search for viral DNA using the polymerase chain reaction. *Gut* 32: 1114–1116.
- Makharia GK, Chauhan A, Singh P, Ahuja V (2022) Review article: Epidemiology of coeliac disease. *Alimentary Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 56 Suppl 1: S3-S17.
- Marietta EV, Gomez AM, Yeoman C, Tilahun AY, Clark CR, Luckey DH, Murray JA, White BA, Kudva YC, Rajagopalan G (2013) Low incidence of spontaneous type 1 diabetes in non-obese diabetic mice raised on gluten-free diets is associated with changes in the intestinal microbiome. *PLoS ONE* 8: e78687.
- Mårild K, Dong F, Lund-Blix N, Seifert J, Barón A, Waugh K, Taki I, Størdal K, Tapia G, Stene L, Johnson R, Liu E, Rewers M, Norris J (2019) Gluten intake and risk of celiac disease: long-term follow-up of an at-risk birth cohort. *American Journal of Gastroenterology* 114: 1307–1314.

- Mårild K, Fredlund H, Ludvigsson JF (2010) Increased risk of hospital admission for influenza in patients with celiac disease: A nationwide cohort study in Sweden. *American Journal of Gastroenterology* 105: 2465–2473.
- Mårild K, Kahrs CR, Tapia G, Stene LC, Størdal K (2015) Infections and risk of celiac disease in childhood: a prospective nationwide cohort study. *American Journal of Gastroenterology* 110: 1475–1484.
- Mårild K, Kahrs CR, Tapia G, Stene LC, Størdal K (2017) Maternal infections, antibiotics, and paracetamol in pregnancy and offspring celiac disease: A Cohort Study. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition* 64: 730–736.
- Mårild K, Ludvigsson J, Sanz Y, Ludvigsson JF (2014) Antibiotic exposure in pregnancy and risk of coeliac disease in offspring: A cohort study. *BMC Gastroenterology* 14: 75.
- Mårild K, Stephansson O, Montgomery S, Murray JA, Ludvigsson JF (2012) Pregnancy outcome and risk of celiac disease in offspring: A nationwide case-control study. *Gastroenterology* 142: 39–45.e3.
- Mårild K, Ye W, Lebwohl B, Green PHR, Blaser MJ, Card T, Ludvigsson JF (2013) Antibiotic exposure and the development of coeliac disease: A nationwide casecontrol study. *BMC Gastroenterology* 13: 109.
- Marsh MN (1992). Gluten, major histocompatibility complex, and the small intestine. A molecular and immunobiologic approach to the spectrum of gluten sensitivity ('celiac sprue'). *Gastroenterology* 102: 330–354.
- Marsh MN, Villanacci V, Srivastava A (2015) Histology of gluten related disorders. *Gastroenterology and Hepatology from Bed to Bench* 8: 171–177.
- Martín R, Langa S, Reviriego C, Jiménez E, Marín ML, Xaus J, Fernández L, Rodríguez JM (2003). Human milk is a source of lactic acid bacteria for the infant gut. *Journal of Pediatrics* 143: 754–758.
- Matysiak-Budnik T, Moura IC, Arcos-Fajardo M, Lebreton C, Ménard S, Candalh C, Ben-Khalifa K, Dugave C, Tamouza H, van Niel G, Bouhnik Y, Lamarque D, Chaussade S, Malamut G, Cellier C, Cerf-Bensussan N, Monteiro RC, Heyman M (2008) Secretory IgA mediates retrotranscytosis of intact gliadin peptides via the transferrin receptor in celiac disease. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 205: 143– 154.
- Mikelsaar M, Zilmer M (2009) Lactobacillus fermentum ME-3 An antimicrobial and antioxidative probiotic. *Microbial Ecology in Health and Disease* 21: 1–27.
- Mosca A, Leclerc M, Hugot JP (2016) Gut microbiota diversity and human diseases: Should we reintroduce key predators in our ecosystem? *Frontiers in Microbiology* 7: 455.
- Moossavi S, Sepehri S, Robertson B, Bode L, Goruk S, Field CJ, Lix LM, de Souza RJ, Becker AB, Mandhane PJ, Turvey SE, Subbarao P, Moraes TJ, Lefebvre DL, Sears MR, Khafipour E, Azad MB (2019) Composition and variation of the human milk microbiota are influenced by maternal and early-life factors. *Cell Host and Microbe* 25: 324–335.e4.
- Mustalahti K, Catassi C, Reunanen A, Fabiani E, Heier M, McMillan S, Murray L, Metzger MH, Gasparin M, Bravi E, Mäki, M (2010). The prevalence of celiac disease in Europe: Results of a centralized, international mass screening project. *Annals of Medicine* 42: 587–595.
- Myléus A, Ivarsson A, Webb C, Danielsson L, Hernell O, Högberg L, Karlsson E, Lagerqvist C, Norström F, Rosén A, Sandström O, Stenhammar L, Stenlund H, Wall

S, Carlsson A (2009). Celiac disease revealed in 3% of Swedish 12-year-olds born during an epidemic. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr* 49: 170–176.

- Myléus A, Hernell O, Gothefors L, Hammarström ML, Persson LÅ, Stenlund H, Ivarsson A (2012) Early infections are associated with increased risk for celiac disease: An incident case-referent study. *BMC Pediatrics* 12: 194.
- Nandiwada SL, Tebo AE (2013) Testing for antireticulin antibodies in patients with celiac disease is obsolete: A review of recommendations for serologic screening and the literature. *Clinical and Vaccine Immunology* 20: 447–451.
- Nathanson N, Murphy FA (1997) Evolution of viral diseases. *Viral Pathogenesis* 1st ed: 353–369.
- Nejentsev S, Koskinen S, Sjöroos M, Reijonen H, Schwartz EI, Kovalchuk L, Sochnev A, Adojaan B, Podar T, Knip M, Simell O, Koskenvuo M, Åkerblom HK, Ilonen J (1998) Distribution of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (IDDM)-related HLA alleles correlates with the difference in IDDM incidence in four populations of the Eastern Baltic region. *Tissue Antigens* 52: 473–477.
- Newburg DS, Peterson JA, Ruiz-Palacios GM, Matson DO, Morrow AL, Shults J, de Lourdes Guerrero, M, Chaturvedi P, Newburg SO, Scallan CD, Taylor MR, Ceriani RL, Pickering LK (1998) Role of human-milk lactadherin in protection against symptomatic rotavirus infection. *Lancet* 351: 1160–1164.
- Nisticò L, Fagnani C, Coto I, Percopo S, Cotichini R, Limongelli MG, Paparo F, D'Alfonso S, Giordano M, Sferlazzas C, Magazzù G, Momigliano-Richiardi P, Greco L, Stazi MA (2006) Concordance, disease progression, and heritability of coeliac disease in Italian twins. *Gut* 55: 803–808.
- Norris JM, Barriga K, Hoffenberg EJ, Taki I, Miao D, Haas JE, Emery LM, Sokol RJ, Erlich HA, Eisenbarth GS, Rewers M (2005) Risk of celiac disease autoimmunity and timing of gluten introduction in the diet of infants at increased risk of disease. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 293: 2343–2351.
- Nurminen K, Blazevic V, Huhti L, RaSaNen S, Koho T, HytoNen VP, Vesikari T (2011) Prevalence of norovirus GII-4 antibodies in Finnish children. *Journal of Medical Virology* 83: 525–531.
- O'Farrelly C, Kelly J, Hekkens W, Bradley B, Thompson A, Feighery C, Weir DG (1983) Alpha gliadin antibody levels: a serological test for coeliac disease. *British Medical Journal (Clinical Research Ed.)* 286: 2007–2010.
- Oberhuber G, Granditsch G, Vogelsang H (1999) The histopathology of coeliac disease: Time for a standardized report scheme for pathologists. *European Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 11: 1185–1194.
- Oddy WH, Mcmahon RJ (2011) Milk-derived or recombinant transforming growth factor-beta has effects on immunological outcomes: A review of evidence from animal experimental studies. *Clinical and Experimental Allergy* 41: 783–793.
- Oikarinen M, Puustinen L, Lehtonen J, Hakola L, Simell S, Toppari J, Ilonen J, Veijola R, Virtanen SM, Knip M, Hyöty H (2021) Enterovirus infections are associated with the Ddvelopment of celiac disease in a birth cohort study. *Frontiers in Immunology* 11: 604529.
- Oikarinen M, Tauriainen S, Honkanen T, Oikarinen S, Vuori K, Kaukinen K, Rantala I, Mäki M, Hyöty H (2008) Detection of enteroviruses in the intestine of type 1 diabetic patients. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology* 151: 71–75.
- Olivares M, Albrecht S, de Palma G, Ferrer MD, Castillejo G, Schols HA, Sanz Y (2015) Human milk composition differs in healthy mothers and mothers with celiac disease. *European Journal of Nutrition* 54: 119–128.
- Olivares M, Walker A, Capilla A, Benítez-Páez A, Palau F, Parkhill J, Castillejo G, Sanz Y (2018) Gut microbiota trajectory in early life may predict development of celiac disease. *Microbiome* 6: 36.
- Ou G, Hedberg M, Hörstedt P, Baranov V, Forsberg G, Drobni M, Sandström O, Wai SN, Johansson I, Hammarström ML, Hernell O, Hammarström S (2009) Proximal small intestinal microbiota and identification of rod-shaped bacteria associated with childhood celiac disease. *American Journal of Gastroenterology* 104: 3058–3067.
- Ouyang J, Lin J, Isnard S, Fombuena B, Peng X, Marette A, Routy B, Messaoudene M, Chen Y, Routy JP (2020) The Bacterium Akkermansia muciniphila: A sentinel for gut permeability and its relevance to HIV-Related Inflammation. *Frontiers in Immunology* 11: 645.
- Palmer C, Bik EM, DiGiulio DB, Relman DA, Brown PO (2007) Development of the human infant intestinal microbiota. *PLoS Biology* 5: e177.
- Peet A, Kool P, Ilonen J, Knip M, Tillmann V (2012) Birth weight in newborn infants with different diabetes-associated HLA genotypes in three neighbouring countries: Finland, Estonia and Russian Karelia. *Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews* 28: 455–461.
- Peters U, Schneeweiss S, Trautwein EA, Erbersdobler HF (2001) A case-control study of the effect of infant feeding on celiac disease. *Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism* 45: 135–142.
- Pozo-Rubio T, Olivares M, Nova E, de Palma G, Mujico JR, Ferrer MD, Marcos A, Sanz Y (2012) Immune development and intestinal microbiota in celiac disease. *Clinical and Developmental Immunology* 2012: 654143.
- Ramakrishna BS, Makharia GK, Chetri K, Dutta S, Mathur P, Ahuja V, Amarchand R, Balamurugan R, Chowdhury SD, Daniel D, Das A, George G, Gupta SD, Krishnan A, Prasad JH, Kaur G, Pugazhendhi S, Pulimood A, Ramakrishna K, Verma A K (2016) Prevalence of Adult Celiac Disease in India: Regional Variations and Associations. *American Journal of Gastroenterology* 111: 115–123.
- Ress K, Luts K, Rägo T, Pisarev H, Uibo O (2012) Nationwide study of childhood celiac disease incidence over a 35-year period in Estonia. *European Journal of Pediatrics* 171: 1823–1828.
- Roberts S, Morrison-Rees S, Thapar N, Benninga M, Borrelli O, Broekaert I, Dolinsek J, Martin-de-Carpi J, Mas E, Miele E, Pienar C, Ribes-Koninckx C, Thomassen R, Thomson M, Tzivinikos C, Thorne K, John A, Williams J (2021) Systematic review and meta-analysis: the incidence and prevalence of paediatric coeliac disease across Europe. *Alimentary Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 54: 109–128.
- Robertson DAF, Taylor N, Sidhu H, Britten A, Smith CL, Holdstock G (1989) Pulmonary permeability in coeliac disease and inflammatory bowel disease. *Digestion* 42: 98–103.
- Rogier EW, Frantz AL, Bruno MEC, Wedlund L, Cohen DA, Stromberg AJ, Kaetzel CS (2014) Secretory antibodies in breast milk promote long-term intestinal homeostasis by regulating the gut microbiota and host gene expression. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 111: 3074–3079.
- Rubio-Tapia A, Ludvigsson JF, Brantner TL, Murray JA, Everhart JE (2012) The prevalence of celiac disease in the United States. *American Journal of Gastroentero*logy 107: 1538–1544.
- Sánchez E, de Palma G, Capilla A, Nova E, Pozo T, Castillejo G, Varea V, Marcos A, Garrote JA, Polanco I, López A, Ribes-Koninckx C, García-Novo MD, Calvo C, Ortigosa L, Palau F, Sanz Y (2011) Influence of environmental and genetic factors

linked to celiac disease risk on infant gut colonization by Bacteroides species. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 77: 5316–5323.

- Sandberg-Bennich S, Dahlquist G, Källén B (2002) Coeliac disease is associated with intrauterine growth and neonatal infections. *Acta Paediatrica, International Journal of Paediatrics* 91: 30–33.
- Sapone A, Lammers KM, Casolaro V, Cammarota M, Giuliano MT, de Rosa M, Stefanile R, Mazzarella G, Tolone C, Russo MI, Esposito P, Ferraraccio F, Carteni M, Riegler G, de Magistris L, Fasano A (2011) Divergence of gut permeability and mucosal immune gene expression in two gluten-associated conditions: Celiac disease and gluten sensitivity. *BMC Medicine* 9: 23.
- Schirru E, Jores RD, Cicotto L, Frau F, de Virgiliis S, Rossino R, Macis MD, Lampis R, Congia M (2011) High frequency of low-risk human leukocyte antigen class II genotypes in latent celiac disease. *Human Immunology* 72: 179–182.
- Schumann M, Siegmund B, Schulzke JD, Fromm M (2017) Celiac Disease: Role of the Epithelial Barrier. *Cellular and Molecular Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 3: 150–162.
- Schuppan D, Junker Y, Barisani D (2009) Celiac Disease: From Pathogenesis to Novel Therapies. *Gastroenterology* 137: 1912–1933.
- Sellitto M, Bai G, Serena G, Fricke WF, Sturgeon C, Gajer P, White JR, Koenig SSK, Sakamoto J, Boothe D, Gicquelais R, Kryszak D, Puppa E, Catassi C, Ravel J, Fasano A (2012) Proof of concept of microbiome-metabolome analysis and delayed gluten exposure on celiac disease autoimmunity in genetically at-risk infants. *PLoS ONE* 7: e33387.
- Sepp E, Naaber P, Voor T, Mikelsaar M, Björkstén B (2000) Development of intestinal microflora during the first month of life in Estonian and Swedish infants. *Microbial Ecology in Health and Disease* 12: 22–26.
- Serena G, Lima R, Fasano A (2019) Genetic and environmental contributors for celiac disease. *Current Allergy and Asthma Reports* 19: 40.
- Shan L, Molberg Ø, Parrot I, Hausch F, Filiz F, Gray GM, Sollid LM, Khosla C (2002) Structural basis for gluten intolerance in celiac sprue. *Science* 297: 2275–2279.
- Silano M, Agostoni C, Sanz Y, Guandalini S (2016) Infant feeding and risk of developing celiac disease: A systematic review. *BMJ Open* 6: e009163.
- Singh P, Arora S, Lal S, Strand TA, Makharia GK (2015) Risk of celiac disease in the first- and second-degree relatives of patients with celiac disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Gastroenterology* 110: 1539–1548.
- Singh P, Arora A, Strand TA, Leffler DA, Catassi C, Green PH, Kelly CP, Ahuja V, Makharia GK (2018) Global Prevalence of Celiac Disease: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 16: 823–836.e2.
- Singh P, Kurray L, Agnihotri A, Das P, Verma AK, Sreenivas V, Dattagupta S, Makharia GK (2015) Titers of anti-tissue transglutaminase antibody correlate well with severity of villous abnormalities in celiac disease. *Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology* 49: 212–217.
- Smego RA Jr, Foglia G (1998) Actinomycosis. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 26: 1255–1261; quiz 1262–1263.
- Smidt I, Kiiker R, Oopkaup H, Lapp E, Rööp T, Truusalu K, Štšepetova J, Truu J, Mändar R (2015) Comparison of detection methods for vaginal lactobacilli. *Beneficial Microbes* 6: 747–751.
- Sokol H, Pigneur B, Watterlot L, Lakhdari O, Bermudez-Humaran LG, Gratadoux JJ, Blugeon S, Bridonneau C, Furet JP, Corthier G, Grangette C, Vasquez N, Pochart P,

Trugnan G, Thomas G, Blottiere HM, Dore J, Marteau P, Seksik P, Langella P (2008) Faecalibacterium prausnitzii is an anti-inflammatory commensal bacterium identified by gut microbiota analysis of Crohn disease patients. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 105: 16731–16736.

- Sollid LM (2002) Coeliac disease: dissecting a complex inflammatory disorder. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 2: 647–655.
- Sollid LM, Jabri B (2013) Triggers and drivers of autoimmunity: Lessons from coeliac disease. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 13: 294–302.
- Sollid LM, Markussen G, Ek J, Gjerde H, Vartdal F, Thorsby E (1989) Evidence for a primary association of celiac disease to a particular HLA-DQ alpha/beta heterodimer. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 169: 345–350.
- Staunton DE, Merluzzi VJ, Rothlein R, Barton R, Marlin SD, Springer TA (1989) A cell adhesion molecule, ICAM-1, is the major surface receptor for rhinoviruses. *Cell* 56: 849–853.
- Stene LC, Honeyman MC, Hoffenberg EJ, Haas JR, Sokol RJ, Emery L, Taki I, Norris JM, Erlich HA, Eisenbarth GS, Rewers M (2006) Rotavirus infection frequency and risk of celiac disease autoimmunity in early childhood: a longitudinal study. *American Journal of Gastroenterology* 101: 2333–2340.
- Størdal K, White RA, Eggesb M (2013) Early feeding and risk of celiac disease in a prospective birth cohort. *Pediatrics* 132: e1202–1209.
- Sturgess RP, Macartney JC, Makgoba MW, Hung CH, Haskard DO, Ciclitira PJ (1990) Differential upregulation of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 in coeliac disease. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology* 82: 489–492.
- Szajewska H, Shamir R, Chmielewska A, Piešcik-Lech M, Auricchio R, Ivarsson A, Kolacek S, Koletzko S, Korponay-Szabo I, Mearin ML, Ribes-Koninckx C, Troncone R (2015). Systematic review with meta-analysis: Early infant feeding and coeliac disease-update 2015. *Alimentary Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 41: 1038– 1054.
- Szajewska H, Shamir R, Mearin L, Ribes-Koninckx C, Catassi C, Domellöf M, Fewtrell MS, Husby S, Papadopoulou A, Vandenplas Y, Castillejo G, Kolacek S, Koletzko S, Korponay-Szabó IR, Lionetti E, Polanco I, Troncone R (2016) Gluten introduction and the risk of coeliac disease: A position paper by the European Society for Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition* 62: 507–513.
- Taavela J, Popp A, Korponay-Szabo IR, Ene A, Vornanen M, Saavalainen P, Lähdeaho ML, Ruuska T, Laurila K, Parvan A, Anca I, Kurppa K, Mäki M (2016) A prospective study on the usefulness of duodenal bulb biopsies in celiac disease diagnosis in children: urging caution. *American Journal of Gastroenterology* 111: 124–133.
- Tapia G, Chudá K, Kahrs CR, Stene LC, Kramna L, Mårild K, Rasmussen T, Rønningen KS, Cinek O, Størdal K (2021) Parechovirus infection in early childhood and association with subsequent celiac disease. *American Journal of Gastroenterology* 116: 788–795.
- Tapparel C, Sobo K, Constant S, Huang S, van Belle S, Kaiser L (2013) Growth and characterization of different human rhinovirus C types in three-dimensional human airway epithelia reconstituted in vitro. *Virology* 446: 1–8.
- Teeäär T, Liivak N, Heilman K, Kool P, Šor R, Paal M, Einberg Ü, Tillmann V (2010) Increasing incidence of childhood-onset type 1 diabetes mellitus among Estonian children in 1999–2006. Time trend analysis 1983–2006. *Pediatric Diabetes* 11: 107– 110.

- Teesalu K, Agardh D, Panarina M, Utt M, Uibo O, Uibo R (2009) A modified ELISA for improved detection of IgA, IgG, and IgM anti-tissue transglutaminase antibodies in celiac disease. *Clinica Chimica Acta* 403: 37–41.
- Tjernberg AR, Ludvigsson JF (2014) Children with celiac disease are more likely to have attended hospital for prior respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences* 59: 1502–1508.
- Tollefsen S, Arentz-Hansen H, Fleckenstein B, Molberg Ø, Ráki M, Kwok WW, Jung G, Lundin KEA, Sollid LM (2006) HLA-DQ2 and -DQ8 signatures of gluten T cell epitopes in celiac disease. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 116: 2226–2236.
- Trynka G, Hunt KA, Bockett NA, Romanos J, Mistry V, Szperl A, Bakker SF, Bardella MT, Bhaw-Rosun L, Castillejo G, de La Concha EG, de Almeida RC, Dias KRM, van Diemen CC, Dubois PCA, Duerr RH, Edkins S, Franke L, Fransen K, Gutierrez J, Heap GAR, Hrdlickova B, Hunt S, Plaza Izurieta L, Izzo V, Joosten LAB, Langford C, Mazzilli MC, Mein CA, Midah V, Mitrovic M, Mora B, Morelli M, Nutland S, Núñez C, Onengut-Gumuscu S, Pearce K, Platteel M, Polanco I, Potter S, Ribes-Koninckx C, Ricaño-Ponce I, Rich SS, Rybak A, Santiago JL, Senapati S, Sood A, Szajewska H, Troncone R, Varadé J, Wallace C, Wolters VM, Zhernakova A; Spanish Consortium on the Genetics of Coeliac Disease (CEGEC); PreventCD Study Group; Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium (WTCCC); Thelma BK, Cukrowska B, Urcelay E, Bilbao JR, Mearin ML, Barisani D, Barrett JC, Plagnol V, Deloukas P, Wijmenga C, van Heel DA (2011) Dense genotyping identifies and localizes multiple common and rare variant association signals in celiac disease. *Nature Genetics* 43: 1193–1201.
- Uibo O, Teesalu K, Metsküla K, Reimand T, Saat R, Sillat T, Reimand K, Talvik T, Uibo R (2006) Screening for celiac disease in Down's syndrome patients revealed cases of subtotal villous atrophy without typical for celiac disease HLA-DQ and tissue transglutaminase antibodies. *World Journal of Gastroenterology* 12: 1430–1434.
- Uibo R, Talja I, Jôgi R, Janson C, Björnsson E, Boman G, Mandel M, Björkstén B (1998) Autoantibodies in Estonia and Sweden, populations with different responses to allergens. *International Archives of Allergy and Immunology* 117: 126–130.
- Uibo R, Tian Z, Gershwin ME (2011) Celiac disease: a model disease for gene-environment interaction. *Cellular & Molecular Immunology* 8: 93–95.
- van de Stolpe A, van der Saag PT (1996) Intercellular adhesion molecule-1. *Journal of Molecular Medicine* 74: 13–33.
- Verdu EF, Galipeau HJ, Jabri B (2015) Novel players in coeliac disease pathogenesis: role of the gut microbiota. *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 12: 497–506.
- Vidal K, Labéta MO, Schiffrin EJ, Donnet-Hughes A (2001) Soluble CD14 in human breast milk and its role in innate immune responses. *Acta Odontologica Scandinavica* 59: 330–334.
- Vidal K, Donnet-Hughes A, Granato D (2002) Lipoteichoic acids from *Lactobacillus johnsonii* strain La1 and *Lactobacillus acidophilus* strain La10 antagonize the responsiveness of human intestinal epithelial HT29 cells to lipopolysaccharide and gram-negative bacteria. *Infection and Immunity* 70: 2057–2064.
- Villalta D, Tonutti E, Prause C, Koletzko S, Uhlig HH, Vermeersch P, Bossuyt X, Stern M, Laass MW, Ellis JH, Ciclitira PJ, Richter T, Daehnrich C, Schlumberger W, Mothes T (2010) IgG antibodies against deamidated gliadin peptides for diagnosis of celiac disease in patients with IgA deficiency. *Clinical Chemistry* 56: 464–468.

- Viskari H, Ludvigsson J, Uibo R, Salur L, Marciulionyte D, Hermann R, Soltesz G, Füchtenbusch M, Ziegler AG, Kondrashova A, Romanov A, Knip M, Hyöty H (2004) Relationship between the incidence of type 1 diabetes and enterovirus infections in different European populations: results from the EPIVIR project. *Journal of Medical Virology* 72: 610–617.
- Viskari HR, Koskela P, Lönnrot M, Luonuansuu S, Reunanen A, Baer M, Hyöty H (2000) Can enterovirus infections explain the increasing incidence of type 1 diabetes? *Diabetes Care* 23: 414–416.
- Visser J, Rozing J, Sapone A, Lammers K, Fasano A (2009). Tight junctions, intestinal permeability, and autoimmunity: Celiac disease and type 1 diabetes paradigms. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1165: 195–205.
- Volta U, Fabbri A, Parisi C, Piscaglia M, Caio G, Tovoli F, Fiorini E (2010) Old and new serological tests for celiac disease screening. *Expert Review of Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 4: 31–35.
- Vriezinga SL, Auricchio R, Bravi E, Castillejo G, Chmielewska A, Crespo Escobar P, Kolaček S, Koletzko S, Korponay-Szabo IR, Mummert E, Polanco I, Putter H, Ribes-Koninckx C, Shamir R, Szajewska H, Werkstetter K, Greco L, Gyimesi J, Hartman C, Esch CH, Hopman E, Ivarsson A, Koltai T, Koning F, Martinez-Ojinaga E, te Marvelde C, Pavic A, Romanos J, Stoopman E, Villanacci V, Wijmenga C, Troncone R, Mearin ML (2014) Randomized feeding intervention in infants at high risk for celiac disease. *New England Journal of Medicine* 371: 1304–1315.
- Wessels M, Dolinsek J, Castillejo G, Donat E, Riznik P, Roca M, Valitutti F, Veenvliet A, Mearin ML. (2022) Follow-up practices for children and adolescents with celiac disease: results of an international survey. *European Journal of Pediatrics* 181: 1213–1220.
- Wieser H (2007) Chemistry of gluten proteins. Food Microbiology 24: 115-119.
- Williams JE, Carrothers JM, Lackey KA, Beatty NF, York MA, Brooker SL, Shafii B, Price WJ, Settles ML, McGuire MA, McGuire MK (2017) Human milk microbial community structure is relatively stable and related to variations in macronutrient and micronutrient intakes in healthy lactating women. *Journal of Nutrition* 147: 1739–1748.
- Wolters VM, Wijmenga C (2008) Genetic background of celiac disease and its clinical implications. *American Journal of Gastroenterology* 103: 190–195.
- Wu J, Xia B, von Blomberg BME, Zhao C, Yang XW, Crusius JBA, Peña AS (2010) Coeliac disease: Emerging in China? *Gut* 59: 418–419.
- Yeung WCG, Rawlinson WD, Craig ME (2011) Enterovirus infection and type 1 diabetes mellitus: Systematic review and meta-analysis of observational molecular studies. *British Medical Journal* 342: d35.
- Zeller G, Tap J, Voigt AY, Sunagawa S, Kultima JR, Costea PI, Amiot A, Böhm J, Brunetti F, Habermann N, Hercog R, Koch M, Luciani A, Mende DR, Schneider MA, Schrotz-King P, Tournigand C, Tran Van Nhieu J, Yamada T, Zimmermann J, Benes V, Kloor M, Ulrich CM, von Knebel Doeberitz M, Sobhani I, Bork P (2014) Potential of fecal microbiota for early-stage detection of colorectal cancer. *Molecular Systems Biology* 10: 766.
- Zingone F, West J, Auricchio R, Bevilacqua RM, Bile G, Borgheresi P, Bottiglieri ME, Caldore M, Capece G, Caria MC, Crudele A, Cuomo R, Garofano ML, Giardullo N, Gravina AG, Greco L, Iannotta P, Kosova P, Lamanda R, Malamisura B, Marmo R, Napoli G, Nardone G, Pacelli M, Pascarella F, Riccio E, Riegler G, Rispo A, Rocco A, Romano M, Saffiotti O, Saviano P, Sorrentini I, Speranza P, Tolone C, Tortora R,

Troncone R, Ciacci C (2015). Incidence and distribution of coeliac disease in campania (Italy): 2011–2013. *United European Gastroenterology Journal* 3: 182–189.

Zingone F, West J, Crooks CJ, Fleming KM, Card TR, Ciacci C, Tata LJ (2015). Socioeconomic variation in the incidence of childhood coeliac disease in the UK. *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 100: 466–473.

SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN

Tsöliaakia teke kahes erineva keskkonna-taustaga naaberriigis

Sissejuhatus

Tsöliaakia on immuunvahendatud haigus, mis tekib geneetilise eelsoodumusega isikutel gluteeni ja gluteeniga seotud prolamiinide toimel. Tsöliaakiat võivad vallandada nisuvalgu gluteeni laguprodukt gliadiin, rukkivalk sekaliin ja odravalk hordeiin. Kaeratoodetesse võib gluteen sattuda ristsaastumise teel. Tsöliaakiale on iseloomulik varieeruv kliiniline pilt, tsöliaakia spetsiifiliste autoantikehade teke, inimese leukotsüütide antigeenide HLA-DQ2 ja/või HLA-DQ8 olemasolu ning enteropaatia (Husby *et al.* 2012). Traditsiooniliselt põhineb tsöliaakia diagnoos tsöliaakia spetsiifiliste autoantikehade olemasolul veres ning peensoole biopsiatükkides hinnataval hattude atroofial (Kelly *et al.* 2015). Tsöliaakia spetsiifiliste autoantikehade hulka kuuluvad koe transglutaminaasi vastased antikehad (anti-tTG), endomüüsiumi vastased antikehad ja deamideeritud gliadiini vastased antikehad.

Viimastel aastakümnetel on tsöliaakia esinemissagedus tõusnud ülemaailmselt (Kang *et al.* 2013; Makharia *et al.* 2022). Tsöliaakia esinemissagedus nn läänemaailmas on hinnanguliselt 1% (Rubio-Tapia *et al.* 2012; Choung *et al.* 2017) kuni 3% (Myléus *et al.* 2009). Haigus on sagenenud ka kahes naaberriigis – Eestis (Ress *et al.* 2012) ja Soomes (Lohi *et al.* 2007). On teada, et nende kahe riigi vahel esines suur sotsiaalmajanduslik erinevus kuni 1990ndate aastate alguseni.

Tsöliaakia patogeneesis on olulised nii geneetilised, keskkondlikud kui ka immunoloogilised faktorid (Kagnoff 1992). Mõned neist faktoritest on hästi tuntud – HLA-DQ2 ja HLA-DQ8, koe transglutaminaas ja gluteen ning gluteeniga seotud prolamiinid (Caio *et al.* 2019). Kuna enamikel inimestel, kellel esineb geneetiline eelsoodumus tsöliaakia tekkeks ning on olnud kokkupuude gluteeniga, ei teki haigust, siis peavad haiguse tekkega olema seotud ka erinevad keskkondlikud tegurid. Kõige rohkem on keskkondlikest faktoritest uuritud imiku ja väikelapse toitu ja toitmist, infektsioone ning soole mikrobioomi.

Varasemad epidemioloogilised uuringud (Ivarsson *et al.* 2000) on leidnud, et rinnapiimaga toitmise kestus ja gluteeni menüüsse lisamise aeg võiksid olla seotud tsöliaakia tekkega. Viimaste andmete põhjal ei ole tõestust, et rinnapiimaga toitmine kaitseks tsöliaakia tekke eest (Szajewska *et al.* 2016) ning samuti ei ole leitud, et gluteeni menüüsse lisamise erinev algusaeg võiks tsöliaakia riski vähendada (Vriezinga *et al.* 2014; Lionetti *et al.* 2014). Viimasel ajal on rohkem tähelepanu pööratud sellele, kas pigem ei võiks oluline olla gluteeni kogus imiku ja väikelapse menüüs (Andrén Aronsson *et al.* 2019; Lund-Blix *et al.* 2019; Mårild *et al.* 2019). Kuna on leitud, et erinevatel aastaaegadel sündinud inimeste tsöliaakiasse haigestumine erineb, siis arvatakse, et tsöliaakia tekkega

on seotud ka infektsioonid (Lewy *et al.* 2009). Haiguse vallandajana on uuritud erinevaid nii viiruslikke kui ka bakteriaalseid infektsioone (Stene *et al.* 2006; Lebwohl *et al.* 2013; Kahrs *et al.* 2019). On leitud võimalikke seoseid seede-trakti infektsioonidega, näiteks rotaviiruse (Stene *et al.* 2006), enteroviiruse (Kahrs *et al.* 2019; Lindorfs *et al.* 2020) ja reoviirusega (Bouziat *et al.* 2017). Seoseid on leitud herpesviiruste (Jansen *et al.* 2016) ning *Helicobacter pylori* (Lebwohl *et al.* 2013) ja tsöliaakia tekke vahel. Tsöliaakia tekkega on seotud ka soolestiku mikrobioom (Verdu *et al.* 2015). Arvatakse, et juba tsöliaakia genee-tilise eelsoodumusega imikutel võivad olla mikrobioomis muutused (Olivares *et al.* 2018).

Tsöliaakia esinemissagedus on ülemaailmselt tõusnud, kuid selle täpsed põhjused ei ole selged. Antud doktoritöö peamine eesmärk oli uurida lapseea tsöliaakia teket kahes erineva sotsiaalmajandusliku tasutaga naaberriigis – Eestis ja Soomes ning uurida täpsemalt tsöliaakia erinevaid riskifaktoreid.

Töö eesmärgid

- 1. Uurida tsöliaakia kumulatiivset haigestumust Eestis ja Soomes kuni 5-aastaste laste hulgas.
- 2. Analüüsida erinevaid riskifaktoreid, mis võiksid olla seotud tsöliaakiasse haigestumuse erinevusega peamine huvi oli imikuea ja väikelapse toitumisel ja infektsioonidel.
- 3. Määrata erinevaid viiruseid tsöliaakia diagnoosi eelselt rooja- ning ninalimaskesta proovides ning viirusspetsiifilisi autoantikehi diagnoosimise hetkel tsöliaakiahaigetel ja kontrollgrupi lastel ning seeläbi viiruste seotamine haiguse tekkega.
- 4. Analüüsida rinnapiima mikrobiootat ning uurida selle seost rinnapiima immunoloogiliste markeritega emadel, kelle lastel tekkis tsöliaakia esimese kolme eluaasta jooksul ning neil emadel, kelle lastel ei tekkinud tsöliaakiat.

Uuritavad ja meetodid

Uuritavad ja uuringumaterjal pärinevad rahvusvahelisest DIABIMMUNE uuringust (juhtivuurija professor Mikael Knip, Helsingi Ülikool, Soome), mille eesmärgiks oli hinnata 1. tüüpi diabeedi ja teiste immuunvahendatud haiguste teket. Uuring viidi läbi Eestis, Soomes ja Venemaal Karjalas 2008. aasta septembrist kuni 2013. aasta oktoobrini. Käesolevasse töösse kaasati Eesti ja Soome patsientidelt kogutud materjal. Uuring koosnes nn sünnikohordist ja nn lastekohordist. Esimeses kohordis jälgiti lapsi sünnist kuni 3. eluaastani ja teises kohordis 3. eluaastast 5. eluaastani. Sünnikohorti kaasati algselt 2714 last Eestist ja 3105 last Soomest. Eestis tekkis uuringu perioodi jooksul tsöliaakia kahel lapsel ja Soomes seitsmel lapsel. Lastekohorti kaasati Eestis 1681 last ja Soomes 1575 last. Eestis tekkis uuringuperioodi jooksul tsöliaakia kuuel lapsel ja Soomes 14 lapsel. Tsöliaakia diagnoositi vastavalt Euroopa Laste Gastroenteroloogia, Hepatoloogia ja Toitmisravi Ühingu juhendile (Husby *et al.* 2012) – veres

esinevad positiivsed tTG-IgA antikehad ning peensoole hattude atroofia leid peensoole biopsiatükkides. Igale tsöliaakia diagnoosiga lapsele valiti kontrollgrupi laps samast DIABIMMUNE uuringust vastavalt tsöliaakia spetsiifilisele HLA genotüübile, sünnimaale, sünnikuupäevale ja soole (I ja II artikkel).

Rinnapiima analüüsideks valiti nn sünnikohordist kuus last, keda oli jälgitud 3. eluaastani ning kelle kõigi emadelt oli kogutud rinnapiim lapse 3. elukuul ja lastel oli tekkinud tsöliaakia. Kontrollgruppi valiti 18 last samast DIAB-IMMUNE uuringu sünnikohordist vastavalt tsöliaakia spetsiifilisele HLA genotüübile, sünnimaale, sünnikuupäevale ja soole (III artikkel).

Rooja- ja nina limaskesta proove analüüsiti ainult sünnikohordi lastel. Roojaproovidest määrati enteroviiruse, noroviiruse, parehhoviiruse ja rhinoviiruse RNA laste 3., 4., 5. ja 6. elukuul kogutud proovidest. Nina limaskesta proovidest määrati enteroviiruse, parehhoviiruse and rhinoviirus RNA laste 3. ja 6. elukuul kogutud proovidest. Viiruste RNA määramiseks kasutati reaalaja polümeraasi ahelreaktsiooni (II artikkel).

Viiruste vastaseid antikehi seerumist määrati nii sünnikohordi kui ka lastekohordi patsientidel. Antikehad määrati seerumist ajahetkel, millal olid esmakordselt esinenud positiivsed tTG-IgA autoantikehad. Kontrollgrupi lastel määrati viiruste vastased antikehad samale ajahetkele vastavast proovist. Seerumist määrati noroviiruse, adenoviiruse ja enteroviruse IgA ja IgG antikehi ning CMV ja EBV IgG antikehi. Määramiseks kasutati immunoensüümmeetodit (II artikkel).

Sünnikohordi laste 3. elukuul kogutud rinnapiimadest määrati immunoensüümmeetodi abil TGF-β1, TGF-β2, sIgA, MFG-E8 ja sCD14 tasemed. Rinnapiima mikrobioomi määramiseks kasutati järgmise põlvkonna sekveneerimist ja reaalaja polümeraasi ahelreaktsiooni. Lactobacilluste ja Bifidobacterite puhul kasutati lisaks denatureeriva gradiendi geelelektroforeesi (III artikkel)

Tulemuste analüüsimiseks kasutati R statistika programmi (The R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria).

Tulemused

Sünnikohordis tekkisid tTG-IgA antikehad Soome lastel esmakordselt 2,3 aastaselt (95% CI 1,6–2,9) ja Eesti lastel 3,0 aastaselt (95% CI 2,5–3,6) (P=0,12). Lastekohordis esinesid postiivsed tTG-IgA antikehad uuringus 3-aastaselt 11-1 lapsel 14-st tsöliaakia diagnoosiga lapsest (79%). Eestis olid vastavad arvud viis ja kuus (83%). Sünnikohordis ja lastekohordis ei olnud kumulatiivne haigestumine uuringuperioodil kahe riigi vahel statistliselt erinev kui kahte kohorti hinnati eraldi (sünnikohordis oli kumulatiivne haigestumine Eestis 0,12% ja Soomes 0,53% (P=0,10) ning lastekohordis oli Eestis 0,4% ja Soomes 1% (P=0,12)). Kahe kohordi kombineerimisel oli kumulatiivne haigestumine statistiliselt oluliselt kõrgem Soomes võrreldes Eestiga (Eestis 0,27% ja Soomes 0,77% (P=0,01)) (I artikkel).

Tsöliaakiaga ja kontrollgrupi laste osas ei esinenud statistiliselt olulist erinevust rinnapiimaga toitmise kestuse ega terviljade (nisu, rukkis, oder) menüüsse lisamise aja osas. Sünnikohordis esines tsöliaakiaga lastel esimesel eluaastal statistiliselt oluliselt rohkem palavikuga haigestumisi võrreldes kontrollgrupiga (3,4 vs 1,4; *P*=0,04). Esimese kolme eluaasta jooksul ei olnud sünnikohordis kahe grupi vahel erinevust gastroenteriitide põdemise ja antibiootikumide kasutamise osas. Laste kohordis ei olnud gruppide vahel erinevusi infektsioonide ja antibiakteriaalse ravi osas (I artikkel).

Sünnikohordis esines nii rooja- kui ka ninakaape proovides kõige sagedamini rhinoviirust. 3. ja 6. elukuul oli rhinoviirus positiivne ninakaapest viiel tsöliaakiaga lapsel ning mitte ühelgi kontrollgrupi lapsel (P=0,046). Kolmandal ja 6. elukuul oli rhinoviirus positiive rooja analüüsist kolmel tsöliaakiaga lapsel ning seitsmel kontrollgrupi lapsel (P=0,25). Entero- ega parehhoviirust ei tuvastatud üheski roojaproovis. Sünnikohordi ega lastekohordi kuuluvate laste seerumistes ei esinenud erinevusi viiruste antikehade tiitris – noroviiruse, adenoviiruse ja enteroviruse IgA ja IgG antikehad ning CMV ja EBV IgG antikehad. Kahe riigi omavahelises võrdluses, kui kaks kohorti kombineeriti, esines enteroviiruse IgG antikehi rohkem Eesti laste hulgas (63% vs 23%; P=0,02) (II artikkel).

Rinnapiimast määratud immuunmarkerite (TGF-β1, TGF-β2, sIgA, MFG-E8 ja sCD14) tasemete osas ei olnud tsöliaakiaga laste ja kontrollgrupi laste vahel statistiliselt olulisi erinevusi. Liikide arvukus ja Shannoni indeks olid oluliselt kõrgemad tsöliaakiaga laste emade grupis. Tsöliaakiaga laste grupis esines kõrgem levimus *Bacteroidetes* ja *Fusobacteria* hõimkondades, *Clostridia* ja *Fuso-bacteriia* klassides ning *Leptotrichia, Anaerococcus, Sphingomonas, Actyno-myces* ja *Akkermansia* perekondades. Nii mõnede Gram-positiivsete kui ka Gram-negatiivsete bakterite levimuse ja immuunmarkerite tasemete osas esines statistiliselt olulisi seoseid, mille lõplikuks tõlgendamiseks on vajalikud suure-mate uuritavate arvuga ning täiendavad uuringud (III artikkel).

Järeldused

- 1. Oluline erinevus esines tsöliaakia kumulatiivses haigestumises Eesti ja Soome laste vahel esimese viie eluaasta jooksul. Tsöliaakia kumulatiivne haigestumine on kõrgem Soomes (0,27% vs 0,77%) ning seal tekivad lastel varem ka tTG-IgA antikehad.
- 2. Tsöliaakiaga ning kontrollgrupi laste vahel ei olnud erinevust rinnapiimaga toitmise kestuses ega teraviljade (nisu, rukkis, oder) menüüsse lisamise vanuses. Korduvad infektsioonid varajases eas võivad suurendada riski haigestuda tsöliaakiasse tuginedes prospektiivselt kogutud andmetele.
- 3. Tsöliaakiaga ning kontrollgrupi laste vahel ei olnud erinevust laboratoorselt kinnitatud enteroviirus, adenovirus, CMV, EBV, noroviirus ega parehhoviirus infektsioonide vahel. Rhinoviirus infektsiooni esines tsöliaakiaga lastel mõnevõrra rohkem. Sarnaselt varasemate uuringute tulemustega esines Eesti laste hulgas enteroviiruse IgG antikehi võrreldes Soome lastega rohkem.
- 4. Emadel, kelle lastel tekkis tsöliaakia, oli rinnapiima mikrobioomis erinevusi võrreldes emadega, kelle lastel tsöliaakiat ei tekkinud. Erinevused esinesid nii liikide arvukuses kui ka Shannoni indeksis. Bakterite levimuse ja immuun-

markerite (TGF-β1, TGF-β2, MFG-E8, sCD14) tasemete osas esines statistiliselt olulisi seoseid ning leitud muutused võivad olla olulised hilisemas elus tsöliaakia kujunemise riski mõjutamisel.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am extremely thankful to many superb people thanks to whom this dissertation has been completed. First of all, I would like to thank my supervisors for their guidance, expertise, and invaluable insights throughout the research process to whom I am deeply thankful.

- Professor Raivo Uibo my main supervisor, who warmly welcomed me to his study group and who has supported me all the time and thanks to whose great enthusiasm and love for science this dissertation has been completed.
- Associate Professor Oivi Uibo for introducing me the idea of PhD studies on coeliac disease and immunology, for being supportive and enthusiastic.
- Professor Vallo Tillmann for support and encouragement in combining clinical and scientific work, and for supervising me during the first scientific study.

I would like to express my gratitude also to:

- Professor Mikael Knip for allowing to use the DIABIMMUNE Study material for this dissertation;
- I appreciate all my co-authors for their valuable contributions especially Pille Kool for help in statistical analyses in the first article; Professor Heikki Hyöty and his study group for the opportunity to work in their laboratory and for help with the second article; Professor Reet Mändar and Jelena Štšepetova for their knowledge and help with the third article;
- Professor Helle Karro and Associate Professor Martti Laan, for reviewing this dissertation;
- Mrs. Ester Jaigma, for the thorough linguistic revision of my manuscripts and dissertation;
- All colleagues from the Department of Immunology, especially Aili Tagoma, Helis Janson and Kristi Alnek, who have helped me in the laboratory;
- All colleagues from the Children's Clinic of Tartu University Hospital and the General Paediatric Department for their kind support – especially Dr. Anu Bärenson, who has been there for me many years and with whom we can discuss everything; Dr. Inga Vainumäe, Associate Professor Chis Pruunsild and Dr. Aleksandr Peet, who have been very supportive and have had faith in me; Dr. Heli Grünberg, thanks to whose warm attitude I found paediatrics and who supervised me during the first scientific study;
- I am very grateful for my parents, brother and parents-in-law. I am very thankful to my friends for all support, special thanks belong to Maarja, who knows best my mistakes and can recognize if something is going wrong.
- Last, but not least, my partner in life, in good and bad Kaido and our child Johanna, for supporting and motivating me to finish this dissertation.

PUBLICATIONS

CURRICULUM VITAE

Name Date of Birth Citizenship Email	Kärt Simre December 8, 1986 Estonian kart.simre@kliinikum.ee
Education	
2015–2020	University of Tartu, Faculty of Medicine, General Paediatric Residency Programme with subspeciality of Paediatric Gastroenterology (including maternity leave)
2014–present	University of Tartu, Faculty of Medicine, Centre of Excellence for Translational Medicine, Doctoral Degree Programme
2012–2015	University of Tartu, Faculty of Medicine, General Paediatric Residency Programme
2006–2012	University of Tartu, Faculty of Medicine, Degree in Medicine
2003–2006 1994–2003	Hugo Treffner Gymnasium, high school Tartu Kivilinna Gymnasium, elementary school

Employment history

Tartu University Hospital, Children's Clinic, paediatric
gastroenterologist
Tartu University Hospital, Children's Clinic, resident
Tartu University Hospital, Anaesthesiology and Intensive
Care Clinic, assistant nurse
Tartu University Hospital, Children's Clinic, assistant
nurse
Tartu University Hospital, Children's Clinic, attendant
Tartu University Hospital, Surgery Clinic, attendant

Special courses

19th International Celiac Disease Symposium, Sorrento,
Italy
18th International Celiac Disease Symposium, Paris,
France
Mucosal Immunology Course & Symposium, Oxford,
United Kingdom
Virology Laboratory (Professor Heikki Hyöty), University
of Tampere, Finland
16th International Celiac Disease Symposium, Prague,
Czech Republic

Publications in international peer-reviewed journals

- 1. Simre K, Uibo O, Peet A, Tillmann V, Kool P, Hämäläinen AM, Härkönen T, Siljander H, Virtanen S, Ilonen J, Knip M, Uibo R; DIABIMMUNE Study Group. Exploring the risk factors for differences in the cumulative incidence of coeliac disease in two neighbouring countries: the prospective DIABIMMUNE study. Dig Liver Dis 2016; 48(11):1296–301. doi: 10.1016/j.dld.2016.06.029.
- Simre K, Uibo O, Peet A, Puustinen L, Oikarainen S, Tamminen K, Blazevic V, Tillmann V, Hämäläinen AM, Härkönen T, Siljander H, Virtanen SM, Ilonen J, Hyöty H, Knip M, Uibo R; DIABIMMUNE Study Group. Early-life exposure to common virus infections did not differ between coeliac disease patients and controls. Acta Paediatr 2019; 108(9):1709–16. doi: 10.1111/apa.14791.
- Štšepetova J, Simre K, Tagoma A, Uibo O, Peet A, Siljander H, Tillmann V, Knip M, Mändar R, Uibo R. Maternal breast milk microbiota and immune markers in relation to subsequent development of celiac disease in offspring. Sci Rep 2022; 12(1):6607. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-10679-x.
- van Beek J, Fraaij P, Giaquinto C, Shingadia D, Horby P, Indolfi G, Koopmans M; Acute hepatitis study group (incl. K. Simre). Case numbers of acute hepatitis of unknown aetiology among children in 24 countries up to 18 April 2022 compared to the previous 5 years. Euro Surveill. 2022; 27(19): 2200370.

ELULOOKIRJELDUS

Nimi	Kärt Simre
Sünniaeg	8. detsember 1986
Kodakondsus	Eesti
E-mail	kart.simre@kliinikum.ee
Hariduskäik	•
2015–2020	Tartu Ulikool, Meditsiiniteaduste valdkond,
	Residentuuriõpe, Pediaatria laste gastroenteroloogia
	kõrvalerialaga (koos lapsehoolduspuhkusega)
2014–	Tartu Ulikool, Meditsiiniteaduste valdkond, Doktoriõpe,
	Arstiteadus
2012–2015	Tartu Ulikool, Arstiteaduskond, Residentuuriõpe,
	Pediaatria
2006–2012	Tartu Ülikool, Arstiteaduskond, Bakalaureuse- ja
	magistriõppe
	integreeritud õpe, Arstiteadus
2003-2006	Hugo Treffneri Gümnaasium, Loodussuund
1994–2003	Tartu Kivilinna Gümnaasium, Põhiharidus
71	
l ookogemus	
2020 september–	l artu Ulikooli Kliinikum, Lastekliinik, laste
2012 2020	gastroenteroloog
2012-2020	Tartu Ulikooli Kliinikum, Lastekliinik, arst-resident
2010–2011	l artu Ulikooli Kliinikum, Anestesioloogia ja
2000 (* * * *)	intensiivravi kliinik, Uldintensiivravi osakond, abiode
2009 (Juuni–august)	lartu Ulikooli Kliinikum, Lastekliinik, Agedate
2000 (* 1* ()	infektsioonide osakond, abiode
2008 (Juuli–august)	l artu Ulikooli Kliinikum, Lastekliinik, Agedate
2007 ()	infektsioonide osakond, Erakorraline vastuvott, poetaja
2007 (august)	lartu Ulikooli Kliinikum, Kirurgiakliinik, Lastekirurgia
	osakona, poetaja
Erialane täiendus	
2022 oktoober	19. Rahvusvaheline Tsöliaakia Sümpoosium, Sorrento,
	Itaalia
2019 september	18. Rahvusvaheline Tsöliaakia Sümpoosium, Pariis,
1	Prantsusmaa
2018 juuli	Limaskestade immunoloogia kursus ja sümpoosium,
5	Oxford, Suurbritannia
2015 november	Täiendus professor Heikki Hvötv laboris.
	Tampere Ülikool, Soome
2015 juuni	16. Rahvusvaheline Tsöliaakia Sümpoosium. Praha.
5	Tšehhi

Artiklid rahvusvahelistes eelretsenseeritavates ajakirjades

- Simre K, Uibo O, Peet A, Tillmann V, Kool P, Hämäläinen AM, Härkönen T, Siljander H, Virtanen S, Ilonen J, Knip M, Uibo R; DIABIMMUNE Study Group. Exploring the risk factors for differences in the cumulative incidence of coeliac disease in two neighbouring countries: the prospective DIABIMMUNE study. Dig Liver Dis 2016; 48(11):1296–301. doi: 10.1016/j.dld.2016.06.029.
- Simre K, Uibo O, Peet A, Puustinen L, Oikarainen S, Tamminen K, Blazevic V, Tillmann V, Hämäläinen AM, Härkönen T, Siljander H, Virtanen SM, Ilonen J, Hyöty H, Knip M, Uibo R; DIABIMMUNE Study Group. Early-life exposure to common virus infections did not differ between coeliac disease patients and controls. Acta Paediatr 2019; 108(9):1709–16. doi: 10.1111/apa.14791.
- Štšepetova J, Simre K, Tagoma A, Uibo O, Peet A, Siljander H, Tillmann V, Knip M, Mändar R, Uibo R. Maternal breast milk microbiota and immune markers in relation to subsequent development of celiac disease in offspring. Sci Rep 2022; 12(1):6607. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-10679-x.
- 4. van Beek J, Fraaij P, Giaquinto C, Shingadia D, Horby P, Indolfi G, Koopmans M; Acute hepatitis study group (incl. K. Simre). Case numbers of acute hepatitis of unknown aetiology among children in 24 countries up to 18 April 2022 compared to the previous 5 years. Euro Surveill. 2022; 27(19):2200370.

DISSERTATIONES MEDICINAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

- 1. Heidi-Ingrid Maaroos. The natural course of gastric ulcer in connection with chronic gastritis and *Helicobacter pylori*. Tartu, 1991.
- 2. **Mihkel Zilmer**. Na-pump in normal and tumorous brain tissues: Structural, functional and tumorigenesis aspects. Tartu, 1991.
- 3. **Eero Vasar**. Role of cholecystokinin receptors in the regulation of behaviour and in the action of haloperidol and diazepam. Tartu, 1992.
- 4. **Tiina Talvik**. Hypoxic-ischaemic brain damage in neonates (clinical, biochemical and brain computed tomographical investigation). Tartu, 1992.
- 5. Ants Peetsalu. Vagotomy in duodenal ulcer disease: A study of gastric acidity, serum pepsinogen I, gastric mucosal histology and *Helicobacter pylori*. Tartu, 1992.
- 6. **Marika Mikelsaar**. Evaluation of the gastrointestinal microbial ecosystem in health and disease. Tartu, 1992.
- 7. Hele Everaus. Immuno-hormonal interactions in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia and multiple myeloma. Tartu, 1993.
- 8. **Ruth Mikelsaar**. Etiological factors of diseases in genetically consulted children and newborn screening: dissertation for the commencement of the degree of doctor of medical sciences. Tartu, 1993.
- 9. Agu Tamm. On metabolic action of intestinal microflora: clinical aspects. Tartu, 1993.
- 10. Katrin Gross. Multiple sclerosis in South-Estonia (epidemiological and computed tomographical investigations). Tartu, 1993.
- 11. **Oivi Uibo**. Childhood coeliac disease in Estonia: occurrence, screening, diagnosis and clinical characterization. Tartu, 1994.
- 12. Viiu Tuulik. The functional disorders of central nervous system of chemistry workers. Tartu, 1994.
- 13. **Margus Viigimaa**. Primary haemostasis, antiaggregative and anticoagulant treatment of acute myocardial infarction. Tartu, 1994.
- 14. **Rein Kolk**. Atrial versus ventricular pacing in patients with sick sinus syndrome. Tartu, 1994.
- 15. **Toomas Podar**. Incidence of childhood onset type 1 diabetes mellitus in Estonia. Tartu, 1994.
- 16. **Kiira Subi**. The laboratory surveillance of the acute respiratory viral infections in Estonia. Tartu, 1995.
- 17. **Irja Lutsar**. Infections of the central nervous system in children (epidemiologic, diagnostic and therapeutic aspects, long term outcome). Tartu, 1995.
- 18. **Aavo Lang**. The role of dopamine, 5-hydroxytryptamine, sigma and NMDA receptors in the action of antipsychotic drugs. Tartu, 1995.
- 19. Andrus Arak. Factors influencing the survival of patients after radical surgery for gastric cancer. Tartu, 1996.

- 20. **Tõnis Karki**. Quantitative composition of the human lactoflora and method for its examination. Tartu, 1996.
- 21. **Reet Mändar**. Vaginal microflora during pregnancy and its transmission to newborn. Tartu, 1996.
- 22. **Triin Remmel**. Primary biliary cirrhosis in Estonia: epidemiology, clinical characterization and prognostication of the course of the disease. Tartu, 1996.
- 23. **Toomas Kivastik**. Mechanisms of drug addiction: focus on positive reinforcing properties of morphine. Tartu, 1996.
- 24. **Paavo Pokk**. Stress due to sleep deprivation: focus on GABA_A receptorchloride ionophore complex. Tartu, 1996.
- 25. **Kristina Allikmets**. Renin system activity in essential hypertension. Associations with atherothrombogenic cardiovascular risk factors and with the efficacy of calcium antagonist treatment. Tartu, 1996.
- 26. **Triin Parik**. Oxidative stress in essential hypertension: Associations with metabolic disturbances and the effects of calcium antagonist treatment. Tartu, 1996.
- 27. Svetlana Päi. Factors promoting heterogeneity of the course of rheumatoid arthritis. Tartu, 1997.
- 28. **Maarike Sallo**. Studies on habitual physical activity and aerobic fitness in 4 to 10 years old children. Tartu, 1997.
- 29. **Paul Naaber**. *Clostridium difficile* infection and intestinal microbial ecology. Tartu, 1997.
- 30. Rein Pähkla. Studies in pinoline pharmacology. Tartu, 1997.
- 31. Andrus Juhan Voitk. Outpatient laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Tartu, 1997.
- 32. Joel Starkopf. Oxidative stress and ischaemia-reperfusion of the heart. Tartu, 1997.
- 33. Janika Kõrv. Incidence, case-fatality and outcome of stroke. Tartu, 1998.
- 34. Ülla Linnamägi. Changes in local cerebral blood flow and lipid peroxidation following lead exposure in experiment. Tartu, 1998.
- 35. Ave Minajeva. Sarcoplasmic reticulum function: comparison of atrial and ventricular myocardium. Tartu, 1998.
- 36. **Oleg Milenin**. Reconstruction of cervical part of esophagus by revascularised ileal autografts in dogs. A new complex multistage method. Tartu, 1998.
- 37. **Sergei Pakriev**. Prevalence of depression, harmful use of alcohol and alcohol dependence among rural population in Udmurtia. Tartu, 1998.
- 38. Allen Kaasik. Thyroid hormone control over β -adrenergic signalling system in rat atria. Tartu, 1998.
- 39. Vallo Matto. Pharmacological studies on anxiogenic and antiaggressive properties of antidepressants. Tartu, 1998.
- 40. **Maire Vasar**. Allergic diseases and bronchial hyperreactivity in Estonian children in relation to environmental influences. Tartu, 1998.
- 41. **Kaja Julge**. Humoral immune responses to allergens in early childhood. Tartu, 1998.

- 42. **Heli Grünberg**. The cardiovascular risk of Estonian schoolchildren. A cross-sectional study of 9-, 12- and 15-year-old children. Tartu, 1998.
- 43. **Epp Sepp**. Formation of intestinal microbial ecosystem in children. Tartu, 1998.
- 44. Mai Ots. Characteristics of the progression of human and experimental glomerulopathies. Tartu, 1998.
- 45. Tiina Ristimäe. Heart rate variability in patients with coronary artery disease. Tartu, 1998.
- 46. Leho Kõiv. Reaction of the sympatho-adrenal and hypothalamo-pituitaryadrenocortical system in the acute stage of head injury. Tartu, 1998.
- 47. Bela Adojaan. Immune and genetic factors of childhood onset IDDM in Estonia. An epidemiological study. Tartu, 1999.
- 48. Jakov Shlik. Psychophysiological effects of cholecystokinin in humans. Tartu, 1999.
- 49. **Kai Kisand**. Autoantibodies against dehydrogenases of α-ketoacids. Tartu, 1999.
- 50. Toomas Marandi. Drug treatment of depression in Estonia. Tartu, 1999.
- 51. Ants Kask. Behavioural studies on neuropeptide Y. Tartu, 1999.
- 52. Ello-Rahel Karelson. Modulation of adenylate cyclase activity in the rat hippocampus by neuropeptide galanin and its chimeric analogs. Tartu, 1999.
- 53. **Tanel Laisaar**. Treatment of pleural empyema special reference to intrapleural therapy with streptokinase and surgical treatment modalities. Tartu, 1999.
- 54. Eve Pihl. Cardiovascular risk factors in middle-aged former athletes. Tartu, 1999.
- 55. **Katrin Õunap**. Phenylketonuria in Estonia: incidence, newborn screening, diagnosis, clinical characterization and genotype/phenotype correlation. Tartu, 1999.
- 56. Siiri Kõljalg. Acinetobacter an important nosocomial pathogen. Tartu, 1999.
- 57. Helle Karro. Reproductive health and pregnancy outcome in Estonia: association with different factors. Tartu, 1999.
- 58. **Heili Varendi**. Behavioral effects observed in human newborns during exposure to naturally occurring odors. Tartu, 1999.
- 59. Anneli Beilmann. Epidemiology of epilepsy in children and adolescents in Estonia. Prevalence, incidence, and clinical characteristics. Tartu, 1999.
- 60. Vallo Volke. Pharmacological and biochemical studies on nitric oxide in the regulation of behaviour. Tartu, 1999.
- 61. **Pilvi Ilves**. Hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy in asphyxiated term infants. A prospective clinical, biochemical, ultrasonographical study. Tartu, 1999.
- 62. Anti Kalda. Oxygen-glucose deprivation-induced neuronal death and its pharmacological prevention in cerebellar granule cells. Tartu, 1999.
- 63. Eve-Irene Lepist. Oral peptide prodrugs studies on stability and absorption. Tartu, 2000.

- 64. **Jana Kivastik**. Lung function in Estonian schoolchildren: relationship with anthropometric indices and respiratory symptomas, reference values for dynamic spirometry. Tartu, 2000.
- 65. **Karin Kull**. Inflammatory bowel disease: an immunogenetic study. Tartu, 2000.
- 66. Kaire Innos. Epidemiological resources in Estonia: data sources, their quality and feasibility of cohort studies. Tartu, 2000.
- 67. **Tamara Vorobjova**. Immune response to *Helicobacter pylori* and its association with dynamics of chronic gastritis and epithelial cell turnover in antrum and corpus. Tartu, 2001.
- 68. **Ruth Kalda**. Structure and outcome of family practice quality in the changing health care system of Estonia. Tartu, 2001.
- 69. Annika Krüüner. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* spread and drug resistance in Estonia. Tartu, 2001.
- 70. **Marlit Veldi**. Obstructive Sleep Apnoea: Computerized Endopharyngeal Myotonometry of the Soft Palate and Lingual Musculature. Tartu, 2001.
- 71. Anneli Uusküla. Epidemiology of sexually transmitted diseases in Estonia in 1990–2000. Tartu, 2001.
- 72. Ade Kallas. Characterization of antibodies to coagulation factor VIII. Tartu, 2002.
- 73. **Heidi Annuk**. Selection of medicinal plants and intestinal lactobacilli as antimicrobil components for functional foods. Tartu, 2002.
- 74. Aet Lukmann. Early rehabilitation of patients with ischaemic heart disease after surgical revascularization of the myocardium: assessment of health-related quality of life, cardiopulmonary reserve and oxidative stress. A clinical study. Tartu, 2002.
- 75. **Maigi Eisen**. Pathogenesis of Contact Dermatitis: participation of Oxidative Stress. A clinical – biochemical study. Tartu, 2002.
- 76. **Piret Hussar**. Histology of the post-traumatic bone repair in rats. Elaboration and use of a new standardized experimental model bicortical perforation of tibia compared to internal fracture and resection osteotomy. Tartu, 2002.
- 77. **Tõnu Rätsep**. Aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage: Noninvasive monitoring of cerebral haemodynamics. Tartu, 2002.
- 78. **Marju Herodes**. Quality of life of people with epilepsy in Estonia. Tartu, 2003.
- 79. **Katre Maasalu**. Changes in bone quality due to age and genetic disorders and their clinical expressions in Estonia. Tartu, 2003.
- 80. **Toomas Sillakivi**. Perforated peptic ulcer in Estonia: epidemiology, risk factors and relations with *Helicobacter pylori*. Tartu, 2003.
- 81. Leena Puksa. Late responses in motor nerve conduction studies. F and A waves in normal subjects and patients with neuropathies. Tartu, 2003.
- 82. Krista Lõivukene. *Helicobacter pylori* in gastric microbial ecology and its antimicrobial susceptibility pattern. Tartu, 2003.

- 83. **Helgi Kolk**. Dyspepsia and *Helicobacter pylori* infection: the diagnostic value of symptoms, treatment and follow-up of patients referred for upper gastrointestinal endoscopy by family physicians. Tartu, 2003.
- 84. **Helena Soomer**. Validation of identification and age estimation methods in forensic odontology. Tartu, 2003.
- 85. Kersti Oselin. Studies on the human MDR1, MRP1, and MRP2 ABC transporters: functional relevance of the genetic polymorphisms in the *MDR1* and *MRP1* gene. Tartu, 2003.
- 86. Jaan Soplepmann. Peptic ulcer haemorrhage in Estonia: epidemiology, prognostic factors, treatment and outcome. Tartu, 2003.
- 87. **Margot Peetsalu**. Long-term follow-up after vagotomy in duodenal ulcer disease: recurrent ulcer, changes in the function, morphology and *Helicobacter pylori* colonisation of the gastric mucosa. Tartu, 2003.
- 88. Kersti Klaamas. Humoral immune response to *Helicobacter pylori* a study of host-dependent and microbial factors. Tartu, 2003.
- 89. **Pille Taba**. Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease in Tartu, Estonia. Prevalence, incidence, clinical characteristics, and pharmacoepidemiology. Tartu, 2003.
- 90. Alar Veraksitš. Characterization of behavioural and biochemical phenotype of cholecystokinin-2 receptor deficient mice: changes in the function of the dopamine and endopioidergic system. Tartu, 2003.
- 91. **Ingrid Kalev**. CC-chemokine receptor 5 (CCR5) gene polymorphism in Estonians and in patients with Type I and Type II diabetes mellitus. Tartu, 2003.
- 92. Lumme Kadaja. Molecular approach to the regulation of mitochondrial function in oxidative muscle cells. Tartu, 2003.
- 93. Aive Liigant. Epidemiology of primary central nervous system tumours in Estonia from 1986 to 1996. Clinical characteristics, incidence, survival and prognostic factors. Tartu, 2004.
- 94. Andres, Kulla. Molecular characteristics of mesenchymal stroma in human astrocytic gliomas. Tartu, 2004.
- 95. Mari Järvelaid. Health damaging risk behaviours in adolescence. Tartu, 2004.
- 96. Ülle Pechter. Progression prevention strategies in chronic renal failure and hypertension. An experimental and clinical study. Tartu, 2004.
- 97. Gunnar Tasa. Polymorphic glutathione S-transferases biology and role in modifying genetic susceptibility to senile cataract and primary open angle glaucoma. Tartu, 2004.
- 98. **Tuuli Käämbre**. Intracellular energetic unit: structural and functional aspects. Tartu, 2004.
- 99. Vitali Vassiljev. Influence of nitric oxide syntase inhibitors on the effects of ethanol after acute and chronic ethanol administration and withdrawal. Tartu, 2004.

- 100. Aune Rehema. Assessment of nonhaem ferrous iron and glutathione redox ratio as markers of pathogeneticity of oxidative stress in different clinical groups. Tartu, 2004.
- 101. **Evelin Seppet**. Interaction of mitochondria and ATPases in oxidative muscle cells in normal and pathological conditions. Tartu, 2004.
- 102. Eduard Maron. Serotonin function in panic disorder: from clinical experiments to brain imaging and genetics. Tartu, 2004.
- 103. Marje Oona. *Helicobacter pylori* infection in children: epidemiological and therapeutic aspects. Tartu, 2004.
- 104. Kersti Kokk. Regulation of active and passive molecular transport in the testis. Tartu, 2005.
- 105. Vladimir Järv. Cross-sectional imaging for pretreatment evaluation and follow-up of pelvic malignant tumours. Tartu, 2005.
- 106. Andre Õun. Epidemiology of adult epilepsy in Tartu, Estonia. Incidence, prevalence and medical treatment. Tartu, 2005.
- 107. **Piibe Muda**. Homocysteine and hypertension: associations between homocysteine and essential hypertension in treated and untreated hypertensive patients with and without coronary artery disease. Tartu, 2005.
- 108. **Külli Kingo**. The interleukin-10 family cytokines gene polymorphisms in plaque psoriasis. Tartu, 2005.
- 109. **Mati Merila**. Anatomy and clinical relevance of the glenohumeral joint capsule and ligaments. Tartu, 2005.
- 110. **Epp Songisepp**. Evaluation of technological and functional properties of the new probiotic *Lactobacillus fermentum* ME-3. Tartu, 2005.
- 111. Tiia Ainla. Acute myocardial infarction in Estonia: clinical characteristics, management and outcome. Tartu, 2005.
- 112. Andres Sell. Determining the minimum local anaesthetic requirements for hip replacement surgery under spinal anaesthesia a study employing a spinal catheter. Tartu, 2005.
- 113. **Tiia Tamme**. Epidemiology of odontogenic tumours in Estonia. Pathogenesis and clinical behaviour of ameloblastoma. Tartu, 2005.
- 114. **Triine Annus**. Allergy in Estonian schoolchildren: time trends and characteristics. Tartu, 2005.
- 115. **Tiia Voor**. Microorganisms in infancy and development of allergy: comparison of Estonian and Swedish children. Tartu, 2005.
- 116. **Priit Kasenõmm**. Indicators for tonsillectomy in adults with recurrent tonsillitis clinical, microbiological and pathomorphological investigations. Tartu, 2005.
- 117. **Eva Zusinaite**. Hepatitis C virus: genotype identification and interactions between viral proteases. Tartu, 2005.
- 118. **Piret Kõll**. Oral lactoflora in chronic periodontitis and periodontal health. Tartu, 2006.
- 119. **Tiina Stelmach**. Epidemiology of cerebral palsy and unfavourable neurodevelopmental outcome in child population of Tartu city and county, Estonia Prevalence, clinical features and risk factors. Tartu, 2006.

- 120. **Katrin Pudersell**. Tropane alkaloid production and riboflavine excretion in the field and tissue cultures of henbane (*Hyoscyamus niger* L.). Tartu, 2006.
- 121. **Külli Jaako**. Studies on the role of neurogenesis in brain plasticity. Tartu, 2006.
- 122. Aare Märtson. Lower limb lengthening: experimental studies of bone regeneration and long-term clinical results. Tartu, 2006.
- 123. Heli Tähepõld. Patient consultation in family medicine. Tartu, 2006.
- 124. **Stanislav Liskmann**. Peri-implant disease: pathogenesis, diagnosis and treatment in view of both inflammation and oxidative stress profiling. Tartu, 2006.
- 125. **Ruth Rudissaar**. Neuropharmacology of atypical antipsychotics and an animal model of psychosis. Tartu, 2006.
- 126. Helena Andreson. Diversity of *Helicobacter pylori* genotypes in Estonian patients with chronic inflammatory gastric diseases. Tartu, 2006.
- 127. Katrin Pruus. Mechanism of action of antidepressants: aspects of serotoninergic system and its interaction with glutamate. Tartu, 2006.
- 128. **Priit Põder**. Clinical and experimental investigation: relationship of ischaemia/reperfusion injury with oxidative stress in abdominal aortic aneurysm repair and in extracranial brain artery endarterectomy and possibilities of protection against ischaemia using a glutathione analogue in a rat model of global brain ischaemia. Tartu, 2006.
- 129. Marika Tammaru. Patient-reported outcome measurement in rheumatoid arthritis. Tartu, 2006.
- 130. Tiia Reimand. Down syndrome in Estonia. Tartu, 2006.
- 131. **Diva Eensoo**. Risk-taking in traffic and Markers of Risk-Taking Behaviour in Schoolchildren and Car Drivers. Tartu, 2007.
- 132. **Riina Vibo**. The third stroke registry in Tartu, Estonia from 2001 to 2003: incidence, case-fatality, risk factors and long-term outcome. Tartu, 2007.
- 133. Chris Pruunsild. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis in children in Estonia. Tartu, 2007.
- 134. Eve Õiglane-Šlik. Angelman and Prader-Willi syndromes in Estonia. Tartu, 2007.
- 135. Kadri Haller. Antibodies to follicle stimulating hormone. Significance in female infertility. Tartu, 2007.
- 136. Pille Ööpik. Management of depression in family medicine. Tartu, 2007.
- 137. Jaak Kals. Endothelial function and arterial stiffness in patients with atherosclerosis and in healthy subjects. Tartu, 2007.
- 138. **Priit Kampus**. Impact of inflammation, oxidative stress and age on arterial stiffness and carotid artery intima-media thickness. Tartu, 2007.
- 139. Margus Punab. Male fertility and its risk factors in Estonia. Tartu, 2007.
- 140. Alar Toom. Heterotopic ossification after total hip arthroplasty: clinical and pathogenetic investigation. Tartu, 2007.

- 141. Lea Pehme. Epidemiology of tuberculosis in Estonia 1991–2003 with special regard to extrapulmonary tuberculosis and delay in diagnosis of pulmonary tuberculosis. Tartu, 2007.
- 142. Juri Karjagin. The pharmacokinetics of metronidazole and meropenem in septic shock. Tartu, 2007.
- 143. Inga Talvik. Inflicted traumatic brain injury shaken baby syndrome in Estonia epidemiology and outcome. Tartu, 2007.
- 144. **Tarvo Rajasalu**. Autoimmune diabetes: an immunological study of type 1 diabetes in humans and in a model of experimental diabetes (in RIP-B7.1 mice). Tartu, 2007.
- 145. **Inga Karu**. Ischaemia-reperfusion injury of the heart during coronary surgery: a clinical study investigating the effect of hyperoxia. Tartu, 2007.
- 146. **Peeter Padrik**. Renal cell carcinoma: Changes in natural history and treatment of metastatic disease. Tartu, 2007.
- 147. Neve Vendt. Iron deficiency and iron deficiency anaemia in infants aged 9 to 12 months in Estonia. Tartu, 2008.
- 148. Lenne-Triin Heidmets. The effects of neurotoxins on brain plasticity: focus on neural Cell Adhesion Molecule. Tartu, 2008.
- 149. **Paul Korrovits**. Asymptomatic inflammatory prostatitis: prevalence, etiological factors, diagnostic tools. Tartu, 2008.
- 150. Annika Reintam. Gastrointestinal failure in intensive care patients. Tartu, 2008.
- 151. Kristiina Roots. Cationic regulation of Na-pump in the normal, Alzheimer's and CCK₂ receptor-deficient brain. Tartu, 2008.
- 152. **Helen Puusepp**. The genetic causes of mental retardation in Estonia: fragile X syndrome and creatine transporter defect. Tartu, 2009.
- 153. Kristiina Rull. Human chorionic gonadotropin beta genes and recurrent miscarriage: expression and variation study. Tartu, 2009.
- 154. **Margus Eimre**. Organization of energy transfer and feedback regulation in oxidative muscle cells. Tartu, 2009.
- 155. **Maire Link**. Transcription factors FoxP3 and AIRE: autoantibody associations. Tartu, 2009.
- 156. Kai Haldre. Sexual health and behaviour of young women in Estonia. Tartu, 2009.
- 157. **Kaur Liivak**. Classical form of congenital adrenal hyperplasia due to 21-hydroxylase deficiency in Estonia: incidence, genotype and phenotype with special attention to short-term growth and 24-hour blood pressure. Tartu, 2009.
- 158. Kersti Ehrlich. Antioxidative glutathione analogues (UPF peptides) molecular design, structure-activity relationships and testing the protective properties. Tartu, 2009.
- 159. Anneli Rätsep. Type 2 diabetes care in family medicine. Tartu, 2009.
- 160. Silver Türk. Etiopathogenetic aspects of chronic prostatitis: role of mycoplasmas, coryneform bacteria and oxidative stress. Tartu, 2009.

- 161. **Kaire Heilman**. Risk markers for cardiovascular disease and low bone mineral density in children with type 1 diabetes. Tartu, 2009.
- 162. **Kristi Rüütel**. HIV-epidemic in Estonia: injecting drug use and quality of life of people living with HIV. Tartu, 2009.
- 163. **Triin Eller**. Immune markers in major depression and in antidepressive treatment. Tartu, 2009.
- 164. Siim Suutre. The role of TGF- β isoforms and osteoprogenitor cells in the pathogenesis of heterotopic ossification. An experimental and clinical study of hip arthroplasty. Tartu, 2010.
- 165. Kai Kliiman. Highly drug-resistant tuberculosis in Estonia: Risk factors and predictors of poor treatment outcome. Tartu, 2010.
- 166. **Inga Villa**. Cardiovascular health-related nutrition, physical activity and fitness in Estonia. Tartu, 2010.
- 167. **Tõnis Org**. Molecular function of the first PHD finger domain of Autoimmune Regulator protein. Tartu, 2010.
- 168. **Tuuli Metsvaht**. Optimal antibacterial therapy of neonates at risk of early onset sepsis. Tartu, 2010.
- 169. Jaanus Kahu. Kidney transplantation: Studies on donor risk factors and mycophenolate mofetil. Tartu, 2010.
- 170. Koit Reimand. Autoimmunity in reproductive failure: A study on associated autoantibodies and autoantigens. Tartu, 2010.
- 171. **Mart Kull**. Impact of vitamin D and hypolactasia on bone mineral density: a population based study in Estonia. Tartu, 2010.
- 172. **Rael Laugesaar**. Stroke in children epidemiology and risk factors. Tartu, 2010.
- 173. **Mark Braschinsky**. Epidemiology and quality of life issues of hereditary spastic paraplegia in Estonia and implemention of genetic analysis in everyday neurologic practice. Tartu, 2010.
- 174. **Kadri Suija**. Major depression in family medicine: associated factors, recurrence and possible intervention. Tartu, 2010.
- 175. **Jarno Habicht**. Health care utilisation in Estonia: socioeconomic determinants and financial burden of out-of-pocket payments. Tartu, 2010.
- 176. Kristi Abram. The prevalence and risk factors of rosacea. Subjective disease perception of rosacea patients. Tartu, 2010.
- 177. **Malle Kuum**. Mitochondrial and endoplasmic reticulum cation fluxes: Novel roles in cellular physiology. Tartu, 2010.
- 178. Rita Teek. The genetic causes of early onset hearing loss in Estonian children. Tartu, 2010.
- 179. **Daisy Volmer**. The development of community pharmacy services in Estonia public and professional perceptions 1993–2006. Tartu, 2010.
- 180. Jelena Lissitsina. Cytogenetic causes in male infertility. Tartu, 2011.
- 181. **Delia Lepik**. Comparison of gunshot injuries caused from Tokarev, Makarov and Glock 19 pistols at different firing distances. Tartu, 2011.
- 182. Ene-Renate Pähkla. Factors related to the efficiency of treatment of advanced periodontitis. Tartu, 2011.

- 183. Maarja Krass. L-Arginine pathways and antidepressant action. Tartu, 2011.
- 184. **Taavi Lai**. Population health measures to support evidence-based health policy in Estonia. Tartu, 2011.
- 185. **Tiit Salum**. Similarity and difference of temperature-dependence of the brain sodium pump in normal, different neuropathological, and aberrant conditions and its possible reasons. Tartu, 2011.
- 186. **Tõnu Vooder**. Molecular differences and similarities between histological subtypes of non-small cell lung cancer. Tartu, 2011.
- 187. Jelena Štšepetova. The characterisation of intestinal lactic acid bacteria using bacteriological, biochemical and molecular approaches. Tartu, 2011.
- 188. **Radko Avi**. Natural polymorphisms and transmitted drug resistance in Estonian HIV-1 CRF06 cpx and its recombinant viruses. Tartu, 2011, 116 p.
- 189. Edward Laane. Multiparameter flow cytometry in haematological malignancies. Tartu, 2011, 152 p.
- 190. **Triin Jagomägi**. A study of the genetic etiology of nonsyndromic cleft lip and palate. Tartu, 2011, 158 p.
- 191. **Ivo Laidmäe**. Fibrin glue of fish (*Salmo salar*) origin: immunological study and development of new pharmaceutical preparation. Tartu, 2012, 150 p.
- 192. Ülle Parm. Early mucosal colonisation and its role in prediction of invasive infection in neonates at risk of early onset sepsis. Tartu, 2012, 168 p.
- 193. **Kaupo Teesalu**. Autoantibodies against desmin and transglutaminase 2 in celiac disease: diagnostic and functional significance. Tartu, 2012, 142 p.
- 194. Maksim Zagura. Biochemical, functional and structural profiling of arterial damage in atherosclerosis. Tartu, 2012, 162 p.
- 195. Vivian Kont. Autoimmune regulator: characterization of thymic gene regulation and promoter methylation. Tartu, 2012, 134 p.
- 196. **Pirje Hütt**. Functional properties, persistence, safety and efficacy of potential probiotic lactobacilli. Tartu, 2012, 246 p.
- 197. Innar Tõru. Serotonergic modulation of CCK-4- induced panic. Tartu, 2012, 132 p.
- 198. **Sigrid Vorobjov**. Drug use, related risk behaviour and harm reduction interventions utilization among injecting drug users in Estonia: implications for drug policy. Tartu, 2012, 120 p.
- 199. Martin Serg. Therapeutic aspects of central haemodynamics, arterial stiffness and oxidative stress in hypertension. Tartu, 2012, 156 p.
- 200. **Jaanika Kumm**. Molecular markers of articular tissues in early knee osteoarthritis: a population-based longitudinal study in middle-aged subjects. Tartu, 2012, 159 p.
- 201. Kertu Rünkorg. Functional changes of dopamine, endopioid and endocannabinoid systems in CCK2 receptor deficient mice. Tartu, 2012, 125 p.
- 202. **Mai Blöndal**. Changes in the baseline characteristics, management and outcomes of acute myocardial infarction in Estonia. Tartu, 2012, 127 p.

- 203. Jana Lass. Epidemiological and clinical aspects of medicines use in children in Estonia. Tartu, 2012, 170 p.
- 204. Kai Truusalu. Probiotic lactobacilli in experimental persistent Salmonella infection. Tartu, 2013, 139 p.
- 205. **Oksana Jagur**. Temporomandibular joint diagnostic imaging in relation to pain and bone characteristics. Long-term results of arthroscopic treatment. Tartu, 2013, 126 p.
- 206. Katrin Sikk. Manganese-ephedrone intoxication pathogenesis of neurological damage and clinical symptomatology. Tartu, 2013, 125 p.
- 207. **Kai Blöndal**. Tuberculosis in Estonia with special emphasis on drugresistant tuberculosis: Notification rate, disease recurrence and mortality. Tartu, 2013, 151 p.
- 208. **Marju Puurand**. Oxidative phosphorylation in different diseases of gastric mucosa. Tartu, 2013, 123 p.
- 209. Aili Tagoma. Immune activation in female infertility: Significance of autoantibodies and inflammatory mediators. Tartu, 2013, 135 p.
- 210. Liis Sabre. Epidemiology of traumatic spinal cord injury in Estonia. Brain activation in the acute phase of traumatic spinal cord injury. Tartu, 2013, 135 p.
- Merit Lamp. Genetic susceptibility factors in endometriosis. Tartu, 2013, 125 p.
- 212. Erik Salum. Beneficial effects of vitamin D and angiotensin II receptor blocker on arterial damage. Tartu, 2013, 167 p.
- 213. **Maire Karelson**. Vitiligo: clinical aspects, quality of life and the role of melanocortin system in pathogenesis. Tartu, 2013, 153 p.
- 214. **Kuldar Kaljurand**. Prevalence of exfoliation syndrome in Estonia and its clinical significance. Tartu, 2013, 113 p.
- Raido Paasma. Clinical study of methanol poisoning: handling large outbreaks, treatment with antidotes, and long-term outcomes. Tartu, 2013, 96 p.
- 216. Anne Kleinberg. Major depression in Estonia: prevalence, associated factors, and use of health services. Tartu, 2013, 129 p.
- 217. **Triin Eglit**. Obesity, impaired glucose regulation, metabolic syndrome and their associations with high-molecular-weight adiponectin levels. Tartu, 2014, 115 p.
- 218. **Kristo Ausmees**. Reproductive function in middle-aged males: Associations with prostate, lifestyle and couple infertility status. Tartu, 2014, 125 p.
- 219. Kristi Huik. The influence of host genetic factors on the susceptibility to HIV and HCV infections among intravenous drug users. Tartu, 2014, 144 p.
- 220. Liina Tserel. Epigenetic profiles of monocytes, monocyte-derived macrophages and dendritic cells. Tartu, 2014, 143 p.
- 221. Irina Kerna. The contribution of *ADAM12* and *CILP* genes to the development of knee osteoarthritis. Tartu, 2014, 152 p.

- 222. **Ingrid Liiv**. Autoimmune regulator protein interaction with DNA-dependent protein kinase and its role in apoptosis. Tartu, 2014, 143 p.
- 223. Liivi Maddison. Tissue perfusion and metabolism during intra-abdominal hypertension. Tartu, 2014, 103 p.
- 224. Krista Ress. Childhood coeliac disease in Estonia, prevalence in atopic dermatitis and immunological characterisation of coexistence. Tartu, 2014, 124 p.
- 225. Kai Muru. Prenatal screening strategies, long-term outcome of children with marked changes in maternal screening tests and the most common syndromic heart anomalies in Estonia. Tartu, 2014, 189 p.
- 226. **Kaja Rahu**. Morbidity and mortality among Baltic Chernobyl cleanup workers: a register-based cohort study. Tartu, 2014, 155 p.
- 227. Klari Noormets. The development of diabetes mellitus, fertility and energy metabolism disturbances in a Wfs1-deficient mouse model of Wolfram syndrome. Tartu, 2014, 132 p.
- 228. Liis Toome. Very low gestational age infants in Estonia. Tartu, 2014, 183 p.
- 229. Ceith Nikkolo. Impact of different mesh parameters on chronic pain and foreign body feeling after open inguinal hernia repair. Tartu, 2014, 132 p.
- 230. Vadim Brjalin. Chronic hepatitis C: predictors of treatment response in Estonian patients. Tartu, 2014, 122 p.
- 231. Vahur Metsna. Anterior knee pain in patients following total knee arthroplasty: the prevalence, correlation with patellar cartilage impairment and aspects of patellofemoral congruence. Tartu, 2014, 130 p.
- 232. **Marju Kase**. Glioblastoma multiforme: possibilities to improve treatment efficacy. Tartu, 2015, 137 p.
- 233. **Riina Runnel**. Oral health among elementary school children and the effects of polyol candies on the prevention of dental caries. Tartu, 2015, 112 p.
- 234. Made Laanpere. Factors influencing women's sexual health and reproductive choices in Estonia. Tartu, 2015, 176 p.
- 235. Andres Lust. Water mediated solid state transformations of a polymorphic drug effect on pharmaceutical product performance. Tartu, 2015, 134 p.
- 236. **Anna Klugman**. Functionality related characterization of pretreated wood lignin, cellulose and polyvinylpyrrolidone for pharmaceutical applications. Tartu, 2015, 156 p.
- 237. **Triin Laisk-Podar**. Genetic variation as a modulator of susceptibility to female infertility and a source for potential biomarkers. Tartu, 2015, 155 p.
- 238. **Mailis Tõnisson**. Clinical picture and biochemical changes in blood in children with acute alcohol intoxication. Tartu, 2015, 100 p.
- 239. Kadri Tamme. High volume haemodiafiltration in treatment of severe sepsis impact on pharmacokinetics of antibiotics and inflammatory response. Tartu, 2015, 133 p.

- 240. **Kai Part**. Sexual health of young people in Estonia in a social context: the role of school-based sexuality education and youth-friendly counseling services. Tartu, 2015, 203 p.
- 241. Urve Paaver. New perspectives for the amorphization and physical stabilization of poorly water-soluble drugs and understanding their dissolution behavior. Tartu, 2015, 139 p.
- 242. Aleksandr Peet. Intrauterine and postnatal growth in children with HLAconferred susceptibility to type 1 diabetes. Tartu. 2015, 146 p.
- 243. **Piret Mitt**. Healthcare-associated infections in Estonia epidemiology and surveillance of bloodstream and surgical site infections. Tartu, 2015, 145 p.
- 244. **Merli Saare**. Molecular Profiling of Endometriotic Lesions and Endometria of Endometriosis Patients. Tartu, 2016, 129 p.
- 245. **Kaja-Triin Laisaar**. People living with HIV in Estonia: Engagement in medical care and methods of increasing adherence to antiretroviral therapy and safe sexual behavior. Tartu, 2016, 132 p.
- 246. **Eero Merilind**. Primary health care performance: impact of payment and practice-based characteristics. Tartu, 2016, 120 p.
- 247. Jaanika Kärner. Cytokine-specific autoantibodies in AIRE deficiency. Tartu, 2016, 182 p.
- 248. **Kaido Paapstel**. Metabolomic profile of arterial stiffness and early biomarkers of renal damage in atherosclerosis. Tartu, 2016, 173 p.
- 249. Liidia Kiisk. Long-term nutritional study: anthropometrical and clinicolaboratory assessments in renal replacement therapy patients after intensive nutritional counselling. Tartu, 2016, 207 p.
- 250. Georgi Nellis. The use of excipients in medicines administered to neonates in Europe. Tartu, 2017, 159 p.
- 251. Aleksei Rakitin. Metabolic effects of acute and chronic treatment with valproic acid in people with epilepsy. Tartu, 2017, 125 p.
- 252. Eveli Kallas. The influence of immunological markers to susceptibility to HIV, HBV, and HCV infections among persons who inject drugs. Tartu, 2017, 138 p.
- 253. **Tiina Freimann**. Musculoskeletal pain among nurses: prevalence, risk factors, and intervention. Tartu, 2017, 125 p.
- 254. Evelyn Aaviksoo. Sickness absence in Estonia: determinants and influence of the sick-pay cut reform. Tartu, 2017, 121 p.
- 255. **Kalev Nõupuu**. Autosomal-recessive Stargardt disease: phenotypic heterogeneity and genotype-phenotype associations. Tartu, 2017, 131 p.
- 256. Ho Duy Binh. Osteogenesis imperfecta in Vietnam. Tartu, 2017, 125 p.
- 257. Uku Haljasorg. Transcriptional mechanisms in thymic central tolerance. Tartu, 2017, 147 p.
- 258. Živile Riispere. IgA Nephropathy study according to the Oxford Classification: IgA Nephropathy clinical-morphological correlations, disease progression and the effect of renoprotective therapy. Tartu, 2017, 129 p.

- 259. **Hiie Soeorg**. Coagulase-negative staphylococci in gut of preterm neonates and in breast milk of their mothers. Tartu, 2017, 216 p.
- 260. Anne-Mari Anton Willmore. Silver nanoparticles for cancer research. Tartu, 2017, 132 p.
- 261. **Ott Laius**. Utilization of osteoporosis medicines, medication adherence and the trend in osteoporosis related hip fractures in Estonia. Tartu, 2017, 134 p.
- 262. Alar Aab. Insights into molecular mechanisms of asthma and atopic dermatitis. Tartu, 2017, 164 p.
- 263. **Sander Pajusalu**. Genome-wide diagnostics of Mendelian disorders: from chromosomal microarrays to next-generation sequencing. Tartu, 2017, 146 p.
- 264. **Mikk Jürisson**. Health and economic impact of hip fracture in Estonia. Tartu, 2017, 164 p.
- 265. Kaspar Tootsi. Cardiovascular and metabolomic profiling of osteoarthritis. Tartu, 2017, 150 p.
- 266. Mario Saare. The influence of AIRE on gene expression studies of transcriptional regulatory mechanisms in cell culture systems. Tartu, 2017, 172 p.
- 267. **Piia Jõgi**. Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of pertussis in Estonia. Tartu, 2018, 168 p.
- 268. Elle Põldoja. Structure and blood supply of the superior part of the shoulder joint capsule. Tartu, 2018, 116 p.
- 269. Minh Son Nguyen. Oral health status and prevalence of temporomandibular disorders in 65–74-year-olds in Vietnam. Tartu, 2018, 182 p.
- 270. **Kristian Semjonov**. Development of pharmaceutical quench-cooled molten and melt-electrospun solid dispersions for poorly water-soluble indomethacin. Tartu, 2018, 125 p.
- 271. Janne Tiigimäe-Saar. Botulinum neurotoxin type A treatment for sialorrhea in central nervous system diseases. Tartu, 2018, 109 p.
- 272. Veiko Vengerfeldt. Apical periodontitis: prevalence and etiopathogenetic aspects. Tartu, 2018, 150 p.
- 273. Rudolf Bichele. TNF superfamily and AIRE at the crossroads of thymic differentiation and host protection against *Candida albicans* infection. Tartu, 2018, 153 p.
- 274. **Olga Tšuiko**. Unravelling Chromosomal Instability in Mammalian Preimplantation Embryos Using Single-Cell Genomics. Tartu, 2018, 169 p.
- 275. **Kärt Kriisa**. Profile of acylcarnitines, inflammation and oxidative stress in first-episode psychosis before and after antipsychotic treatment. Tartu, 2018, 145 p.
- Xuan Dung Ho. Characterization of the genomic profile of osteosarcoma. Tartu, 2018, 144 p.
- 277. **Karit Reinson**. New Diagnostic Methods for Early Detection of Inborn Errors of Metabolism in Estonia. Tartu, 2018, 201 p.

- 278. **Mari-Anne Vals**. Congenital N-glycosylation Disorders in Estonia. Tartu, 2019, 148 p.
- 279. Liis Kadastik-Eerme. Parkinson's disease in Estonia: epidemiology, quality of life, clinical characteristics and pharmacotherapy. Tartu, 2019, 202 p.
- 280. **Hedi Hunt**. Precision targeting of intraperitoneal tumors with peptideguided nanocarriers. Tartu, 2019, 179 p.
- 281. **Rando Porosk**. The role of oxidative stress in Wolfram syndrome 1 and hypothermia. Tartu, 2019, 123 p.
- 282. Ene-Ly Jõgeda. The influence of coinfections and host genetic factor on the susceptibility to HIV infection among people who inject drugs. Tartu, 2019, 126 p.
- 283. **Kristel Ehala-Aleksejev**. The associations between body composition, obesity and obesity-related health and lifestyle conditions with male reproductive function. Tartu, 2019, 138 p.
- 284. Aigar Ottas. The metabolomic profiling of psoriasis, atopic dermatitis and atherosclerosis. Tartu, 2019, 136 p.
- 285. Elmira Gurbanova. Specific characteristics of tuberculosis in low default, but high multidrug–resistance prison setting. Tartu, 2019, 129 p.
- 286. Van Thai Nguyeni. The first study of the treatment outcomes of patients with cleft lip and palate in Central Vietnam. Tartu, 2019, 144 p.
- 287. Maria Yakoreva. Imprinting Disorders in Estonia. Tartu, 2019, 187 p.
- 288. **Kadri Rekker**. The putative role of microRNAs in endometriosis pathogenesis and potential in diagnostics. Tartu, 2019, 140 p.
- 289. Ülle Võhma. Association between personality traits, clinical characteristics and pharmacological treatment response in panic disorder. Tartu, 2019, 121 p.
- 290. Aet Saar. Acute myocardial infarction in Estonia 2001–2014: towards risk-based prevention and management. Tartu, 2019, 124 p.
- 291. **Toomas Toomsoo**. Transcranial brain sonography in the Estonian cohort of Parkinson's disease. Tartu, 2019, 114 p.
- 292. Lidiia Zhytnik. Inter- and intrafamilial diversity based on genotype and phenotype correlations of Osteogenesis Imperfecta. Tartu, 2019, 224 p.
- 293. **Pilleriin Soodla**. Newly HIV-infected people in Estonia: estimation of incidence and transmitted drug resistance. Tartu, 2019, 194 p.
- 294. Kristiina Ojamaa. Epidemiology of gynecological cancer in Estonia. Tartu, 2020, 133 p.
- 295. **Marianne Saard**. Modern Cognitive and Social Intervention Techniques in Paediatric Neurorehabilitation for Children with Acquired Brain Injury. Tartu, 2020, 168 p.
- 296. **Julia Maslovskaja**. The importance of DNA binding and DNA breaks for AIRE-mediated transcriptional activation. Tartu, 2020, 162 p.
- 297. Natalia Lobanovskaya. The role of PSA-NCAM in the survival of retinal ganglion cells. Tartu, 2020, 105 p.

- 298. **Madis Rahu**. Structure and blood supply of the postero-superior part of the shoulder joint capsule with implementation of surgical treatment after anterior traumatic dislocation. Tartu, 2020, 104 p.
- 299. **Helen Zirnask**. Luteinizing hormone (LH) receptor expression in the penis and its possible role in pathogenesis of erectile disturbances. Tartu, 2020, 87 p.
- 300. Kadri Toome. Homing peptides for targeting of brain diseases. Tartu, 2020, 152 p.
- 301. Maarja Hallik. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of inotropic drugs in neonates. Tartu, 2020, 172 p.
- 302. **Raili Müller**. Cardiometabolic risk profile and body composition in early rheumatoid arthritis. Tartu, 2020, 133 p.
- 303. **Sergo Kasvandik**. The role of proteomic changes in endometrial cells from the perspective of fertility and endometriosis. Tartu, 2020, 191 p.
- 304. **Epp Kaleviste**. Genetic variants revealing the role of STAT1/STAT3 signaling cytokines in immune protection and pathology. Tartu, 2020, 189 p.
- 305. Sten Saar. Epidemiology of severe injuries in Estonia. Tartu, 2020, 104 p.
- 306. Kati Braschinsky. Epidemiology of primary headaches in Estonia and applicability of web-based solutions in headache epidemiology research. Tartu, 2020, 129 p.
- 307. **Helen Vaher**. MicroRNAs in the regulation of keratinocyte responses in *psoriasis vulgaris* and atopic dermatitis. Tartu, 2020, 242 p.
- Liisi Raam. Molecular Alterations in the Pathogenesis of Two Chronic Dermatoses – Vitiligo and Psoriasis. Tartu, 2020, 164 p.
- 309. Artur Vetkas. Long-term quality of life, emotional health, and associated factors in patients after aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. Tartu, 2020, 127 p.
- Teele Kasepalu. Effects of remote ischaemic preconditioning on organ damage and acylcarnitines' metabolism in vascular surgery. Tartu, 2020, 130 p.
- 311. **Prakash Lingasamy**. Development of multitargeted tumor penetrating peptides. Tartu, 2020, 246 p.
- 312. Lille Kurvits. Parkinson's disease as a multisystem disorder: whole transcriptome study in Parkinson's disease patients' skin and blood. Tartu, 2021, 142 p.
- 313. Mariliis Põld. Smoking, attitudes towards smoking behaviour, and nicotine dependence among physicians in Estonia: cross-sectional surveys 1982–2014. Tartu, 2021, 172 p.
- 314. **Triin Kikas**. Single nucleotide variants affecting placental gene expression and pregnancy outcome. Tartu, 2021, 160 p.
- 315. Hedda Lippus-Metsaots. Interpersonal violence in Estonia: prevalence, impact on health and health behaviour. Tartu, 2021, 172 p.

- 316. **Georgi Dzaparidze.** Quantification and evaluation of the diagnostic significance of adenocarcinoma-associated microenvironmental changes in the prostate using modern digital pathology solutions. Tartu, 2021, 132 p.
- 317. **Tuuli Sedman.** New avenues for GLP1 receptor agonists in the treatment of diabetes. Tartu, 2021, 118 p.
- 318. **Martin Padar.** Enteral nutrition, gastrointestinal dysfunction and intestinal biomarkers in critically ill patients. Tartu, 2021, 189 p.
- 319. Siim Schneider. Risk factors, etiology and long-term outcome in young ischemic stroke patients in Estonia. Tartu, 2021, 131 p.
- 320. Konstantin Ridnõi. Implementation and effectiveness of new prenatal diagnostic strategies in Estonia. Tartu, 2021, 191 p.
- 321. **Risto Vaikjärv.** Etiopathogenetic and clinical aspects of peritonsillar abscess. Tartu, 2021, 115 p.
- 322. Liis Preem. Design and characterization of antibacterial electrospun drug delivery systems for wound infections. Tartu, 2022, 220 p.
- 323. Keerthie Dissanayake. Preimplantation embryo-derived extracellular vesicles: potential as an embryo quality marker and their role during the embryo-maternal communication. Tartu, 2022, 203 p.
- 324. Laura Viidik. 3D printing in pharmaceutics: a new avenue for fabricating therapeutic drug delivery systems. Tartu, 2022, 139 p.
- 325. Kasun Godakumara. Extracellular vesicle mediated embryo-maternal communication A tool for evaluating functional competency of preimplantation embryos. Tartu, 2022, 176 p.
- 326. **Hindrek Teder.** Developing computational methods and workflows for targeted and whole-genome sequencing based non-invasive prenatal testing. Tartu, 2022, 138 p.
- 327. Jana Tuusov. Deaths caused by alcohol, psychotropic and other substances in Estonia: evidence based on forensic autopsies. Tartu, 2022, 157 p.
- 328. **Heigo Reima.** Colorectal cancer care and outcomes evaluation and possibilities for improvement in Estonia. Tartu, 2022, 146 p.
- 329. Liisa Kuhi. A contribution of biomarker collagen type II neoepitope C2C in urine to the diagnosis and prognosis of knee osteoarthritis. Tartu, 2022, 157 p.
- 330. **Reeli Tamme.** Associations between pubertal hormones and physical activity levels, and subsequent bone mineral characteristics: a longitudinal study of boys aged 12–18. Tartu, 2022, 118 p.
- 331. **Deniss Sõritsa.** The impact of endometriosis and physical activity on female reproduction. Tartu, 2022, 152 p.
- 332. **Mohammad Mehedi Hasan.** Characterization of follicular fluid-derived extracellular vesicles and their contribution to periconception environment. Tartu, 2022, 194 p.
- 333. **Priya Kulkarni.** Osteoarthritis pathogenesis: an immunological passage through synovium-synovial fluid axis. Tartu, 2022, 268 p.

- 334. **Nigul Ilves.** Brain plasticity and network reorganization in children with perinatal stroke: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study. Tartu, 2022, 169 p.
- 335. Marko Murruste. Short- and long-term outcomes of surgical management of chronic pancreatitis. Tartu, 2022, 180 p.
- 336. Marilin Ivask. Transcriptomic and metabolic changes in the WFS1-deficient mouse model. Tartu, 2022, 158 p.
- 337. **Jüri Lieberg.** Results of surgical treatment and role of biomarkers in pathogenesis and risk prediction in patients with abdominal aortic aneurysm and peripheral artery disease. Tartu, 2022, 160 p.
- 338. **Sanna Puusepp.** Comparison of molecular genetics and morphological findings of childhood-onset neuromuscular disorders. Tartu, 2022, 216 p.
- 339. Khan Nguyen Viet. Chemical composition and bioactivity of extracts and constituents isolated from the medicinal plants in Vietnam and their nano-technology-based delivery systems. Tartu, 2023, 172 p.
- 340. Getnet Balcha Midekessa. Towards understanding the colloidal stability and detection of Extracellular Vesicles. Tartu, 2023, 172 p.
- Kristiina Sepp. Competency-based and person-centred community pharmacy practice development and implementation in Estonia. Tartu, 2023, 242 p.
- 342. Linda Sõber. Impact of thyroid disease and surgery on patient's quality of voice and swallowing. Tartu, 2023, 114 p.
- 343. Anni Lepland. Precision targeting of tumour-associated macrophages in triple negative breast cancer. Tartu, 2023, 160 p.
- 344. **Sirje Sammul.** Prevalence and risk factors of arterial hypertension and cardiovascular mortality: 13-year longitudinal study among 35- and 55- year-old adults in Estonia and Sweden. Tartu, 2023, 158 p.
- 345. **Maarjaliis Paavo**. Short-Wavelength and Near-Infrared Autofluorescence Imaging in Recessive Stargardt Disease, Choroideremia, *PROM1*-Macular Dystrophy and Ocular Albinism. Tartu, 2023, 202 p.
- 346. Kaspar Ratnik. development of predictive multimarker test for preeclampsia in early and late pregnancy. Tartu, 2023, 134 p.